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AUTHOR’S NOTE

I he Presidents and the Prime Ministers was born one Washington night when
“leep wouldn’t come and thoughts stirred as to how to make the important
wuibject of Canada-U.S. relations interesting to the general reader. The
result was a decision to tell the story in the context of the leaders of the
countries, thereby bringing some flesh and blood to a subject which can be
intimidatingly dry. Because the focus is frequently more on the personalities
than the issues, the book should not be viewed as a comprehensive study of
hilateral relations. Since 115 years of history are covered in a relatively short
space, the treatment in some areas is necessarily general and sweeping. Any
resulting errors in interpretation or detail are the sole responsibility of the
author. In keeping with the general-interest nature of the work, the number
ol footnotes have been limited. Frequently sources are indicated in the text
iself. In important cases where they aren’t, footnotes are used, provided
that the people interviewed did not object to being cited.

The book is a product of the assistance and thoughtfulness of many.
Special gratitude is owed to Richard Doyle, editor-in-chief of the Globe and
Mail. Mr. Doyle made the work possible in two ways, first by having the
faith in my ability to appoint me Washington correspondent of the paper,
second by granting a year’s leave of absence to complete the book. No one is
more important in the making of a book than one’s editor and at Doubleday
I had a gem in Janet Turnbull. Too wise to be so young, Miss Turnbull’s
intelligence, judgment, considerateness, and insight make one feel very
secure about the future of Canadian publishing.



The Canada Council helped make the venture financially feasible and is
due many thanks. Roger Swanson provided helpful advice and his work,
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of speeches and notes to anyone doing work on the su bject. In the summer of
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research in the Canadian Public Archives. My thanks to him and to the
helpful staff at the Archives, particularly Ian McClymont. The staff at the
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manuscript in advance and offered comments, to the many who granted
their time for long interviews, to Washington colleagues Jean Pelletier and
John Honderich, to Rick Archbold, to Anthony Westell, to the many at the
Globe and Mail who offered advice and support, to the Cronkhite gang at
Harvard who offered companionship and comic relief, and to Dermot
Nolan and William Crandall for their good counsel, for their unwavering
[riendship, and, in keeping with the spirit of the Rogues, for their abiding
dedication to the banishment of boredom. Finally my gratitude to the
closest people: my parents, always with me, my brothers, especially Ian
Martin who along with his wife Sandy proofread the manuscript, my sister,
my precious daughter Katie, and Maureen Cussion Martin who, in the
carly days, with a force of conviction which only she can muster, rescued the
book from oblivion.

Cambridge, Massachusetts
June 20, 1982
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CHAPTER ONE

tA Little More than Kin
and Less than Kind’

PRESIDENT LYNDON JOHNSON failed to appear at the helicopter
landing area for Lester Pearson’s arrival at Camp David. Like pall-
hearers, two advisers, who showed up in his place, escorted the uneasy
(lanadian prime minister to their master’s cabin. Johnson greeted
Pearson civilly there, but unmasked a truer disposition at the sound of
newsmen’s cameras clicking behind him. He turned to press secretary
(seorge Reedy. “Get those bastards out of here!”

At the lunch table, silence dominated. The president drank one
bloody mary instead of his usual two or three. Distant, glowering, he
ordered a telephone to his side and called bureaucrats to discuss
matters of no urgency. Pearson picked gingerly at his food and, for
lack of more engaging enterprise, talked to Lady Bird about his
helicopter flight. He knew the reason for his host’s foul nature. In a
speech in Philadelphia the previous evening, April 2, 1965, Pearson
had denounced Johnson’s decision to begin Operation Rolling
I'hunder— the bombing of North Vietnam. Coming from a friend
and ally like Pearson, the dissent angered Johnson. Coming in the
[Inited States, “my own backyard,” it enraged him.

As the luncheon dragged mercilessly on, Pearson finally chose to
(hrow the raw meat on the table. “Well,” he offered daintily, “‘what
did you think of my speech?”” LBJ’s growl was audible. “Awwwiful.”
He stretched his large hand across the table, clutched the prime
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| Eaaa—
nnisten 3_ the upper arm, and led him on to the terrace where there
was room for wrath. Striding the porch, his arms sawing the air, his
..:___:_::‘::.ﬁ vocabulary contaminating it, Johnson ripped ,H_Eo wnm%o:
lull-voltage, T . ini . [
e rm he U:Ew minister wma betrayed the president. He had
J ,: e ranks of ignorant liberals, “those know-nothing do-
gooders,” like “Walter Lippmann,” ,

(13 5 3 .
; Okay, you don’t want us there [Vietnam], we can clear out, really
ciear out and then see what happens.” Johnson was livid at the

rw stormed, had been advising him for weeks to fry the enemy are
with nuclear weapons. But he had resisted. :Zoﬂ. bad m.oﬂ ﬁ.m
warmonger!>’ ’
Inside, the houseguests minced uncomfortably around the dining-
room .EEP not catching all the defamation, but guaranteed a a.ﬂ.
sounding “Horseshit!” from the president ahout mcm,?_ three 3:,55%

. For more than an hour he tore on until :_:.Emnm@ in a piece 01
bilateral diplomacy knowing no equal, he moved wmro:.m the ﬁnm\:d of
words, ﬂmS.:m pinned the much smaller Pearson against the rajlin
::w @ﬂnm._ami of the United States grabbed him by the shirt no:mm_
:”:ﬁmn_ it m:.a :.mn.a the shaken prime minisger by the neck. The <m1xm
wrw:hMMMMﬁ.Ecna I a venomous torrent. “You pissed on my rug!” he

O@mlnm Ritchie, the distinguished Canadian ambassador Wi
looking through the window, aghast. Jack Valenti, 4 worbﬂo:,maww
mu.m.:wma him that the president would soon calm Qosw: .m:& MMH last Sn“
noise abated. The two leaders moved inside where Hu_mm;o: rw..:.:ﬁ
_Mwm:m:mﬂd himself, was able to move the discussion topic méuwr _.ﬁo%«
_nM@M._wH:mB speech and thus restore LBJ’s decibel range to human

Then it was time to meet the press, time to let the world in on the
developments of the day. First up was President Johnson, “We had
.mn:mﬂmw_ discussion,” he said. “A friendly one.” Pearson J.Qmm next; :w
haven’t much to say except that it has heen g very pleasant cou _.m of
hours and I am grateful to the President for giving me the nwm:.mun to

an:.hw:m: 8 rmm.a, were suspicious. They chased spokesmen for more
>m§: s U:M, particularly in the Canadian case, were less than successfil.
mong the many papers which were misled was the Globe and ) Tail,
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The headline for its half-page feature story declared: “Lester and
Lyndon: A Unique Friendship.” The subtitle read: “Nowhere Else
are There Two Leaders Who Enjoy Such an Easy Relationship.”
Bruce Macdonald, the paper’s Washington correspondent, was the
reporter victimized by Lester Pearson and his flacks. “There appears
to have been a complete absence of rancor,” Macdonald waxed.
“According to Canadian authorities this latest round of talks with the
President was the most effective and rewarding they have under-
taken.... The two men get along extremely well together.”
Canadians went to bed that night satisfied, as usual, that all was
well with the president and the prime minister, and that all was well
with the Canada-U.S. relationship. In the prime minister’s office
there was relief and not a wholesale rush to amend the mistaken
media reports. It was absolutely mandatory that the real story not get
out. Ifit did, if Canadians discovered that the president had physically
manhandled their prime minister, if they found out that their prime
minister had been treated like the leader of one of the Soviet Union’s
castern satellites, the damage to the bilateral bliss would be enormous.
Irreparable.

The Ottawa press gallery was in repose, but soon Dick O’Hagan,
Pearson’s press secretary, was edgy. In the other capital, reports were
suggesting that Camp David had not been a “very pleasant couple of
hours.” White House officials, to O’Hagan’s regret, hadn’t remained
lully silent. On the same day of the flogging the president himself had
met an Israeli diplomat and boastfully provided a graphic account.
The diplomat, outfitted with choice Oval Office gossip, told others
and the word spread.

'The White House reporters hadn’t uncovered the most vivid
details—the fact that the president had picked up the prime minister
by the scruff of the neck. They might have, had they shown more
interest. But in this respect, O’'Hagan had history on his side. In
Washington, Canada was usually about as hot a news topic as Borneo.

By 1980, the Wall Street Journal could still report that Canada had
twelve provinees, two more than uncovered in the previous Canadian
census. But on the Camp David story the American reporters did
reveal that Johnson had strongly reprimanded Pearson for his Viet-
nam speech and this was enough to stir Canadian newspapermen.
Having seen the U.S. reports, they came after O'Hagan, Macdonald,
an accomplished professional, was burning. George Bain, also of the
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(ilobe and Mail, and Arch Mackenzie of the Canadian Press, smelled a
double cross.

()’Hagan, a consummate public relations man who would earn a
top reputation, threw up a time-buying barricade and embarked on a
campaign to refute the Washington stories. His misinformation eflort
was made casier in that Pearson hadn’t given him all the details.
O’Hagan knew it had been a profanity-infested clash but even he
didn’t know it had reached physical proportions.? It was also made
easier by the availability of someone he considered an easy target
among Canadian newsmen —Bruce Phillips, who was later to become
one of Canada’s best TV reporters. O’Hagan felt Phillips was a sucker
for anti-American bait. He threw out the line, Phillips jumped like
O’Hagan hoped he would, and the press secretary gloated. In a
2,500-word memorandum to Pearson he outlined his manipulation
efforts:

“I also called Bruce Phillips and gave him a run-down from our
standpoint. I did this because of his tendency to take an anti-U.S.
position on theslightest justification and I wanted, if at all possible, to
forestall what appeared to me to be a developing American propa-
gandaline.” In brackets, he added, “I was successful in this, rather to
his [Phillips’ | subsequent chagrin,”

O’Hagan put the squeeze on Arch Mackenzie: “The next major
development of note, was the publication of the Evans-Novak column.
I then undertook to beat down the effects of that, and again I met with
some success. You will recall that External Affairs was aroused because
of the dispatch of a story from Washington from a Canadian corres-
pondent there— Arch Mackenzie. There were a number of relatively
minor facts in error which gave me an excuse to telephone Mackenzie.
I talked to the ambassador about this and advocated he see Mac-
kenzie.... At any rate Mackenzie was clearly disturbed, not knowing
who to believe.”

But O’'Hagan didn’t like the cover-up business, the idea that the
reporters and the public were being geared. Showing a measure of
integrity not prevalent in his business, he informed the prime minister
in the same extraordinary memo that he should have been apprised of"
all the Camp David details, that he wanted more candour from
Pearson, and that reporters deserved more candour. “I don’t think we
can indulge in any semantic footwork in a matter as serious as this; in
other words I think I should be in a position to say something clearly to
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a man like Bain, even if it is to be an interpretation of mognﬁrm.wm that
may have been said...I think we now have to face the H.n,mrQ that
Mackenzie, Macdonald and all the others who were professionally
implicated in this affair would subscribe to Bain’s ?dvom.ao: that
consciously or not what I and other Canadian spokesmen mwwi had the
effect of playing down the idea of a disagreement and that it amounted
to a ‘steer in the opposite direction.” 3
The real Camp David story reached only some Liberal caucus
members and senior public servants, among them Ed Ritchie, number
two in command at External Affairs (no relation to Charles). Today
the memory of Johnson’s actions still rankles. “IfI'd Tme\n.rnn: there I
think I would have cuffed him,” said Ritchie.* He and his colleagues
couldn’t imagine Johnson doing the same to Charles de Gaulle —nor
to any other foreign leader. .
For the rest of the Canadian population, a decade would pass until
some of the particulars of the story began to emerge. O’Hagan’s steer
in the opposite direction, whatever his regrets, sSlﬁwQ. :.ﬁnogcnna a
steered Canadian public. In the context of the _,n_m:o:wrﬁm‘ U.ﬂémm:
the presidents and the prime ministers, and in the context of U:mﬂwaa
relations generally, it produced, in other words, something not terribly
unique. ud

The U.S. presidents and the Canadian prime ministers would meet
more than eighty times, more times than the presidents <<.o:5 meet
with any other foreign leaders, with the possible mxnmﬁ:o:.om the
British. Virtually all of the meetings, according to the public pro-
nouncements, would be splendid successes. The two leaders would
smile after their pleasant couple of hours and expound on the accom-
plishments. Sometimes a “new era of consultation” would be born
and it would be followed in the near future by another “new era of
consultation.” During each era, the Canada-U.S. discussions would
always be “open and frank,” and if they had that “m:ums and ?m:w
quality, there would be an excellent chance that a “great rapport
would be established. The great rapport in turn would often H,nwm to
another “historic agreement,” serving to keep the “undefended
border” undefended.

In the words of Prime Minister Pierre Trudeau and many other
observers, the Canada-U.S. relationship would come to be “the
standard for enlightened international relations.” It iom_a Um.:an
yardstick by which all other countries were to measure their relations
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and their behaviour with other countries. Because of this, because of
the exalted image of the Canada-U.S. “special relationship,” it
became very important that the image be upheld, even in the trying
times when the president was having the prime minister’s shirt for
dessert. It became so important that in the same year as Pearson’s visit
to Camp David a report on the bilateral relationship was released
recommending that Canada-U.S. disputes be kept out of the public
eye, that in effect, they be covered up. Authored by Livingston
Merchant and Arnold Heeney, former ambassadors to Ottawa and
Washington respectively, the report spawned considerable incredulity,
being viewed as an underhanded way of preserving the “special
relationship™ —even if one didn’t exist. That it was written by two
esteemed diplomats, the calibre of Merchant and Heeney, was double
cause for consternation.

But Merchant and Heeney had just experienced John Diefenbaker
and John Kennedy. They knew what the relations between the
presidents and the prime ministers were sometimes like. They knew
that in order to help maintain harmony on the continent, in order to
maintain the lustrous world image of the Canada-U.S, relationship,
such a formula was probably needed.

In early 1963, the Kennedy administration had issued a press
release, that did to Diefenbaker on Paper what Johnson did to Pearson
on the porch. It brazenly contradicted the prime minister’s declara-
tions on Canadian defence issues and on the question of nuclear
weapons for NATO allies. To Arthur Krock of the New York 7imes,
the press release was “one of the most hamhanded, ill-conceived and
undiplomatic employments in the record of U.S. diplomacy.” To the
Diefenbaker government, it was calamitous. Shortly after its release,
the Tories lost a non-confidence motion based largely on bungled U.S.
relations and, with Diefenbaker alleging a White House plot to sack
him, were tossed out in the ensuing election,

A controversy followed as to the exact role the Kennedy White
House, in its “special relationship” with Canada, had played in the
outcome, a Quebec lawyer named Pierre Trudeay siding with Diefen-
baker’s views of American interference. One of the key figures in the
press release drama was McGeorge Bundy, a national security adviser
to both Kennedy and Johnson. Bundy, one of the men who escorted
Pearson to Johnson at Ca mp David, gave White House authorization
lor the press release. He had done it hurriedly because, as usual, there
were always more important matters to see to than Canada, But after
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viewing its ramifications, he felt somewhat guilty. The feeling persisted
into the Johnson administration, and one day he wrote a memoran-
dum to the president which contained a m:mmmm:ou... that it would
perhaps be a good idea to be nicer to Canadians. His memo ,Eo:E
have interested Diefenbaker in particular. Had he seen it .rloﬂn he
died, the stormy Tory might have felt a little better, just a _.::m more
vindicated about his accusations in the early 1960s regarding White
House interference. :

“I might add,” Bundy wrote Johnson, “that I :d\.mnz have rn.m.:
sensitive to the need for being extra polite to Canadians ever since
George Ball and I knocked over the Diefenbaker Government by one
incautious press release.”’® , ,

The knocking over of Diefenbaker and the r:Onw_:.m over of .wnm_ﬁ
son, although among the low points in the history of ﬂr.n ﬁ.;mmim:a.
and the prime ministers, were not entirely unrepresentative. Much of
the Canada-U.S. imagery presented to the rest of the world has been
little more than imagery, little more than a reflection of the nw:&r
coating called for in the Merchant-Heeney report, and embodied in
the LB]-Pearson press conference.

Beyond the facade of the world's greatest no::_J\-S-no::mQ rela-
tionship, are preoccupied presidents who don’t know about Canada,
who don’t have the time or inclination to care about Canada, and
who presume that Canada is on the leash m.o..w.qwn. Beyond 5.@ facade
are prime ministers who, reflecting a nationalistic need of their people

to ‘jeer at the man across the border’ have Um.ns otm:mﬁnnwcm m:m some-
times peevish in their dealings with the White Eocmww prime ::Em:w..w
who became exasperated with Oval Office oversight and satellite
treatment and ultimately began looking for mogms\r..wwm else to Enw. 2

Most important, beyond the facade of the :mvmm_w_ H‘n_m:ow;?v
are two countries bound by geographic and economic :mnnmm:m_ but
losing the tie that really binds—the tie of spirit. The spirit _& the
continental relationship is primarily the nmmﬁosmmgz&\ ofthe Emmam.za
and the prime ministers. They set the guiding fone, the leading
temperament. If there is genuine warmth and rmﬂzosw between
them, there is usually the same between the countries. .

In the bilateral context the responsibility falls somewhat 5@&5.? on
the president, for he is the player who nmqlnw. the weight. He 5.5@
leader who, much more than the prime minister, can make things

Hppen.

: _“.._”:_..,s‘::.“ his stint as LS. ambassador to Canada in the late 1970s
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Kenneth Curtis, a former governor of Maine, said somewhat sadly
that, to his knowledge, no American president had ever taken time to
work on the Canadian relationship.8 In fairness to the chief executives,
he was slightly incorrect. Since Canadian confederation there have
been twenty-three presidents and twenty-two have not worked to any
appreciable degree on the Canadian relationship. The one exception
was Franklin Delano Roosevelt. He and Prime Minister William
Lyon Mackenzie King fashioned the one period in Canada-U.S.
history when the relationship was truly shining: 1985 to 1945. In the
other years, in the other 105 years since the birth of Canada, the
relationship has hardly been special. There have been some good
years, notably the fifteen following FDR, and there have been flashes
of promise for great years. But no other president could sustain an
interest in the country like Roosevelt.

FDR was a gem for Canada. He loved the land. His family owned a
summer home at Campobello, New Brunswick, and young Franklin
spent his summers there fishing, boating, golfing, and learning about
the country and its people. It was in the waters beside his Canadian
cottage that he contracted polio. The disease crippled him at the age
of thirty-nine, in the prime of his life, and the memory of that tragedy
would keep him away from his beloved island for more than a decade.
But the memory wouldn’t stain his regard for the northern country
whose vastness and potential captivated him. In office, he visited
Canada more times than any other president, he had the prime
ministers to Washington more than any other, and he kept the prime
ministers more informed of major developments. He accorded Canada
and its leader the treatment of a major power. He came to know
Canadians and Canadian issues. Roosevelt could name members of
Canadian cabinets, a feat unheard of for presidents. He had a lasting
concern for the Quebec problem, and while World War IT raged, he
sat down one day and wrote a long letter to Mackenzie King on his
conceptions of it, giving the prime minister advice on how the French
could be more easily assimilated.

The skeptics would suggest that Roosevelt was seeking to use King
and Canada to his own selfish ends. There is likely some truth in what
they say as there is likely some truth in ascribing selfish motivations to
the actions of any world leader. But whatever his purpose, the end
result was that the Roosevelt-King years were the ones when the
bilateral clichés took on real meaning, when milestone trade and
defence agreements helped get the countries healthily through the
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war, and when Canada and the United States did set the “‘standard
for enlightened international relations.” During this period, Franklin
Roosevelt, sensing it all, would write King and say it himself: “Some-
times I indulge in the thoroughly sanctimonious and pharisaical
thought, which I hope that you are occasionally guilty of, that it is a
grand and glorious thing for Canada and the United States to have
the team of Mackenzie and Roosevelt at the helm in days like these.”

Because of its impressive performance in World War II and in the
organization of NATO and the United Nations, and because so many
other countries were war-ravaged, Canada became a more powerful
world force in the post-Roosevelt period. But the ingredients in FDR’s
success with Canada—knowledge, interest, respect— were not to be
found to the same degree or even close to the same degree in the
succeeding presidents. The perception took hold again among Cana-
dians that White House deliberations in respect to their country were
made while the presidents were sleepwalking. Pearson was most
struck by the ignorance of Dwight Eisenhower about Canada. After
one trip to the White House, he came out shaking his head, stunned
that Ike, the golfing president, hadn’t heard of a particular Canadian
concern: “You'd think his caddy would have mentioned it to him.”

Canadian officials have two favourite phrases to describe the
Washington attitude to their country: “taken for granted,” and
“benign neglect.”” Most U.S. officials grant there is some truth to
both. Generally Americans see Canada as a powerless, fifty-first-
state type of neighbour, a thin band of cities and towns stretching
along the edge of the border, hugging the United States in suitably
satellite style.

There is no recognition in the White House or among Americans
generally that Canada, as Pearson and Livingston Merchant argued,
has become the most important country to the United States in the
noncommunist world. Economically there is no argument as no other
nation is in the same league as Canada in significance. By a vast
margin it is the United States’ largest trading partner. In terms of
strategic value, the other most important criteria, the United States
could less afford to lose Canada as an ally than any other country.
West Germany and Britain make far more important military contri-
butions to NATO than Canada, but their strategic locations do not
equal in importance for the Americans the giant land mass that
separates the United States from the USSR.

Most of the presidents have either been unaware of Canada’s
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_E?.uﬁm:nﬁ as when Richard Nixon said that Japan was his largest
trading partner, or have chosen to ignore it. Franklin Roosevelt’s
concern and understanding have been displaced in large part by
disinterest and ignorance. Not disinterest and ignorance with anm@nmﬂ
to the bilateral issues, but in areas somewhat more basic to the
relationship. With the presidents and their relations with the prime
ministers it is first necessary to start with what has been among the

highest of the hurdles—knowing the prime ministers’ names. r

From the overall perspective, it should be understood initially that
it has not been the American way to achieve erudition in other ways

besides the American way. Essentially an isolationist country from its
birth in 1776 until 1940, there was never as compelling a need for
Americans to address international questions as there was for other
countries. This deficiency, on occasion, has had a way of manifesting
itsell. At Harvard University, a story is told about an opinion mmgv_m:,m
taken in Cincinnati, Ohio. The respondents were asked in a Ec_mﬁ_m
choice format to identify names by circling the appropriate corres-
ponding word or phrase. In identifying U Thant, secretary general of
the United Nations, there was some difficulty. Many Americans chose
“submarine.”

. As for the presidents themselves, they were late arrivals interna-
tionally. The first twenty-four presidents never set foot outside of the
United States. Teddy Roosevelt finally broke the tradition, travelling
to Panama in 1906, and Woodrow Wilson became the first ?,mmanz,ﬁ
to travel overseas, going to the Paris Peace Clonference after World
War I—142 years into the country’s history. But in itself, the history of
detachment can hardly explain the difficulties the chief executives
have encountered with some of the more rudimentary aspects of the
Canadian scene.

President Harry Truman called a press conference in January 1949
to announce, among other things, that he had a visitor coming from
Canada. He delivered a short two-paragraph statement in which he
m_._cmma to the prime minister of Canada five times without mentioning
his name. Finally Tony Vaccaro, an Associated Press reporter, inter-
rupted. “For bulletin purposes, sir,”” he said half-jokingly, “what’s his
name?” “I was very carefully trying to avoid it,” said Truman,
“because I don’t know how to pronounce it.”” Then he tried: “Louis
St. Laurent —L-a-u-r-e-n-t. I don’t know how to pronounce it. That’s
a French pronunciation. I wouldn’t attempt to pronounce it. Tony,

you put me on the spot.” “I was myself on the spot,” said Vaccaro.
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Given the state of the post-war world, St. Laurent’s Canada was
the world’s fourth largest power. A dignified gentleman, he did not
fancy his name being so obscure. Soon he received a letter from one
William Wilson of a Philadelphia radio station:

“Dear Mr. Prime Minister...I think there is no one better
acquainted with how your name should be pronounced than you.
Will you be kind enough to break your name down syllabically,
displaying the proper accent. In order to facilitate the interpretation
please think of some English name or word which rhymes with your
name. ... Thank you very much for your attention. You may enter
your outline in the spaces provided below.”

Pearson’s suspicions about Eisenhower were borne out during a
visit in 1960 by Diefenbaker to the White House. “‘Every member of
this company,” said the president, “feels a very definite sense of honor
and distinction in the privilege of having with us tonight the Prime
Minister of the Great Republic of Canada.” Having their country
referred to as a Republic was disillusioning to the Canadian guests,
but if any of the White House officials noticed the gaffe, they didn’t tell
Ike. He did it again on the same visit.

Diefenbaker had served three years as prime minister by the time
John Kennedy became president yet Kennedy still had not heard the
prime minister’s name enough to be able to pronounce it properly. To
avoid a Truman-style embarrassment, he asked Secretary of State
Dean Rusk to check it out. Rusk took the problem to a department
official of German origin and reported promptly that the correct
pronunciation was ‘“Diefenbawker.” The president told a press con-
ference that he would be delighted to be welcoming Prime Minister
“Diefenbawker” to the White House. Diefenbaker, burdened by the

incredible size of his ego throughout his tempestuous tenure, was
astounded. The Kennedy slip marked a frightful beginning to a
disastrous relationship. It was also a sorry start to the Kennedy-Rusk
relationship. Recalled Rusk, “Kennedy was furious with me.””

When President Johnson wasn’t blaspheming Pearson with names,
he was getting his name wrong. Welcoming the Nobel Prize-winning
prime minister to his Texas home before a cluster of TV cameras,
Johnson announced that it was great to have “Mr. Wilson” there and
that he was about to take Wilson on a tour of the ranch.

Johnson’s brass extended to his bodyguards. On a visit to Canada

in 1967, the Johnson entourage moved en masse into Pearson’s cottage
residence at Harrington Lake. After the talks broke off one evening,
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Pearson started toward his washroom and was confronted by a
broad-shouldered Johnson guard standing in the hallway. “Who are
you and where are you going?”’ he demanded. Pearson looked up at
his chin. “I'm the Prime Minister of Canada, I live here and I'm
about to go and have a leak.”

Richard Nixon’s difficulty wasn’t so much in remembering the
name Trudeau as it was in the adjectives he sometimes selected to
bestow on it, one being “asshole.”

Although presidents addressed the Clanadian Parliament as early
as FDR’s day, Trudeau was the first Canadian prime minister to
speak before the Congress. He was quickly baptized into the world of
congressional enlightenment that day when, after his oration, con-
gressman Clement Zablocki of Wisconsin appraised it: “Some
members of Congress didn’t think a Canadian could speak such good
English.”

The isolated occurrences, though not a fair reflection of the overall
treatment, indicate some of the effrontery Canadians have endured at
the hands of Americans. Ulysses Grant began the Canada-U.S. rela-
tionship rather inauspiciously when, shortly after Confederation, he
started vying to absorb the new Canada. He wanted it in time for his
re-election bid in 1872. His plan was to work out a deal with the
British, who owed the United States compensation for damages
inflicted by the Alabama, a boat built in British yards for use by the
south in the Civil War. Grant’s pitch? Press the British to cede Canada
in exchange for the damages caused by the boat.® It was an early-day
American example of linkage.

Rutherford B. Hayes bubbled with the prospect of gaining Clanada,
Grover Cleveland ordered a boycott against all goods from the coun-
try, and Teddy Roosevelt considered it a shame that Canada wasn’t
part of the Union—a shame for Canadians more than for Americans.
Particularly enchanted with the Canadian west, he wrote that it
“should lie wholly within our limits. .. less for our sake than for the
sake of the men who lie along their banks.” As Americans, these
people “would hold positions incomparably more important, grander
and more dignified than they can ever hope to reach.”

As Roosevelt’s successor, William Taft discovered in an embarrass-
ing way that, despite Teddy’s magnanimity, Canadians preferred to
lie along their own banks, however shabby. Taft pushed for a free-trade
agreement with Canada, publicly proclaiming that it was not a step
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toward annexation, while privately writing that it could be. Cana-
dians, ever suspicious of the intent of presidents, sided with his private
view, defeating the proposal and dealing a president one of the most
costly blows ever rendered by Canada.

The Taft presidency closed the first of four distinguishable periods
in the Oval Office-Ottawa relatiens!.ip. The first, from 1867 to 1911,
was the period of the annexationist presidents and the powerless
prime ministers. The ten presidents of the period, eight of whom were
Republicans, were not blatantly bent on taking over Canada, but it
was the privately expressed wish of most and the policy of a few. Not
until a pressured Taft formally renounced northern territorial ambi-
tions could Canadians— those who didn’t want to be annexed —cast
off such fears. Canadian foreign policy through this period was ulti-
mately controlled by London, a source of acute aggravation for the
prime ministers in dealing with the White House.

The second period, from 1911 to 1932, was the age of aloof and
indifferent presidents. Although Canada threw off its British bondage
in this time, and although it gained control of its foreign policy in
Washington, and gained world respect as a separate entity with its
war performance, the presidents showed less interest in Canada in this
era than in the first, when the prospect of annexation had danced in
their dreams.

Calvin Coolidge typified for Canada the sleepwalker breed of
president in these two decades. “Clool Cal” once made the remark:
“When people are out of work, unemployment results.”” On Canada
he held views of comparable depth. One of his few statements on the
country in his files showed him wondering, though born in the border
state of Vermont, whether Toronto was near a lake.

Woodrow Wilson and Herbert Hoover were only slightly more
interested. But an exception in this period was Warren Harding, the
Ohio Republican who became the first sitting president to visit
Canada officially when he stopped off in Vancouver, British Columbia
on his way back from Alaska in 1923. The Canadian reception was
glorious, and surprisingly emotional, matching that usually accorded
a member of the royal family. Harding, a handsome president, his
voice sonorous and comforting, responded with what still ranks as the
most beautiful of speeches made by presidents in Canada. But the
splendour of his day blackened as his hidden health problems chose
Vancouver to unveil themselves. He fell ill while playing golf with his
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Canadian hosts, cut short his round, and RES& to E.m hotel suite for
rest. Doing his best to camouflage nx:m:.m:o:“ doing his best to :uwwr
a city that had displayed deep admiration, he completed his public
duties for the day. Then he sailed out of a dark Vancouver harbour,
never to make it back to Washington alive. , ;

With the Harding visit a trend indicating the “‘who m.c.,.&o of ﬁr.n
relationship began. Canadian prime ministers .Eo:_& visit the presi-
dents close to four times for every once the presidents would recipro-
cate. The U.S. leaders’ appearances in Canada &5:5 usually come
when they were nearing, or in, election campaigns, Canada being

-onsi ood publicity trip. :
ro%mw MMMW& qm_wmc:mrwu: ,mmm such that the mnm.ﬁ .imr by a prime
minister to Washington was in 1871, and the first visit by a ?.nm_andp
to the Canadian capital of Ottawa was seventy-two years _N.:.G., in
1948. Franklin Roosevelt was the guest. Shattering .»rm :,mﬁ_:.,o: a.v_,
detachment, he saw King on nineteen mﬂumnmﬁ.m emnmm_cnmu _nmE.Em Em
wife, Eleanor, to puzzle over what interested him in :..n. Canadian she
considered boring. Roosevelt ushered in the moo&-a@.m_‘w_co:ﬂ era E,
Canada-U.S. relations, a period which, though n_wo::_:m <.59 his
successors, lasted roughly from 1933 to 1959. Following m,U.W s death
in 1945, there was ominous speculation in D.ﬁ.mém over his replace-
ment, the governor-general telling Prime Minister King that Harry
Truman was a “crook.” But King warmed to A,R:ENF. and the
Truman administration warmed to King, so _B.:nr. 80 Z.EH it tcmwma
for a free-trade plan that revived annexationist fears in the prime
ister.
B_M: 1952, following two decades of Democrats, m;,mm:r.oéna brought
the Republicans back to the White House. The mﬂ.mtcvrnmsm were EM
party of least favour in Canada and 45:.5 remain so. The @ma.ﬁw\ﬁ Mb
its presidents had been more annexationist than the Unﬂoe,mﬁ. ey
introduced high protective tariffs which shut out Ow:mnrm: manufac-
turers. They were élitist, big business, N.EQ considered more con-
descending toward Canada. Particularly in the @o.mﬁ-_wm.o ﬁwﬂom_ the
Grand Old Party was the one which nrow.w. to mm_: inflation instead .ow
unemployment as its top priority. War on inflation usually Hmm::ﬂ in

recession, and recession in the United States mo:sm:.% Bmm._E recess .5:

in Canada. The coolness of Canadians to the right side of the vo::nw_

spectrum, the Republican side, was %.._..:u:m:.m_.ﬁi. _Jm the .a::::.< $
election results. For sixty of the twentieth century’s first eighty-two

e T e e e i e
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years, Liberal governments were in power. If Canadians had been
selecting the presidents, the Democrats would have been the big
winners—all the way up to Jimmy Carter winning over Ronald
Reagan.

Eisenhower, however, came in as a most popular Republican in
Canadian eyes. He had commanded Canadian armies in the war and
had been accorded a hero’s welcome on a post-war visit to Ottawa.
His attitude toward Canada was avuncular, benign, and more plati-
tudinous than pointed. As Pearson’s problem with him suggested, he
never let knowledge of the country get in the way of his dealings with
it. The detail work was left to Secretary of State John Foster Dulles,
and although Canadian officials respected his ability, they also found
him a pompous boor. Canadian ambassador Arnold Heeney, who
had the pleasure of hosting the Dulles’ for dinner, reflected on the
experience: “Our dinner for the Dulles’ was good except for the
Dulles’.”® To Heeney he was a “strange, almost gauche creature. ..
lacking or spurning any social graces.”” To other Canadian officials
like George Glazebrook, he was the prototype American power-pusher
that Canadians disliked most, a bull-headed autocrat who, in Krem-
linesque fashion, would haul in the wayward client state’s representa-
tive and issue orders, blowtorch style, to obey or pay the consequences.

Initially, it was because of this kind of thing, because of the Cana-
dian perception of being pushed around, that the good-neighbour era
died and the unending era of distance and doubt was born.

The feeling of being bullied by U.S. presidents was not a new one in
Canada. It was in place in 1867, and continued in varying degrees
throughout history. In the early post-Clonfederation period, the feeling
was sharp because the prime ministers, who would sometimes go to
Washington for extended periods to negotiate Canada-U.S. matters
as part of British commissions, were always beaten at the bargaining
table. They were pitted not only against the American presidents,
whose power even in those pre-super-status periods was many times
greater, but also the desires of the British, whose final say on the

sanadian position was often more pliant than Ottawa’s. The repeated
losses of the prime ministers, engendering strong anti-American
strains, triggered demands for foreign policy independence in
Washington which Britain granted in the 1920s. The prime ministers
were then in a position to back up their noise with decision, but they
also faced the prospect of negotiating with Washington without having
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the power of the British as leverage. They were on their own. They
were the little men against the giants and the perception endured and
still endures today that they were browbeaten, domineered, and that
like Pearson on Johnson’s porch, they wilted under the pressure.

But as much as conventional wisdom suggests it is true, as much as
self-flagellating Canadians might like to think it is true, the prime
ministers have not been afraid to stand up to the presidents. Although
always sensitive to the disproportionate power of the neighbour to the
south, the prime ministers, in most cases, have demonstrated a stub-
bornness and fiery pride which, although insufficient for Canadian
nationalists who crave a Tito of the West, repudiates any cowering
stereotypes.

John A. Macdonald would alienate all of Washington with displays
of contempt for the presidents and their men. When the Cleveland
administration called for a boycott of Canada, it would witness the
brave albeit slightly ludicrous spectacle of Macdonald and his Defence
minister threatening to take up arms and redo 1812. Wilfrid Laurier,
visiting President McKinley in Chicago, would speak to an audience
entirely in French and tell complaining Americans that if they didn’t
like it, it was too bad. Robert Borden would line up the Dominions
against the wishes of Woodrow Wilson at the Paris Peace Conference.
R. B. Bennett would hand the unpopular Herbert Hoover the ultimate
snub by refusing to be seen with him. After Ottawa and Washington
had put together a free-trade package in the late 1940s, King would
tell the Truman administration to forget it, just like Canadians had
told Taft to forget his plan in 1911. St. Laurent would inform a stalling
Truman that Canada had waited long enough and was going ahead
on plans for the development of the St. Lawrence Seaway by itself
Compelled to attend an Eisenhower election year publicity junket in
West Virginia, St. Laurent would put in the most disdainful of
performances, embarrassing even his Canadian colleagues. Diefen-
baker would treat Kennedy with contempt. Pearson, though battered
at Camp David, would have the courage to go into the United States
and criticize the Vietnam war in the first place, something other
foreign leaders wouldn’t do. And Trudeau, indomitable on the inter-
national stage, not about to be pushed anywhere by anyone, would
tell the presidents that Canada wanted to do some looking—
elsewhere.

If the performances of the prime ministers are a reflection of the
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character of their countrymen, there is some grit and determination
there.

But there is a streak of masochism in the Canadian view of the
White House which makes Cianadians reluctant to accept the notion
(hat their prime ministers have been firm in the face of presidential
abuse. Such a notion is a threat to many Canadians’ deeply imbedded
poor-us psyche, which requires that the presidents subjugate the
prime ministers. Teddy Roosevelt noticed as early as the turn of the
century, and Pearson and Dean Rusk noticed later, that anti-
Americanism is a Canadian necessity.

“(lanadians,” said the first Roosevelt, “like to indulge themselves
a4 a harmless luxury in a feeling of hostility to the United States.
I'ractically this does not operate at all. Practically Canada will take an
American, Van Horne, to run its railway system and America will
a Canadian, Hill, to run its.... But the average Canadian likes to
[ecl patriotic by jeering at the man across the border, just as to a lesser
(legree the average Scotchman for similar reasons adopts a similar
ittitude toward England.”

I’carson, who in the United States 1s considered Canada’s greatest
tatesman, took the thought a step further, asserting: “worry about
(he Americans and their friendly pressures is still probably the strongest
inilying Canadian force. At a time when some of us are in doubt
about the nature or even the reality of a separate Canadian identity. ..
we can stand shoulder to shoulder, one thin but unbroken red line
Washington and proclaim: ‘No surrender.””

would tend to find neglectful treatment by the presidents on occasions
when it wasn’t there. Sometimes they might have done well to
ijuestion the behaviour of their own prime ministers toward the White
House, “Sometimes,” said Jack Pickersgill, a cabinet member and
wilviser to prime ministers for three decades, “I thought they treated
adults and we often acted like adolescents.”

ILusk, secretary of state for Kennedy and Johnson, grew distressed
in his Canadian diplomatic ventures, finding in the Ottawa officials a
“lkneesjerk disposition to disagree—just to demonstrate indepen-
dence.” Finally, at a NATO foreign ministers’ meeting, he decided
he'dl thken enough, and when Paul Martin, External Affairs minister,

1 L]

auked him his position on a certain issue, he used a new tact. “My
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friend,” said Rusk, “you speak first because if you speak first I might
be able to agree with you. But if T speak first, you would be compelled
to disagree,” 10

In 1960, the turning point year, the year when the strong Canada-
U.S. spirit built by Roosevelt and King began to crumble, the
Canadian disposition to disagree would be provided with the ingre-
dients of unprecedented growth. The presidents of 1960 and beyond
would sag to new depths of carelessness and neglect in their treatment
of Canada. Foremost among the offenders would be John Kennedy
who, in his period with Diefenbaker, acted as though he thought he
could control Canada as if it were one of his limbs. The prime
ministers of 1960 and beyond would be more anti-American in their
approach than their predecessors. Foremost among the new breed
was Diefenbaker, who was less willing to buckle under presidential
power than any other prime minister. The personal relationship
between the leaders from 1960 on would be either dreadful, distant, or
disappointing. Finally the Canadian condition from 1960 on would
be more nationalist than in any period since Theodore Roosevelt.

All the signals were ominous. Even before Kennedy came to power,
Diefenbaker’s mail —and mail was so important to his perception of
the public will—was telling him Canadians felt they were being
pushed around on economic and defence issues, But Diefenbaker
liked Eisenhower too much to confront him personally on the problem,
He had a rapport, a friendship with this president, and it was impor-
tant to him. He would tell friends he could get Ike any time just by
picking up the phone at his elbow. The disputes could await the
election ofa president for whom he had no respect. On that president’s
arrival, the Canada-U.S. good-will era would explode.

Observers would saddle Diefenbaker with the burden of blame.
But the seeds of his personal feud with Kennedy and therefore the
seeds of the era of hostility were planted as much by the yvoung
president as by Diefenbaker. In the nascent stages of their relationship,
the vital stages, it was Diefenbaker who would show some good will,
and Kennedy a haughty disregard. It was Kennedy who publicly
ridiculed Diefenbaker’s ability to speak French. Tt was Kennedy who,
to the prime minister’s face, mocked one of Diefenbaker’s chief sources
of pride —his ability to fish, It was Kennedy who couldn’t pronounce
his name properly. It was Kennedy who, after being told privately by
Diefenbaker that Canada was not interested in joining the Organiza-
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tion of American States, went over the head of the prime minister with
a call to the Canadian public to join anyway. [t was Kennedy who left
behind a memorandum in Ottawa which did not, as legacy has it,
refer to Diefenbaker as an S.0.B., but which was imperious and
insulting in tone,

The Kennedy posture toward Diefenbaker’s Canada was that of a
president stretching his legs across the Canadian border and demand-
ing a shoeshine. With Pearson, a person Kennedy could admire, the
border links were slightly rebuilt, but the president’s death came too
soon, and his replacement Johnson was as incompatible with Pearson
as Kennedy was with Diefenbaker. After the prime minister’s Vietnam
speech and Camp David, a constructive relationship was impossible
—the loss of bilateral respect illustrated one night when Rusk spotted
ambassador Charles Ritchie at a reception. The usually urbane Rusk
cornered the ambassador, demanded a meeting to set him straight on
some issues and, setting the time and place, snapped, “And you better
wear your asbestos shorts cause I'm going to burn your ass.” !

[l fortune became a significant contributor to the ill will. The string
ol opposite personalities in the seats of power continued. In Pierre
Irudeau and Richard Nixon, the personality mix alone was a recipe
lor disaster. With economic nationalism a booming business in
Cianada, with the United States locked in a war as unpopular north of
the border as anywhere else, with America losing more respect in
(lanada as a result of assassinations, racial riots and economic misery,
Opportunity was a missing word in the purview of bilateral relations,

Nixon revealed his regard for Canada in August 1971 when, as part
ol an American balance of payments overhaul, he announced the
imposition of a ten percent surcharge on imports. Canada, tradition-
ally exempted or at least informed well in advance of such far-reaching
(rade measures, was neither exempted nor informed well in advance
and Trudeau began to wonder about what Mr. Nixon was up to.
“Has America stopped loving us?” the prime minister asked. He met
with Nixon in Ottawa in April of 1972 and it was one of those
occasions in which the atmospherics were in harmony with the intent.

Snow was still on the ground and, imagining that Canadian demon-
s might wish to throw snowballs at President Nixon, govern-
ment officials exercised considerable foresight. They called in a platoon
ol hosers from the Public Works Department and the men hosed down
the snow with steaming hot water until it disappeared.
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At the prime minister’s office, Bob Haldeman's advance men
arrived and quickly won no friends. They didn’t like the tan colour of
Mr. Trudeau’s furniture because it wouldn’t provide a suitable back-
drop for the president on television. They attempted, failingly, to have
it changed to blue. There was a problem with the Canadian arrange-
ments to have the president stay at Government House, the home of
the governor-general. The president didn’t want to stay there. He
would stay at his ambassador’s residence, they suggested. And about
the grand gala at the National Arts Centre —the president would
have other business to look after, they said. He could only aflord a few
token minutes at the gala.

Henry Kissinger, a bachelor at this time, needed a date. The prime
minister’s oflice lined up Charlotte Gobeil, an attractive local television
personality. Miss Gobeil was escorted by Kissinger to the entertain-
ment gala, where one unknown troupe from one unknown corner of
the north country followed another unknown troupe from another
unknown corner, until the oozing Canadiana was such that a squirm-
ing Kissinger turned to Gobeil. “My God,” he grumbled. “When is
this going to end? How many more acts?’12

There were other problems at the gala. Flower boxes on the first tier
dripped water on the people below. A queasy, courtly matron rumbled
through the rows toward the ladies’ salon but didn’t make it. Having
forgotten his security pass, cabinet member Jean Marchand was
escorted back out onto Wellington Street, shouting, “Don’t you know
wholam?” Haldeman was furious at not being able to get Nixon out
of the Arts Centre immediately after the performance and chose to
parade his anger in front of everyone.

There were problems after the gala. It had been kind of an uneven
evening for Mr. Kissinger and Miss Gobell, the latter taking advantage
of the occasion to attack his war strategy. “Your Vietnamization
policy? It’s a flop, 1sn’t it?”" The secretary of state had no intention of
escorting her home. But when Miss Gobeil grabbed him by the arm in
the parking lot in front of many dignitaries and clamoured that she
was his date and the very least he could do was drop her off, Kissinger
didn’t have much choice. “You're absolutely right,” he said. “You're
absolutely right.”

But the timing was bad. Miss Gobeil invited Kissinger in for 4 drink
and Kissinger, though Nixon wanted him for an important meeting
on Vietnam, obliged. Inside, she was about to get some wine when she
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heard the shower running. It was located next to her bedroom and she
walked there, with Kissinger, to her disappointment, following. At
the doorway they looked in to see a male companion of Miss Gobeil’s
climbing out of the shower, naked. Kissinger flinched, was introduced
to designer Bob Smith, and quickly repaired to the living room. !
When Smith, who had thought he was seeing an oversized Time
magazine cover coming through the door, was presentable, the three
had a quick drink, Miss Gobeil noticing that Kissinger “had kind of
lost interest.”” On the way out, several Kissinger security guards, not
having seen Smith enter, accosted him, and the secretary of state had
to come to his rescue, explaining that he was a friend. Relieved to be
free of Miss Gobeil, Kissinger returned to Government House where,
with Nixon, he made an important decision on the Vietnam war.

The visit, not entirely saturated with good will, turned out to be an
appropriate one for Nixon to make a major statement, a statement of
telling significance, on the Canada-U.S. relationship.

The past speeches of the presidents and the prime ministers, he
explained in addressing Parliament, tended to be cliché-ridden exer-
cises that camouflaged the “real problems” between the countries.
“They have tended to create the false impression that our countries
are essentially alike.”

Now, Nixon said, “It is time for Canadians and Americans to move
beyond the sentimental rhetoric of the past. It is time for us to
recognize that we have very separate identities; that we have signifi-
cant differences; and that nobody’s interests are furthered when these
realities are obscured.”

Nixon, in effect, was declaring an end to the special relationship
between the two countries. It was time, he was saying, to recognize a
new reality on the continent. Trudeau was looking on happily. He
had known what Nixon was going to say and he had wanted him to
say it.!* Like Nixon, he thought the special relationship unworkable
and undesirable. He was intrigued by the prospect of finding some-
thing to replace it. After more than one hundred years in which the
countries had moved closer together, the president and the prime
minister had decided for many reasons that it would be best if they
started moving apart.
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The First Findings:
John A. Macdonald and
Ulysses S. Grant

I'T WAS DECEMBER 8, 1870, and in the opinion of John A. Macdonald
it would be “a century” before Canada would be “strong enough to
walk alone.” Ulysses S. Grant, on this day, was issuing one of the only
State of the Union addresses in which Canada would merit mention.
The Republican president, as yet unscarred by the scandals which
would shadow his stewardship, called the three-year-old country an
“irresponsible agent.” It was “vexatious...unfriendly...unneigh-
bourly.” Citing harsh acts by Ottawa against American fishermen, he
asked Congress for special authority: “I recommend you to confer
upon the Executive the power to suspend by proclamation the opera-
tion of the laws authorizing the transit of goods, wares and merchan-
dise across the territory of the United States to Canada.” Further, “to
suspend the operation of any laws whereby the vessels of the Dominion
of Canada are permitted to enter the waters of the United States.”

On Prime Minister Macdonald’s orders Canadian authorities had
seized hundreds of U.S. fishing vessels in maritime waters. The Ameri-
cans had allegedly violated an ambiguous fifty-year-old treaty setting
the boundary on the east coast. Grant, outraged at Macdonald’s
nerve, was requesting special retaliatory powers so that he could teach
the Canadian some manners if the abuse continued.

The eighteenth president had great difficulty with Canada. Its very
existence bothered him. Since his first days in office one of his goals

was to make it part of the United States. Annexation of Canada
would more than double the U.S. land mass. It would remove a
potential source of conflict from the continent. It would satisfy the
demands of Manifest Destiny. It would be a nice plus for Grant’s
re-election campaign. It would look good on his resumé.

His first idea was to slay the infant country softly. Induce England
to allow a referendum in Canada on total independence from the
motherland. Canada would vote yes, the young president assumed,
and then it would be a simple matter for the Americans to walk in and
absorb. No British guns would offer protection. Grant, who guided
the Union forces to victory in the Civil War, would hardly have to
draw on his experience.

Secretary of State Hamilton Fish, one of the best at the job the
United States would produce, thought Grant was overly optimistic.
The goal was laudable, he noted in his diary, but the timetable
formidable. On Grant’s request he saw Sir Edward Thornton, the
British ambassador to Washington, and in as much as Ottawa had no
control over its foreign policy, the Canadian ambassador as well. Not
a chance, said Thornton. He didn’t care about the Dominion, and
London wasn’t fussy either. But the Canadians didn’t want total
independence. Macdonald would set up a howl. He and his govern-
ment knew that it would be tantamount to U.S. annexation, Thornton
said. They wouldn’t agree to a referendum.

Grant had another idea—have Britain cede Canada to him in
exchange for damages rendered on the Union forces by the British-
built warship, the Alabama. A straight-up, uncomplicated deal. For
two years, he pushed the proposal but London was unwilling to
relinquish a country that was adamant about not being relinquished.
“The Canadians,” Thornton told Fish, “find great fault with me for
saying as openly as I do that we are ready to let them go whenever
they shall wish.”

Fish believed that Canadian opinion favoured independence and
perhaps annexation. “I referred to the number of Canadians now
resident in the United States, the influx of French Canadians into the
States, the number of mechanics and laborers who come here for the
greater part of the year.” With the exception of the Canadian élite, he
said, there is “a very large preponderance of sentiment in favor of
separation from Great Britain.”?

But the Gladstone government held firm and now Grant, another
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annexation plan thwarted, his resentment pricked by a brash prime
minister’s escapades in the maritimes, was getting testy. The Ohio-
born West Point graduate had several weaknesses as president: an
inability to choose responsible advisers, an affair with the bottle, an
appalling lack of class, and like several occupants of the Oval Office in
his time, an ignorance of foreign affairs. But one thing Grant did have
was grit. No one questioned that. He had rebounded from every
career crash. On the battlefield he had sprung back from desperate
circumstance. On his death bed, contesting the agony of cancer, he
would complete his memoirs two days before passing away. “I can’t
spare this man,” Lincoln once said as pressures to dismiss Grant
climbed. “He fights.”

Ottawa was at least a little fearful that the president would do
something rash, like take up arms. It would not be out of character for
him. Nor, at this stage of its history, would it be out of character for his
country.

It was America’s “Manifest Destiny,” John O’Sullivan, editor of
the Democraiic Review, wrote in 1844, “to overspread the continent
allotted by Providence for the Iree development of our multiplying
millions.” One of history’s more turgid pronouncements, the Manifest
Destiny philosophy meant it was not only in the United States’
interest to expand on the continent but its duty. Room was needed for
the population to spread, for the superior political system to spread,
for the natural dynamism to flex. The doctrine would be used to
support the purchase of Alaska, the annexation of Hawaii, and the
U.S. entry into the Spanish-American war.

Andrew Johnson, Grant’s hapless predecessor and the first president
Canada faced, was among the many who thought the doctrine should
apply to Canada. For the Dominion, whose birth in 1867 he neglected
to acknowledge by congratulatory telegram or any means, Johnson
had what he termed a “national policy.” Upon the acquisition of
Alaska in 1868, he said that “comprehensive national policy would
seem to sanction the acquisition and incorporation into our federal
union of the several adjacent continental and insular communities.”
But Johnson's presidency was plagued by adversity. Much of the first
half was spent trying to dispel the belief that he was a drunkard. On
the day he was inaugurated vice-president, he drank too much in
trying to curb a cold, turned in a teetering performance, and was
forever saddled with the image. Much of the second half was spent
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trying to fight off impeachment. There was no time for his national
policy.

In 1870, with his annexation strategies failing, with the fisheries
quarrel continuing, President Grant came to a cabinet meeting in a
Manifest Destiny kind of mood. He had studied the boundary treaty
and was convinced Macdonald was in error. He looked over his
unspectacular cabinet group, went into a harangue over the fisheries,
and lit up all faces with a declaration that he was ready to “take
Canada and wipe out her commerce....”’? He would ask Congress to
declare war, he said, but for the fact that there was a large debt.
Hamilton Fish shook his head discouragingly. Treasury Secretary
George Boutwell urged patience, at least until Congress voted funds.
“Ohyes,” said Grant. “But really I am tired of all this arrogance and
assumption.”

Atlantic coast fisheries jurisdiction was an issue that had plagued
relations between the North American neighbours since 1776. It was
an issue that would plague bilateral relations all the way into the
Pierre Trudeau-Ronald Reagan era. It would take its place along
with four other issues at the top of the Canada-U.S. disputes list:
continental defence, free trade and investment, boundaries, the
environment.

The fisheries were the richest in the world. As American colonies
prior to the revolution, the American states enjoyed the same rights to
the waters as the northern colonies. The Treaty of Paris, which ended
the revolution, changed little, but the War of 1812 led the British to
withdraw many of the American privileges. U.S. fishermen were
given access to offshore areas but, to the more rich waters inside the
three-mile coastal zones, they were allowed entry only for shelter and
other non-fishing purposes, and only upon purchase of licences. These
conditions remained until 1854 when another agreement appeared to
satisfy everyone. Inshore rights were given to the Americans in return
for a free-trade pact with the Dominion on natural products. However,
alleged British and Canadian support for the south in the Civil War,
along with the suspicion that the Canadians were getting the better of
the 1854 deal, prompted Washington to cancel the trade concessions.
The treaty was thereby abrogated, the rules of 1818 came back into
ellect, and an angry Macdonald began ordering the boat seizures.

T'he fisheries were of overwhelming importance to the economies of
the New England states and the Canadian provinces. Macdonald
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described them as “our Alsace and Lorraine.” He was well aware of
the hostility festering in Mr. Grant, and of the president’s wish to
annex Canada. He knew also of Grant’s support for the Fenian raids.
The Fenians, a hysterically anti-British group of Irish-Americans,
were willing to do anything to enrage London, and the takeover of
Canada was thought to be appropriate —for the Fenians and for the
presidents. President Johnson had countenanced the first invasions a
few years earlier saying he would recognize the establishment of a
Fenian Republic in Canada. At that time the incursions were repelled,
but, in August of 1870, the Fenians were massing for another attack
and the always upright Mr. Fish asked Mr. Grant if it would perhaps
be wise to seize their arms to prevent the aggression, Grant said no, let
them attack. They did, the Fenians were repelled again, and yet
another piece of presidential scheming against the Dominion was
dashed.

Finally, faced with an empty war chest, faced with the prospect
that a conflict with Canada would bring in Britain, and faced with
pressure from his secretary of state, President Grant agreed to attempt
a negotiated settlement on the fisheries, along with other Clanadian
issues, and the Alabama claims. The British, bogged down with Euro-
pean difficulties, would be anxious for an easy settlement, Grant was
advised. More important was the Canadian angle. Britain would be
doing the negotiating for Canada and Britain didn’t even desire the
Dominion any more. Thornton had told the White House as much. Tt
was only because Canadians wanted the connection that the connec-
tion remained. To suspect that London would put up a hard-
bargaining front for a country it barely cared about while risking good
relations with Washington was unreasonable.

John A. Macdonald had many reasons to be depressed in 1870 and,
as he nursed his bad health, his sick child, and his endless bottles of
port, the thought of being pushed into an unjust fisheries settlement
by Grant and Thornton pained him constantly. As a sop to the
Dominion, the British had decided that one Canadian could sit on its
five-member commission undertaking the negotiations. But it was
made abundantly clear that the Canadian would not be a splinter
third force but an integral, submissive part of the British group. The
prime minister had to accept the conditions and the decision to be
made was whether or not he should be the Canadian to sit on the
coOmmission,
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It would meet for two and half months. It would meet in Washing-
ton. He would face only adversaries. He was not yet recovered from a
severe attack of gallstones which nearly killed him several months
carlier. He was heartsick over the physical abnormality of his
eighteen-month-old daughter Mary, who had been born Sw.ﬁr an
oversized head. He faced little but political peril in the negotiating
venture. There would be minimal acclaim in the unlikely prospect
that he gained a favourable settlement. There would be a ::nlnmzw of
criticism in the probable prospect of failure. But gmn&o:m._a_m fear
that other parties would “play the devil” with Canadian interests
overshadowed all these concerns. The first Canadian prime minister
decided it was time for his first visit to Washington. It would not be
long before he would write back home: “I stand alone, fighting the
battle of Canada.”?

Macdonald first arrived in New York where he read about himself
in a New York Herald article datelined Prescott, Ontario. “Now I had
met or seen nobody at Prescott,” he wrote Charles Tupper. “In the
course of the day I was interviewed at New York by another New York
I Herald man who has published an equally fallacious account. Among
other things he says that I told him that my views had been no:}mn.z%
stated in the account of the long and interesting interview I had with
the Herald correspondent the day before at Prescott.”*

At the Washington train station where, to his relief, there were no
IHerald reporters to greet him, Macdonald searched _osmmzm:\. for
someone else. These were not the days when prime ministers merited
nineteen-gun salutes. Naturally, President Grant wasn’t there. But
nor was Fish or a single American official. The Canadian representa-
tive in the capital, Thornton, didn’t even bother to show. Thornton
sent his carriage and an attaché, the Honourable Mr. ”d,.nzn? E.r.o
was accorded the distinction of greeting the first prime minister to visit
Washington and who promptly took him to a hotel across the river in
Arlington, Virginia.

Few of note stayed overnight in Washington because it Emm,w:n_m.nn—
not fit to stay in. While Ottawa was a coarse lumber town in the B&-
(o late-nineteenth century, it compared favourably to the languid
village on the Potomac. In 1891 when George Washington _um_._n_m.m
lew acres between Georgetown, Maryland, and Alexandria, Virginia
and anointed it the future U.S. capital, there was nothing anﬂ but
ficld and swamp and cows and huts. Three glorious white edifices
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were soon interspersed in the bog: the Congress building, the White
House, and the Supreme Court. They were physically separated by
considerable distance to symbolize the separation of powers called for
in the Clonstitution. But the mile’s journey from the White House to
the Congress was more like picking one’s way through jungle so that
the separation came to be regarded as far more than symbolic.

The ruling elite of Washington was supposed to quickly attract
wealth, people, and growth to the city but through Grant’s time it
hadn’t yet happened. A “class of swaggering sycophants™ —the con-
fidence men, soup-seeking vagabonds, petitioning Indians—were the
ones who came early and the ones who tended to remain.®

Politicians were viewed with even greater skepticism than in mod-
ern times. Rather than attract people to the city they were more apt to
deter them. As a result the underdeveloped District of Columbia, so
mocked for its philistine ways by British and French diplomats, had
become an uninviting area which, oddly enough, was what some of
the planners initially had in mind. Prior to 1800, fractious mobs kept
forcing the government of the new republic to shift from town to town,
so that a priority for the creators of Washington became a somewhat
isolated location far from the madding crowd. To that purpose they
made a stipulation for the district that has remained, with contro-
versy, through time: no participation by the Washington citizenry in
state or local government; no senators elected from the district; no
representatives,

On his first full day in the city, Macdonald, who was not to be
introduced to the president for a week, was taken with the other
British commissioners on a tour of Congress where he met some
annexationist senators, heard some impressive speeches, and learned
of the amusing antics of legislators who couldn’t read or write. To
impress their constituents they chose to purchase speeches from free-
lance literates and have them inserted in the Congressional record of
the day under their own name. But the writers would sometimes sell
the same speech to several members leaving constituents to discover
that by stunning coincidence their Congressman had uttered exactly
the same speech in the House as many others.®

Prime Minister Macdonald was fast into the Washington social
scene. Not a politician to confine himself to tea, he turned out to be
about the only Canadian leader who could imbibe glass for glass with
the presidents. (Later Mackenzie King would toss about in bed at
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night frightened that he had offended FDR by not sharing a drink
with him. Truman would have to bring his own branch water to
Ottawa. Brandy and cigars with Kennedy after dinner was disagree-
able to Diefenbaker, and Lester Pearson was offended when Lyndon
Johnson tried to get him smashed on bourbons before sunset.)

One of the Washington entertainments was the Potomac yacht
party and, at one of the many he attended, Macdonald fell into
conversation with a senator’s wife who was not aware that she was
speaking to the prime minister of Canada. It was terrible, she said,
that Canadians were governed by that “perfect rascal,” Macdonald.
“Yes,” said the prime minister, “he is a perfect rascal.” “Why,” ﬂ.ﬁ
came back, “do they keep such a man in power?” “Well,” said
Macdonald, “they can’t seem to get on without him.” The lady’s
husband strolled into the conversation and introduced Mr. Mac-
donald to his incredulous spouse. “Don’t apologize,” said the prime
minister, “All you've said is perfectly true and well known at ro,%a.:.d

The Macdonald position in the negotiations provided that if mari-
time inshore fishing rights were to be returned to the Americans, a
wide ranging free-trade arrangement, like the one agreed 8.5 1854,
would have to be granted in return. Secretary of State m,_.mF who
headed up the American commission, wasn’t interested in trade
concessions. Meeting daily with the president on strategy, he came
{orward with a straight cash proposal of one million dollars for fishing
rights in vm%nE:w.. Macdonald was outraged. Well wqm_wm:,mau he
(abled figures showing that the American catch from Om:mnrm.ﬁ mroﬂ.nm
in one year alone was worth six million dollars. “Utterly inadmis-
sable,” he declared. Grant and Fish tried a compromise: a cash sum
plus free trade in a small number of items —coal, fish, and m.:wiooa.
Macdonald found the list, particularly firewood, insultingly inconse-
(uential. The other British commissioners thought it was appropriate.
They were beginning to wonder about this Canadian upstart m:.g
(heir anxiety turned instantly to anger when, in a daring diplomatic
stroke, Macdonald went above everyone’s head via cable to the
(iladstone government in London and was successful. He won a
Jtatement that the Canadian fishing rights should not be given up for

money and that all matters in the prospective treaty relating to

(anada would have to be ratified by the Parliament in Ottawa.?
Among the Macdonald adversaries now was the press. “The New

York papers are beginning to pitch into me as being ‘the nigger on the
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fence.” I am rather glad of it as it will d6 me no harm in Canada.” Fish
was becoming increasingly distressed by the Canadian’s obstinacy.
The former governor of New York, cultured, wise, wealthy, was the
Grant cabinet’s calibre person. Compared to the others, the San
Francisco Chronicle would write, he “stood alone like a purifying
eucalyptus tree in a malarial swamp. His presence saved the name of
the American Government from utter disgrace.”

Grant was an aloof president who deigned to see the prime minister
only twice during his eleven-week stay. Once to be introduced, once
tosay goodbye. Contact and often judgment was deferred to Fish and
it didn’t take long before the secretary was taking Lord De Grey, the
head of the British Commission, aside and pressuring him to bring
Macdonald into line. “I shall take the opportunity of letting Mac-
donald understand,” De Grey assured him, “that he is here not as a
representative of the Canadian but of the British Government.”

Fish and his colleagues couldn’t understand that the Canadian
Parliament could possibly have any real power of ratification. “They
pooh pooh it altogether,” wrote Macdonald. “They think that when
the treaty is once made the ultimate ratification of it by the Clanadian
parliament is a mere matter of form.”

His opinion of Grant and company was less than flattering. “The
present government here is as weak as water and they have not the
pluck to resist the pressure from their friends in the Senate in the
slightest degree. ... The absurd attempts of the U.S. commissioners to
depreciate the value of our Fisheries would be ridiculous if they were
not so annoying.” As for the British he said that “they seem to have
one thing on their minds. That is to go home to England with a treaty
in their pockets, settling everything, no matter at what cost to
(Clanada.” Asfor himself: “I have been in many responsible and many
disagreeable positions. But in both respects my present position exceeds
everything I have previously undertaken. ... The sooner I am out of it,
the better.”"?

Macdonald had rejected many American compromise proposals
and now, pushing his fortunes further, he turned down yet another—a
straight trade offer with an enlarged list of goods in the free-entry
category. Again his British co-commissioners were incensed. Again
the American commissioners were incensed. And again the prime
minister contacted London. Gladstone, in another surprise, backed
him. The commission was cabled. They were informed that the
Pominion would not have to accept the latest offer.
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But the end was near. Grant and Fish now decided they had
tolerated enough. They decided not only against any further trade
concessions but, arguing that no trade package could get through the
protectionist Congress, decided to withdraw all trade concessions.
They offered only a cash settlement to be determined by international
arbitration. Later, as an alterthought, they decided they would throw
in the free entry of Canadian fish.

Macdonald was predictably furious. He predictably turned down
the offer. He predictably wired London for help, but his wrath was
becoming redundant. The negotiations were dragging and all parties
were becoming restless. Other issues had been settled, and only the
nagging Canadian fisheries problem remained. This time De Grey
cabled London. “If you don’t back us up against Macdonald he will
be quite unmanageable and I see no chance of coming to an arrange-
ment.” As a favour to the Dominion the British decided they would
pay Ottawa compensation for the Fenian raids, something Macdonald
had been chasing Washington to do. This done, Gladstone felt that
the prime minister should accept the latest American proposal. His
word was final, and with Macdonald having nowhere else to turn, the
agreement with the Americans was made.

The signing day for the Treaty of Washington was May 8, 1871. It
was a splendid day in the capital, the sunlight rushing through the
mellow spring air, exhilarating almost everything it touched. The
signing parties assembled in the State Department with a merriment
that matched the weather. For Grant, the settlement of the British
and Canadian disputes would greatly enhance his re-election efforts.
For the British, a strengthened friendship with Washington was a
most positive development. The only person who wasn’t grinning was

John A. Macdonald. There were to be no phoney airs from the

Canadian prime minister. He had asked that his objections be
recorded in the text of the treaty. He had been refused this but in the
intrepid manner which marked the lonely stand of the brandy-nosed
leader of the child-country against the Americans, Macdonald had at
least won the right to have his condemnation officially recorded in
letters to all the commissioners.

Now Hamilton Fish, sporting a triumphant glow, circulated in the
treaty room and Lord De Grey took his hand. “This is the proudest
day of my life,” De Grey gushed. “It is a great result,” said Fish. While
the congratulations poured forth and the papers were readied for
signing, the flush of enthusiasm was momentarily interrupted when a



.:w ® I'HE PRESIDENTS AND THE PRIME MINISTERS

commissioner accidentally knocked burning sealing wax on a clerk’s
hands. Horrendous pain brought a look of strahgulation to the poor
man’s face. He tried valiantly, given the dignity and joy of the
occasion, to suppress his anguish. But finally he buckled over in tears
and cries of pain.

Macdonald felt like doing the same thing. The documents were
moved to him and he readied to sign. But he could not resist the
temptation to register his discontent, He looked up at the secretary of
state. “Here go the fisheries,” he said. “You get a good equivalent for
them,” Hamilton Fish responded. “No,” said Macdonald as the
hushed gathering looked on. “We give them away.”

He signed his name and rose from the table. “They are gone,” he
said.10

CHAPTER THREE

Games Presidents Play:
Grant, Hayes, Arthur,
Cleveland, and Harrison

WITH A CONDESCENSION that characterized much of official Ameri-
ca’s attitude toward the new Dominion, The New York Star pontifi-
cated on the results of the Washington Treaty: “Never before were
people more doomed to disappointment than these ever sanguine
Canadians....Here are a people who in consequence of having
acquired a sort of quasi-independence put on all the airs of a great
power.” But have pity on them, the newspaper said. “These luckless
vassals of royalty are entitled to some commiseration. They went to
the federal capital for wool and came back shorn.”

It wouldn’t be long before the luckless vassals would be back in
Washington for wool again only to come back shorn again. A pattern
of familiarity developed in the relationships between the men at the
top in the early decades. It involved passionately stubborn Canadian
prime ministers or cabinet members or diplomats throwing themselves
into the pit against Americans of twice the power and, with rare
exception, meeting the predictable oblivion. But what mattered most,
it seemed, was the fight, the will to stand alone. There was a lot of that
in the Canadians. They had a nation to build.

Alexander Mackenzie, the stern, highly principled prime minister
who interrupted Macdonald’s reign, dearly wanted a new trade
treaty and would be disappointed when the prospects for his negotia-
tor, George Brown, turned gloomy. But what would console him
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would be the eflort, the fight. “Whether we obtain a treaty or not,” he
wrote Brown’s wife Anne, “we have found this great advantage; That
the Yankees know now that the Canadians are able to do their own
negotiating effectively and that the days of English diplomatic buf-
foonery and blundering are over on this continent.” He concluded:
“Alfter this we will at least be respected and can respect ourselves,”

Mackenzie, who swept into power and also into one of Canada’s
worst depressions on the heels of the Conservatives’ railway scandal,
was insulted by the Washington Treaty and the arrogance of Mr. Fish.
“Itlooks as if he considered us as a sort of political beggar looking with
longing eyes to him for the crumbs the Republic might drop to us.”
But Mackenzie’s wracked economy could use crumbs. It badly needed
a stripping away of American trade barriers. The Liberal govern-
ment’s program called for such: looser ties with Britain, and greater
¢conomic integration on the continent.

Anopportunity arrived immediately as a result of two factors, The

newly elected Congress was more oriented toward free trade. The
international tribunal set up by the Washington Treaty to determine
the price of American privileges in Canadian waters hadn’t yet
convened. Now there were suggestions that rather than pay a high
price, Washington might consider the alternative of trade concessions,
Mackenzie sent Senator Brown, the cocky, truculent editor of the
loronto Globe to the capital on a scouting mission. Never short on
optimism, Brown reported that there was a distinctly receptive mood,
Later he would predict that a deal could be worked out which will
make Canada “a great country ere many years to come,”
Prime Minister Mackenzie was not about to confront the hopeless
ting odds that faced Macdonald. Through hard bargaining he
«d a negotiating commission in which Ottawa had equal status
with Britain. Brown was named one co-commissioner and ambassador
T'hornton, the other.,

The Brown performance featured tireless, unorthodox and, for the
Americans, exceptionally aggravating diplomacy. It was not the
custom and it would never be the custom for foreign diplomats to
lobby legislators on Capitol Hill. Negotiation is supposed to be re-
stricted to the White House and the executive departments. Through-
out history this limitation would hinder Canadian efforts. On more
1 a dozen occasions negotiators would arrange pacts with the

rnistration only to have them turned down by an unconvinced
Clongress,
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George Brown paid no attention to such protocol. His m:.mﬁ@.\ was
to furiously work the Hill, obtain its support, and have President
Grant feel the pressure. He rode about the muddy, still unfinished
capital in a cherry-satined coach with “a portly, dignified colored
gentleman on the dickey in full blazing livery and buttons that Eo:_.&
fairly have stolen the heart of Ginney [daughter].” He mixed conti-
nuously with senators, men “entirely ignorant of the facts,” and
reported home that “we were soon as thick as thieves.” He started a
campaign with the nation’s leading newspapers, visiting them one by
one, explaining the Canadian position and eliciting such mmwc:wmc_n
press that Fish was soon complaining about his behaviour. .>w
temperatures soared in the Washington spring of 1874, the Canadian
became overwhelmingly confident. “Nothing but bad management
can now prevent a really satisfactory agreement from being
obtained.”!

Whether the Yankees, as Prime Minister Mackenzie called them,
were as impressed with Brown’s performance as was Brown was
another question. He had marshalled some support in Ooswmnmm. fora
trade package but the president and his men were hardly stirred.
Grant, trying to cope with assorted kickback scandals and other more
important matters, was largely indifferent to Brown’s hard sell mda
Fish, lead negotiator for the Americans, was moving slowly. <<r_._n
Brown was wiring most positive news to Mackenzie, Fish was dis-
passionately noting in his diary that the prospects were grim.

Congress would be adjourning for the summer on June 22, Hm.ﬁ.
At the start of the month, Brown and Fish still had nothing to put to it.
Brown was becoming suspicious of Fish, who he suspected was delib-
crately stalling until the recess date when the issue would die. .w:r “at
his time of life, to go into so elaborate a cheat without any gain seems
incredible.” After an Ottawa visit by Brown to get further instructions
from Mackenzie, after days of haggling over fine points, an agreement
was finally reached —one week before adjournment.

Then the British government demanded that the entire text of the
treaty be wired for approval to London. It took valuable time and
Brown was furious. “Three precious days lost.”

On June 18 he got an opportunity to meet with Grant. ..Hrn
president held the fate of the treaty in his hands. If he sent it to
Congress with a ringing personal endorsement, it would Enw_z be
taken up in the dying days and passed. If he sent it over E:JOE
fanfare, it would have little chance. Brown, in the White House for a
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reception, hung around until almost everyone had left, waited for the
opportune moment, approached Grant and began to plug the treaty.
The president gave him great news. In Brown’s words, he “broke out
enthusiastically” for the pact. “He congratulated me on the great
success that I had accomplished and assured me that he would take
every measure to have the Senate endorse it.”

But Brown didn’t know Ulysses Grant. The president, a few hours
before the reception, had met with Secretary of State Fish. The treaty
was on the president’s desk. Fish asked him how it should be forwarded
to the Senate. “Without recommendation,” Grant said.?

It was over. Without the push from the president, the Senate did
not take up the treaty before the session closed. Grant had told Brown
one thing, while doing the opposite. George Brown wired the prime
minister. “Had he sent it down honestly as a Government measure it
would have been sustained.” Relentless, as Macdonald had been,
Brown travelled to Washington when Congress reopened in December
to hustle the treaty again. Fish told him immediately that his cause
was hopeless. It was. All Brown got from the trip were some introduc-
tions to visiting dignitaries such as the King of the Canary Islands. “I
saw King Kalalua today.... He is a fine looking savage —tall, robust
and quite able to digest a reasonably sized baby at a meal.”

Ottawa had been thwarted again. Another treaty-making effort
had been spurned. Ulysses Grant, unable to achieve his annexation
wish, could not have been expected to do the Dominion any favours
and he didn’t. The tariffs would remain high. The Canadian economy
would suffer. But there may have been a little irony in it all. In
treating his neighbour so callously, Grant may have played a crucial
role in saving it. His protectionist policies became a major motivating
factor in sustaining John A. Macdonald’s national policy. The high
American tariffs helped forge a realization in the new country that the
United States could not be relied on for economic help; that Canads
would have to become more self-sufficient; that a trans-Canada rail-
way was necessary to tie the country together economically as well as
physically; that Canada had to prepare itself to go it alone on the
continent; that the national policy was needed.

Following Grant’s exit in 1876, the trade issue and the fisheries dispute
continued to haunt the early decades of the bilateral relationship,
driving a wedge between the presidents and the prime ministers and

GAMES PRESIDENTS PLAY:... » 37

their countries. President Grover Cleveland would regret the day he
got entangled in the disputes and suffer badly at the polls as a result of
them. Wilfrid Laurier would drop two elections because of his free-
trade fetish. William Howard Taft would be dealt a harsh political
setback by the Canadian electorate on reciprocity.

Rutherford B. Hayes, Grant’s successor, was viewed with promise
in the Canadian capital. Lord Dufferin, the governor-general, had
visited Hayes at the White House and Hayes had shocked him by
returning the visit, stopping by at his hotel. “Such a proceeding,”
Dufferin wrote Mackenzie, “is very unusual as President Grant did
not even return Prince Alfred’s visit.” It is, he said, “to be taken as a
proof of the anxiety of this government to evince the friendly spirit
with which it regards Canada.” Make sure the newspapers know
about this “exceptional act of courtesy,” he advised the prime minister.
“After cudgelling my brains it occurred to me that I might gratify him
by asking his son... to return with me to Ottawa.”

In narrowly electing the Republican Hayes, Americans chose an
honest, pious man to follow a scandal-tarred administration, just as
one hundred years later they chose an honest and pious man in Jimmy
Carter to follow a scandal-tarred administration. But althou gh Hayes,
aformer Union army general and Ohio governor, displayed a surface
kindness toward Canada, there was little doubt as to his real
motivation.

On May 25, 1879, the president made a one-paragraph entry in his
diary. Lord Dufferin would have found it interesting. “The annexation
tothe U.S.,” wrote Hayes, “‘of the adjacent parts of the continent both
north and south seems to be, according to the phrase of 1844, our
‘manifest destiny.” I am not in favor of artificial stimulants to this
tendency. But I think I see plainly that it is now for the interests of both
Canada and the United States that properly and in order and with
due regard to the feelings of Great Britain, the two countries should
come under one government. If it were known that we would probably
pay the whole or part of the Canadian debts, or would assume to pay
them, would it not stimulate the feeling in favor of annexation in
Canada?”’

William Henry, a friend, visited Hayes at the White House and
wrote: “I find that the President is full of the question of annexation
and would like to bring it about during his own Administration. He is
doing everything that is proper to have the question fairly considered
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by the thoughtful men of the two countries and is keeping up a pretty
active correspondence.”

Hayes had a special motive in the possible addition of Canada. He
saw Canadians as a distinctly conservative breed who would vote
Republican.

His thoughts on the possible acquisition of Canada were summed
up by Henry: “His plan is for the United States to assume the debt
and for our people to push into the Red River country and thus
Americanize that portion of the country from Lake Superior to the
Pacific. This is being done rapidly, and whether in time for this
Administration or of the next, it is soon to be.”

Henry advised the president that Macdonald, back in power in
Ottawa, was making an added push to keep Manitobans loyal through
the use of the press. Hayes planned to open negotiations with the
British for Canada when the conditions were right. But such conditions
never arrived. London wasn’t overly keen, Canada was certainly
opposed, and while opinion in Washington favoured absorption, the
climate wasn’t hot enough to command action. William Evarts,
Hayes’ secretary of state and formerly counsel for the United States on
the Treaty of Washington, was surprisingly lukewarm.

The Hayes presidency was otherwise uneventful from a Canadian
point of view, but when he stepped aside in 1880, Macdonald had
high cause for concern. James Garfield became president and his
secretary of state, James G. Blaine, was an American whose appetite
for the continent was more voracious than most. But Macdonald did
not have to worry for long. As Garfield and Blaine stood in the
Washington railway station just four months after inauguration, a
member of the Stalwarts, the conservative wing of the Republican
party, shouted, “I am a Stalwart and now Arthur is President.” He
fired two shots, one grazing Garfield’s arm, the other burying in his
back. Garfield died four months later and then Vice President Arthur
was president and Blaine no longer the secretary of state.

Chester Arthur, the Vermont-born lawyer who disappointed many
of his followers by refusing to ladle out patronage in conveyor-belt
fashion, distinguished himself in Canadian annals by bringing back
the fish war. Following Brown’s unsuccessful venture, an international
commission meeting in Halifax set a price of $5,500,000 for American
use of the Atlantic fisheries over a twelve-year period. Even though
Ottawa had vehemently opposed the idea of a cash settlement, the
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Halifax outcome was viewed as somewhat of a victory. “The first
Canadian diplomatic triumph,” Prime Minister Mackenzie called it.
“It will justify me in insisting that we know our neighbours and our
own business better than any Englishman.” The high price disgusted
oflicial Washington and Hayes and Evarts came close to demanding a
new hearing.

Bitterness built in the ensuing years, and complaints arose against
not only the exorbitant price tag, but also the part of the treaty
allowing the free entry of Canadian fish. At the close of his term,
President Arthur, supporting a move in Congress, reneged on the
Washington Treaty. Washington had abrogated the treaty of 1854
and won a new deal in 1871. Now it was abrogating the treaty of 1871
and demanding another new deal. “Mr. Arthur is now engaged in the
amiable work of embarrassing his successor,” Macdonald wrote with
prescience on Christmas Day in 1884. Observing closely, as he always
did, the American political scene, the prime minister feared even
worse problems, With Arthur stepping down, he witnessed the nomi-
nation by the Republicans of his number one foe. “I am awfully
disappointed at Blaine’s nomination. If he is elected we may look out
for continental trouble. ... His nomination however will disgust the
respectable Republicans and if the Democratic Convention shortly to
be held has the sense to nominate a candidate of high character. .. he
would have a very fair chance of election.” To the delight of Mac-
donald, the Democrats nominated Grover Cleveland of Buffalo, and
in a general election, which may have saved Macdonald’s Dominion
[rom an annexation bid, Cleveland defeated Blaine.

But the corpulent Cleveland, who won despite the scandalous
campaign revelation that he had sired a bastard child, was not the
president that Macdonald hoped he would be. The exigencies of
politics, so powerful a force in the unravelling of the affairs of the
continent, played tricks with the good will of this dedicated and
diligent chief executive, pushing him to levels of belligerence that
had Canadians on the verge of taking up arms.

The latest American treaty abrogation again remitted fisheries
jurisdiction to the treaty of 1818, meaning that Americans could only
enter inshore waters for non-fishing purposes and required licences to
do even that. Provoked by Washington’s latest breach of faith, Mac-
donald had American boats seized for the most trivial of infractions.
When the David [f. Adams was taken, the ensuing uproar in the New
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England states prompted the Cleveland administration to lodge a
complaint in London that Canada did not have the right to enforce
the articles of a U.S. treaty made originally with Great Britain. An
indignant Canadian Parliament responded by passing a fisheries bill
with clauses almost identical to the pact of 1818, Seizures continued at
an evocative pace. At a Prince Edward Island port, an unlicenced
American boat docked and its crew purchased potatoes. Canadian
authorities boarded the boat, seized the potatoes, and, hearing that
the captain had eaten some, administered an emetic to him, and
disembarked with his emissions. They were making sure that even the
eaten spuds didn’t make it out of port.

With pressure from the White House and London, Macdonald sent
Finance minister Charles Tupper to the U.S. capital for consultations.
“Well Sir Charles,” said Secretary of State Thomas Bayard to the
surprised visitor, “‘the Confederation of Canada and the construction
of the Canadian Pacific Railway have brought us face to face with a
nation and we may as well discuss public questions from that point of
view.” It was not the point of view that the Dominion’s diplomats
were used to hearing. But Cleveland, who worked late nights studying
the history of the fisheries problem, and the gracious Bayard were
alarmed by the trend in bilateral relations and wanted a settlement.

“A full and clear survey of the situation,” Bayard said in a letter to
businessmen, “causes me to recognize that a crisis in the affairs of this
continent is probably at hand. The nature of the policies now to be
determined upon in our relations with the Dominion of Canada is
most important to the welfare of this and succeeding generations.”

To Tupper, Bayard wrote with equal apprehension: “The gravity
of the present affairs between our two countries demands entire
frankness. I feel we stand at the parting of the ways. In one direction I
can see a well assured, steady, healthful relationship, devoid of petty
jealousies, and filled with the fruits of a prosperity arising out of a
friendship cemented by mutual interests. ... On the other a career of
embittered rivalry, staining our long frontier with the hues of hostility,
in which victory means the destruction of an adjacent prosperity
without gain to the prevalent party. A mutual, physical and moral
deterioration which ought to be abhorrent to patriots on both
sides.”?

The Democrat Cleveland had broken a run of six straight Republi-
can presidents, but the Senate, which must ratify all treaties, was still
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dominated by Republicans, and they didn’t want consultation with
Canada. They wanted retaliation. “Whenever the American flag on
an American fishing smack is touched by a foreigner,” cried con-
gressman Henry Cabot Lodge in reacting to a flag-burning episode in
the disputed zones, ‘‘the American heart is touched.” The Congress
passed legislation in February 1877 authorizing the president to
exclude Canadian vessels from U.S. waters and stop the importation
of Canadian fish. Cleveland signed it, but had no intention of putting
it into effect. He regarded the bill as a product of the regional interests
of New England and if any action was to be taken, he said, it would
have to be in the national interest.

Finally, with an interim arrangement in force to keep the maritime
waters calm, yet another joint high commission was appointed to look
at the fisheries and other trade matters. Each side named three
commissioners, and as was the case in 1871, the Canadian side
consisted of mainly non-Canadians. Queen Victoria selected the
distinguished Joseph Chamberlain, and the undistinguished Sir Lionel
Sackville-West, the British ambassador in Washington. Bayard de-
scribed him as a “‘postage stamp.” His only vocal contribution in
three months of hearings was to ask that a certain window be closed.
Tupper was the sole Canadian representative, but was nevertheless
able to exercise a steering influence over the commission. His presence
led Bayard to complain that the control of the negotiations had been
yielded to a man who subjected all questions to “the demands of
Canadian politics.”

But in keeping with what was becoming a familiar pattern, the
Yankees frustrated and infuriated the Dominion side. Having origi-
nally agreed that the commission would deal with the entire question
of commercial relations, Bayard announced, on the first day, that
negotiations would be limited to the fisheries. Then, having conceded
that the Americans were only interested in finding a better arrange-
ment for buying supplies in Canadian ports, and after moving to
within a notch of a final agreement on that basis, Bayard suddenly
declared that the United States now wanted fishing privileges. Cana-
dian Justice Minister John Thompson, a future prime minister who
was assisting Tupper, was prompted to write home: “These yankee
politicians are the lowest race of thieves in existence. ... Nothing will
come of our mission but the board bills.”” Chamberlain, the host of
spectacular dinner parties during the hearings, exploded, calling the
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American side “a bunch of dishonest tricksters,” Prime Minister
Macdonald had warned Tupper that “there is no fajr dealing to be
expected from them.” Now he wrote: “T think the Americans are
bargaining like costermongers.”’

With some sessions so ill-tempered that commissioners asked their
contents to be struck from the official record, an agreement, which
excited neither side, was reached. The Canadian government would
have full jurisdiction over most estuaries and bays. American boats
were given free navigation of the Strait of Canso and their fishermen
guaranteed the right to purchase supplies on homeward voyages. A
further mixed commission would decide details,

But a presidential election was nearing. The Republican Senate
could not let a Democratic president head into the campaign taking
credit for settling such an important, bitter dispute. The GOP solu-
tion? Label it a pro-Canadian, pro-British agreement signed by a
pro-Canadian, pro-British president. Sell the citizenry on the idea
that its government had been out-negotiated by the Canucks, Reject
the treaty.

The plan was carried out. Posters were put up: “Cleveland runs
wellin England.” The Senate defeated the treaty by a vote of thirty to
twenty-seven. Ottawa was dealt yet another blow by the United
States.

But the story was far from complete. The loss of the just-negotiated
treaty was minor compared to what happened next. Neither the
Canadian prime minister nor the Republican party had calculated
the political animal in the person of Grover Cleveland. Comparatively
speaking, the president had been rather favourably disposed to the
north country. There was little, if any, absorption sentiment in the
man. He had not overreacted to the boat seizures by Macdonald. He
had shown a keen interest in understanding the complexities of
bilateral relations and the feelings of Canadians, Only Franklin
Roosevelt would be more interested, and only Jimmy Carter would
know more details. There was 10 expectation that now, at the end of
his first term, a president with the integrity of Cleveland would resort
to shock treatment.

But at four o’clock on August 23, 1888, two days after the Senate
rejected the treaty, a message from President Cleveland was read in
Congress. A reporter from the New York Times was there. “The
Republicans sat stupefied,” he would write, “Lightning would not
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have stunned them more completely.” James G. Blaine was there. :.H
must say,” he would assert, “that considering all circumstances it is
the most extraordinary document that ever was sent from the White
House to the Capitol.”

“Our citizens engaged in fishing enterprises in waters adjacent to
Canada have been subjected to numerous vexatious interferences and
annoyances,” Cleveland’s message said. “Their vessels have been
seized upon the pretexts which appeared to be entirely m:waammmmv_n
and they have otherwise been treated by the Canadian authorities
and officials in a manner inexcusably harsh and oppressive, . ..”

Then to the heart of his proclamation —an embargo of Canada. I
recommend immediate legislative action conferring upon the Execu-
tive the power to suspend by proclamation the operation of all _mdzm
and regulations permitting the transit of goods, wares and merchandise
in bond across or over the territory of the United States to and from
Canada.

“Iam not unmindful of the gravity of the responsibility assumed in
adopting the line of conduct nor do I fail in the least to mtﬁﬂmnmmﬁn. its
serious consequences. It will be impossible to injure our Canadian
neighbours by retaliatory measures without inflicting some damage
upon our own citizens,”’ -

The question was, why now? Why so late? The answer was politics.
“It looks,” said Republican senator F assett, “‘rather late in the day for
President Cleveland to pose as an aggressive American. I am afraid
that some people will be mean enough to say that he does it ﬁou, purely
campaign purposes.” A New York paper said the Huwnmﬂazﬂ has
recommended ‘“‘a course of action which, in his own conscience, he
must regard as utterly barbarous.” .

Reporters caught up to Prime Minister Macdonald in Sydney,
Nova Scotia. “It seems to me that the American people would look
better in the eyes of the world if instead of retaliating they should
make laws for the good of their country,” hesaid. The recommended
embargo, he said, “illustrates to my mind more forcibly than ever

before the wonderful and monstrous pitfalls which American politics
will load a man into. It is nothing more or less than an exigency arising
from... the peculiar conditions of the two political parties.”

Days later he asserted that Canadians need not worry for they are
“as independent as any people under the sun.” While Oc:m,_,wmm
deliberates “we can afford to wait in calm, dignity and self respect for




I s i pr ESIDENTS AND THE PRIME MINISTERS

the action of our neighbours. If they shut the doors we can remain
outside. If they keep them open we can remain as at present,”

The rest of the country and the rest of Macdonald’s cabinet were
hot. In Nicolet, Quebec on September 5, 1888, Adolph Caron, federal
minister of the mulitia, fired the passions of the French Canadians,
“They [Americans] are jealous and envious of our great progress and
transcontinental railroads, We are the fifth maritime power in the
world and in the event of trouble, the fishermen of the Gulf of St.
Lawrence would in the moment of danger rush as one man to the
defense of our rights. We do not want to fight with our neighbours or
with anyone else,” he sajd, “But would we sacrifice our rights for the
sake of peace?” The audience was worked up. “No!” they screamed,
“No! Never!”

“No,” said Caron. “ know you too well to think such a thing.”

The Washington Poy, which was not to deem Canada important
enough toset up a bureau in the country, had a reporter in Nicolet for
this occasion, “Sjr Adolph was very excited during the speech and the
Frenchmen waved their hats and cheered untj] they were hoarse over
the patriotic sentiments uttered,” he wrote,

He was amused by the Quebeckers, Tt isactually the impression in
this part of Quebec among the ignorant French Canadians that the

United States and Canada are on the brink ofa bloody war and that

Americans greeted any prospect of war with Canada with a com-
bination of ridicule and scorn. When Macdonald himself began
sounding belligerent, a Baltimore paperreported that “he looked and
talked fight.” Byt “Sjr John need not trouble himself to fight any
battles before war s declared nor to violate the requirements of

whip her into the Gulf of St. Lawrence and send her blubbering for
help to the home government.”

The Brooklyn Citizen was insulting: “In the Dominion there s
gnashing of teeth and abusive language. If the Canucks had the
power, as they have the inclination, they would forthwith send an
army over the border and whip us into subjection without delay,
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Luckily for the peace of the American continent the Canadians
suchsmall fry in cvery way that their wild talk meets with no response
from this side and only excites ridicule and disgust in Great Britain. | ;
England is in no mood for getting into a quarrel with this country on
the account of such an obstreperous and ungrateful child as the
21-year-old Dominion has proven to be.”

But the American attitude was perhaps best displayed in a
Washington Post editorial on the crisis: “We believe that the United
States and Canada will eventually become one country and this heljef
grows out of the necessities of the situation. The Canadians are (oo
intelligent and too much addicted to the habit of looking out for their
own interests to continue much longer denying themselves the man ifest
and substantial advantages that would result from Union. They need
the change much more than we do.”

Cleveland’s em bargo Canada bill passed the House of Representa-
tives on September 8, 1888 and went to the Senate for a vote on final
approval. The president had the Republican senators in a deep
quandary. Nominally, his bill had been aimed at Canada, but as
Macdonald wisely noted in a letter to Governor-General Lansdowne,
its real intent was to throw chaos into the Republican ranks, How
could the president be accused of cuddling Canada and Britain when
he was calling for such severe action? “Cleveland, I fancy,” said the
prime minister, “had ascertained that the Irish vote would carry New
York against him and $0, in desperation, took an extra twist at the tail
of the British lion.” Canada was being used purely for political encls,

are

against harsh action the likes of which they had been advocating,
T'hey could vote for it, but that would put them into the embarrassing
position of handing the president an election-eve victory on the
campaign’s most controversia| issue.

The least damaging course, the Grand Old Party decided, was

would suffer just as much by the Cleveland measure as the Canadian,
Detroit businessmen were bitterly complaining that they would face
financial hardship. Buffalo was worried about the effect on import
trade. New England railways carrying Canadian freight were raising
astorm. Thus, the Republicans voted down the measure and Clana-
X,

dians, particularly the Quebeckers, were able to re
But John A, Macdonald, now in his seventy-fourth year, could not,
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Running under the Republican banner against Cleveland was the
dour Benjamin Harrison. Harrison was a strong admirer of James G.
Blaine. If Harrison won, Blaine would be secretary of state and this,
said Macdonald, “means continual discomfort for Canada not only
tor four years but Blaine will work steadily for the Presidentship for the
following term and will therefore throw himself into the arms of the
Irish Americans.”

Cleveland’s campaign looked promising in the early weeks. His
embargo bill had stripped strength from the Republican effort to
portray him as London’s lackey. But none other than the nonentity
named Sackville-West ignited the issue again, sending the Cleveland
campaign tumbling. The British ambassador was victimized by the
dirty tricks of an early-day replica of Richard Nixon’s Donald Segretti.
A Republican agent, masquerading as a naturalized Englishman
named Murchison, wrote a letter to Sackville-West asking advice on
how he should vote. When the ambassador wrote back saying that
Cleveland still had the most favourable leanings to Britain and Can-
ada, so vote for him, it was all the Republicans needed. They gleefully
disseminated copies of the letter all over the country and particularly
in New York where the heavy Irish vote would be crucial, The letter
became a campaign sensation. Cleveland had Sackville-West dis-
missed with what a supporter termed “his biggest boot of best leather.”
But the situation wasn’t saved. Harrison, with the help of Republican
vote-buying, lost the popular vote by 96,000 but won the election in
the electoral college, his win in New York deciding the outcome.

The likeable, hard-working Cleveland, a man so overweight that
when he tried to stand up his head would tilt, 2 man whose last living
words were, “I have tried so hard to do right,” lumbered sadly from
the centre stage, a victim of cruel circumstance. On entering office he
had been determined to avoid foreign squabbles but the ramifications
of the one and only such issue he was dragged in on had sealed his
demise. But those who felt there was no justice would feel better in a
few years. Cleveland would be back.

Benjamin Harrison, never burdened by a surfeit of charisma, was
described by a young fellow Republican named Teddy Roosevelt as
"“a cold-blooded, narrow minded, obstinate, timid old psalm-singing
politician.” A humourless fifty-five-year-old lawyer from Indiana, he
was embroiled in instant controversy when a story hit the American
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newspapers suggesting an all-too familiar theme to Canadian eyes—he
wanted to take the country over. The story was based on statements
Harrison made during the campaign and it led many scribes to his
doorstep for reaction. “Well, you know, I have nothing to say upon
matters of that sort. As yet I have not had time to give consideration to
the Canadian question.” But he denied suggesting annexation during
the campaign: “I did, I believe, invade Canadian waters when I was
at Middle Bass this summer and capture a few fish. But that is about as
far as I have gone.”

His disposition toward Cianada was about as miserable as that of
any of the presidents and Macdonald had been right in thinking that
his secretary of state would be Blaine. Had the prime minister seen a
memo lying around the State Department, he would have been even
more distressed. The major tenet of foreign policy, the unsigned
memorandum declared, was ““to unite the continent, secure its inde-
pendence and prevent the northern part of it from being turned into
an outpost of European reaction.” It added that union “would
exclude war from the continent” and solve questions which, with an
independent Canada, would be open to “an endless vista of dispute.”
I'he recommended strategy? “Union is likely to be promoted by
cverything which asserts the commercial autonomy of the continent
and helps to make Canada feel that to enjoy her full measure of
prosperity she must be economically a community of this hemisphere,
not an outlying dependency of a European power.”*

[nitially, however, the Harrison administration went the opposite
route. One of Harrison’s top priorities being to appease the big
business community, he brought in the highest tariff at that time in
L1.5. history. Sponsored by a future president, William McKinley, the
legislation increased duties on imports so steeply that products from
many foreign countries, including Canada, were effectively barred.
Hit hardest were the Dominion’s agricultural products, and coming
as it did when the Canadian economy was already depressed, the
tarifl' struck worry in Macdonald that the long reign of his Conserva-
live government was over. In Canada, whose population was five
million compared tosixty million in the United States, there were four
lactions: those favouring closer ties to Britain, those favouring the
status quo, those favouring commercial reciprocity with the United
States and, prompted by the plummeting condition of the Canadian
cconomy, an increasing number favouring annexation. The prime
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minister thought the tariff was designed to starve Canada into union.
“Sir Charles Tupper will tell you that every American statesman
covets Canada,” he wrote George Stephen, president of the Canadian
Pacific Railway. “The greed for its acquisition is on the increase, and
God knows where it will all end.”” The British ties still strong in him,
the opposition Liberals gathering around a free-trade plank, Mac-
donald said: “We must face the fight at our next election and it is only
the conviction that the battle will be better fought under my guidance
than under another’s that makes me undertake the task, handicapped
as I am, with the infirmities of old age.”

He had a fear, the same fear which was to grip John Diefenbaker,
who would also run a campaign against the Americans, and whose
idol was Macdonald. “Ifleft to ourselves,” Macdonald wrote, “I have
no doubt of a decision in our favour, but I have serious apprehensions,
which are shared by our friends here, that a large amount of Yankee
money will be expended to corrupt our people.”

Liberals, led by the elegant Wilfrid Laurier, had been holding
meetings with Blaine and other American officials to find support for
their unrestricted reciprocity plank. At the same time they were
careful to emphasize that the closer commercial ties would not lead to
annexation. As the 1891 campaign neared, Macdonald, anxious to
have the electorate know that he was trying to do something about the
McKinley tarifl, leaked word that the Americans were willing to
undertake formal negotiations, which would be aimed at Macdonald’s
goal of reduced tariffs on natural goods only —a moderate proposal
compared to the Liberals. But Washington had not agreed to formal
negotiations, preferring only informal introductory talks, and Blaine,
anxious to help the Liberals, stung Macdonald with a vigourous
denial of Ottawa’s statements. “We have burned our boats,” Mac-
donald said of the embarrassment, ““and must now fight for our lives.”
Fight he did, as much against Washington as against the Liberals,
because in this election, as they would be in the 1968 election involving
Diefenbaker, they were both the enemy of the Conservative party.

Despite some American funding for the Grits, despite the attractive
Laurier, despite the unhappy state of the Canadian economy, Mac-
donald won again. There was no mystery to the victory: “We worked
the loyalty cry for all it was worth and it carried the country.” But it
couldn’t have come any later: “The effect of the McKinley tariff is so
disastrous,”” said Macdonald, “that if our election had been postponed

LR

until another harvest, we would have been swept out of existence,
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The Conservative win distressed Blaine and Harrison because it
removed all hopes of free trade and eventual annexation. The
Ottawa-Washington relationship fell predictably into sustained acri-
mony, with President Harrison the lead player. When Ottawa’s
request for trade negotiations was finally granted, a team of Canadian
negotiators boarded their train, steamed across the border, only to be
informed shortly before they got to Washington that Harrison had
changed his mind. Come back a few months later, the negotiators
were told. A few months later they prepared to board a train again.
But again, President Harrison made a last-minute cancellation.
Finally even the antagonistic Mr. Blaine got to feeling bad about the
situation and told the president that yet another postponement would
be “considered a dodge if not a cheat and will injure us with our own
people.” In February of 1892, the negotiations were at last opened
and then quickly closed. Ottawa wouldn’t move from its demand for
a limited reciprocity agreement like the one of 1854. Washington
wouldn’t move from its demand for a full one.

“Gentlemen,” said Secretary of State Blaine, “there is only one
satisfactory solution of this question. It is to let down the bars.” After
adjournment, President Harrison made a pointed summation to
Congress. Every “thoughtful American” would agree, he said, that in
a deal involving natural products only, benefits “‘would have inured
almost wholly to Canada....It is not for this government to argue
against this announcement of Canadian official opinion. It must be
accepted however, I think, as the statement of a condition which
places an insuperable barrier in the way... of reciprocal trade which
might otherwise be developed between the United States and the
Dominion.”

Harrison’s adversarial attitude was mirrored in his treatment of
(Canada on the Bering Sea dispute. Americans slaughtered seals for
pelts on the Pribilof Islands in the Bering. Canadian and British
fishermen slaughtered them at sea before they got to the islands. In a
move devoid of legal sustenance, the president made a declaration
tantamount to declaring the Bering Sea closed to Canadian boats.
When a commission was appointed to look into the issue, a dispute
which would drag into the twentieth century, Harrison and Blaine
jettisoned the by then established practice of allowing Canadians on
the British negotiating team. Only a technical adviser from the
Dominion was permitted.

By 1892 when Harrison was on his way to electoral defeat, and
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when Macdonald had finally been summoned by death’s knell,
twenty-five years had passed since Canadian Confederation and the
relationship of the neighbours and of their leaders had moved from
square one to nowhere. The grating fisheries and trade disputes still
remained, the American annexationist sentiment still remained, the
hostility among the leading personages still remained and through it
all, the frustrations not only remained but had grown. And they were
about to grow more.

CHAPTER FOUR

“I'm going to be ugly”:
Tempestuous Teddy
and Wilfrid Laurier

“WHENEVER CANADA RAISES a bristle, Theodore Roosevelt roars
like a Texas steer and romps around the ring screaming for instant war
and ordering a million men to arms.”

As the distinguished historian Henry Adams chose to note, Teddy
Roosevelt and Canada were not intimate. The burly president, who
fought bears in his spare moments, was sometimes driven to expend
cqual energies on his northern neighbour. The youngest of presidents,
the most dynamic, the most colourful, the most prolific man to occupy
the Oval Office, he bore no indigenous malice to Canada. But his
convictions about his own country’s greatness and his own greatness
were so overpowering that his thoughts transcended hunks of geog-
raphy as undistinguished as the Dominion. In the face of White House
wishes, Canada, in Roosevelt’s view, was not supposed to have knees,

Wilfrid Laurier, the Liberal prime minister who broke the Tory
string in 1896, had a different view. Tall, graceful, white-gloved, he
was more than just the physical opposite of the robust president. He
was as fiercely Canadian as Roosevelt was fiercely American. In 1899
he visited President William McKinley, Roosevelt’s predecessor, in
Chicago and delivered a speech entirely in French. Dumbfounded
Americans interrupted, demanding to know what he was doing,
Pointedly, Laurier told them a little story. He had spoken to a ULS.
Supreme Court justice recently, he said, and the judge told him about
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how superior the American system was to that of the Canadian and
the British. Is it not one of the supposedly prime tenets of this
supposedly superior American system, Laurier asked, that “freedom
of speech prevails?” He would be speaking in English the next day if
the man cared to come then, he said. To the lusty cheers of many in the
audience who were his countrymen, he continued en frangais.!

The fervent patriotism of Wilfrid Laurier would crash into the
same in Teddy Roosevelt. The consequence for the continent was one
of the most bitter disputes in bilateral history. When gold was dis-
covered in Alaska at the turn of the century, a long simmering
wrangle over the location of the Canada-United States boundary
exploded. Tt was decided that an international tribunal would fix the
location of the line. But Roosevelt, outraged that his claim was
contested in the first place, rigged the commission in his favour and
Just in case the decision didn’t go exactly his way even while rigged, he
had troops put in place to establish the American version of the line.
The protests of Canadians were raucous, but futile at the time. But a
few years later, in 1911, Canadians would be provided with an
opportunity to register their views on the treatment by Presidents
Grant, Harrison, Roosevelt, and the others in a more meaningful
form. In that election year, Canadians would be asked how close a
relationship they wanted with the United States.

The Alaska uproar may never have happened had Laurier taken a
more flexible, less political approach in 1898 negotiations with the
McKinley administration. An opportunity, a magnificent oppor-
tunity, existed then to clean the slate of all bilateral disputes by way of
One super commission.

Following Harrison’s 1892 defeat, which most Canadians wel-
comed, a relative calm enveloped affairs between the two countries
until Laurier’s 1896 triumph. Four successor Tory prime ministers to
Macdonald—John Abbott, John Thompson (who had signed an
annexation manifesto in Montreal in 1849), Mackenzie Bowell and
Charles Tupper —shuflled in and out of office so quickly that sustained
policy initiatives were rare. In Washington, Grover Cleveland was
back in office and, given his previous experience, was reluctant to get
involved in Canadian questions. Laurier, whose country was entering
an economic boom period, was prepared to make an effort to overcome
the differences. Soon after the Republican McKinley took office, the
prime minister visited him, sparking widespread excitement in the
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American press. At last there was a different political party in power
in Ottawa, the reports said. A bargain could perhaps be struck
drawing Canada away from Britain first commercially, and eventually
politically.

McKinley and his cabinet secretaries led Laurier into the White
House Blue Room. There, Laurier proposed the idea of an omnibus
commission to settle every outstanding dispute. The president and his
men agreed it was time to forge a better continental climate. They
would gladly consider the idea.

The new prime minister was a hit. “Sir Wilfrid Laurier,” a top U.S.
official told the press, ‘‘has not only been received by the Government
with great consideration but has made an excellent impression upon
all the gentlemen with whom he has come in contact. As a staunch
Canadian statesman he naturally demands concession for concession.
At the same time he has shown a liberal spirit toward the plan of
increasing the commercial intercourse of the two countries and if he
meets the views of the United States halfway there is a very fair chance
of removing from the present field of view the most important questions
which have produced so much irritation between the countries.”?

After some weeks McKinley agreed to a twelve-member commis-
sion in which the Dominion side would actually have Canadian
representatives. Five of the six would be from the Dominion and, in
another striking departure from the norm, one of the sessions would be
held in neither Britain nor the U.S. but in Quebec City. Strangely,
however, having pushed for the commission and having won favour-
able terms, Laurier, who headed up the Canadian team, was decidedly
pessimistic. “I confess,” he wrote a friend as the hearings opened on
August 23, 1898, ‘‘that I have very serious doubts as to any practical
results.” It may have been because he didn’t really want results. “If
my judgment is worth anything to you,”” Clifford Sifton, his outstand-
ing cabinet minister wrote him, “I feel that I ought to say it would be a
frightful mistake for us to make any concessions to the United States in
the proposed treaty for which we do not get ample returns. ... I think it
would be a serious blow to your popularity in the country and to the
great confidence with which the people look to your control of the
affairs of Government if any weakness were shown in this matter.”

The commission came to swift agreement on many of the more
minor issues: alien labour laws; control of inland fisheries; the bound-
ary west of Lake Superior; conveyance of prisoners; and use of naval
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vessels by Americans in the Great Lakes. The latter was a follow-up to
the Rush-Bagot agreement of 1817, which limited the number of ships
in the lakes, and has come to be regarded by students of defence as one
of the first meaningful disarmament agreements.

On tariffs Laurier suddenly turned away from his earlier {ree-trade
policies and, to the disappointment of the Americans, went the John
A. Macdonald national policy route. He wanted reduced barriers in
some commodities, but a more economically prosperous Canada had
relieved the need for wholesale changes. Sifton strongly favoured
protection as did Canadian business. Laurier remembered that the
same William McKinley who now wanted free trade had, less than a
decade earlier, slapped a record tariff on Canadian goods.

But by linking one issue to another, it appeared that some overall
solution to trade, the fisheries, and the Bering Sea dispute was retriev-
able, until the two sides clashed on the Alaska boundary. In 1825 a
treaty between Great Britain and Russia had set the boundary line in
the largely unexplored area in a loosely defined way. When the
United States purchased Alaska from Russia in 1867 the ambiguous
boundary with Canada remained. The Dominion’s position was that
the line gave Ottawa possession of the heads of the inlets along the
jageged coastline and therefore control of the important access routes
to the Yukon River and the gold fields. Washington claimed that this
was nonsense and, to most observers, the bulk of the evidence seemed
to support its case. The intent of the Russians in 1825 was to have the
line exclude Britain from the navigable coastal waters. London argued
but eventually acquiesced, unaware of the significance the area would
come to have. In the 1888 negotiation with the Cleveland administra-
tion, the British-Canadian side put in a boundary claim which
Washington found excessive. Now in 1898, the Canadians were
putting forward an even larger demand, saying they should be entitled
to a portion of the strategic Lynn Canal.

Laurier realized the strength of the American position. “I think
myself that we should have the line drawn at the entrance of the Lynn
Canal, but on the other hand, the Americans are in possession of it
and as you know,”” he wrote to Governor-General Minto, “possession
is nine points of the law.” The Americans, he said, “have very many
qualities but what they have, they keep and what they have not, they
want.”

A compromise was almost reached. The United States would have
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sovereignty over the Lynn Canal and Canada would be granted the
use of an important harbour in it. But before the papers could be
signed, details were leaked to the American press. On publication an
uproar ensued, three states threatened to secede, and McKinley had
little choice but to withdraw U.S. support for the proposal.

The commission had now moved to Washington where, like Mac-
donald, Prime Minister Laurier spent two and a half months out of his
country, leaving colleagues in extended control. When no agreement
seemed forthcoming on the boundary, it was decided that the best
alternative would be to send the dispute to international arbitration.
But this idea was scuttled when the Canadians would not agree to the
proposed make-up of an arbitration body. The prime minister, feeling
the Alaska issue to be paramount, then greatly annoyed McKinley by
withdrawing all Canadian settlement proposals on the other issues. In
cifect, he was declaring the commission dead.

To Laurier, as he explained in a letter to Ontario Premier Hardy,
there was “‘a question of dignity involved which must make it incum-
bent upon us to refuse to negotiate on anything else and this we will
unless they give way [on Alaska].” The prime minister was fast joining
the ranks of what was already becoming a Canadian tradition—
heady, stubborn negotiators, On Alaska, he said, “‘the Americans are
certainly in the wrong and I am not to be either bulldozed or
bamboozled by them.”

But it is far easier for a leader to be tough when playing to the
politics of his home folk and Laurier’s dealings with the McKinley
administration were not without their political overhang. The prime
minister was getting a lot of advice from the home front. Much of it
was similar to this unabashed recommendation he received in a letter
Irom the Ontario minister of Education, G. W. Ross:

““Nothing would please our people more than to be able to say that
Sir Wilfrid Laurier and his colleagues contended with the Americans
lor four or five months for a fair treaty with Canada, and being unable
o make such a treaty, they were content to trust the future of Canada
to the self-reliance of its own people.”

The possibility that Laurier could go home with nothing and still
he a hero was not lost on the Americans. John Hay, former personal
nide to Abraham Lincoln, was secretary of state to McKinley and
would remain so for another four years with Teddy Roosevelt. He was
[resh Irom orchestrating a U.S. victory in the Spanish-American war,
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a contflict which he dubbed “a splendid little war.”” He was quick to
size up Laurier and other Dominion politicians.

“Their minds,” Hay wrote, “are completely occupied with their
own party and factional disputes and Sir Wilfrid Laurier is far more
afraid of Sir Charles Tupper than he is of Lord Salisbury and McKin-
ley combined.” The failure of the commission was because “they
preferred to stand before the Canadian Parliament in the attitude of
stout defenders of Canadian rights and interests, rather than assigners
ofa treaty which would not meet the views of their advanced support-
ers.” Hay, as indicated by several personal letters he wrote, was bitter,
and his bitterness would be slow to leave him.

In Canada meanwhile, the advice of G. W. Ross was proving to be
well-founded. With this failed commission, Canadians were not com-
plaining. Their “dislike of the Yankees” was understandable, thought
the Earl of Minto, the new governor-general. “What the Canadian
sees and hears is constant Yankee bluffand swaggery and that eventu-
ally he means to possess Canada for himself.”

“Personally,” Laurier told Minto after the commission hearings, “I
like the Americans.” But, “I would like them much more if they were
not so intensely selfish and grasping.”

The prime minister’s visit to Chicago to see McKinley in 1899
came only seven months following the conclusion of the commission
and it was apparent from the treatment McKinley accorded him that
relations were cold. In celebrations marking Chicago Day —the order
of parade carriages, the order of speeches, time with the president —
Laurier was low priority, below that of Mexico’s second in command,
Vice President Don Ignacio Mariscal.

The prime minister had done little to ingratiate himself with
McKinley with his intransigence in the recently concluded negotia-
tions. On arrival in Illinois, Laurier compounded his difficulties by
doing something that presidents and prime ministers never did —he
made a partisan political comment on the other country’s elections.
Asked by reporters what he thought about William Jennings Bryan,
McKinley’s major Democratic party challenger, Laurier gave an
honest reply, the second half of which did not amuse the McKinley
White House. “Bryan’s speech at the Chicago convention in 1896 was
sophomoric,” he said. “Since that time he has redeemed himself. I
believe him to be a thinker and a philosopher.”

Continuing his unrestrained behaviour, Laurier then made his
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all-French speech. Moving, as promised, to English the next day,
Laurier called on hoth nations to desist from unrelenting partisanship.
With the president and the Mexican looking on, Laurier was scraping
in candour, conciliatory in tone, and by all accounts “electrifying.”

“Mr. President,” he began, “on the part of Canada and on the part
of the United States, we are sometimes too prone to stand by the full
conceptions of our rights and to exact all our rights to the last pound
of flesh.”

On introduction, Laurier had been embarrassed by the glow of the
reception. The American master of ceremonies had called him “one
of ours.” But the prime minister was buoyed. “Shall I speak my
mind?” he cried. “Yes, yes,” the large crowd yelled. He continued:
“May I be permitted to say here and now that we do not desire one
inch of your land. But if T state however that we want to hold our own
land, will that be an American sentiment, I want to know? I am here
to say above all my fellow countrymen, that we want not to stand
upon the extreme limits of our rights. We are ready to give and take.
We can afford to be just. We can afford to be generous, because we are
strong.”

Relations, he said, were “not as good, as brotherly, as satisfactory as
they ought to be. We are of the same stock. We spring from the same
races on one side of the line as on the other. We speak the same
language, we have the same literature and for more than a thousand
years we have a common history. ... When we go down to the bottom
of our hearts we will find that there is between us a true, genuine
friendship.”*

There had been a few talks to small groups but the Laurier speech
was the first formal address by a prime minister on bilateral relations
in the United States. Its conciliatory tone was noteworthy because
LLaurier had recently been savaged by the State Department in a way
which would make the Kennedy State Department’s criticism of John
Diefenbaker on nuclear policy pale by comparison.

On Saturday, July 22, 1899, Laurier had told the House of Com-
mons that if compromise failed, only two ways were available to settle
the Alaska boundary dispute. “One would be by arbitration, the
other would be by war. I am sure no one would think of war.” Taken
out of context, reports in American papers made the statement sound
like Laurier was threatening war. On Monday the State Department
issued this blast: “Canada has acted badly.... It looks as if the Cana-
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dian premier actually prefers no settlement, even to the extent of a
modus vivendi. Sir Wilfrid Laurier seems to be playing Dominion
politics through these negotiations. Whenever the United States and
the British Government have been at the point of making terms, the
Canadian leader has upset the arrangement by some new condition.
He has been so [ertile and so fickle in his opposition to proposed terms
of a modus, the conclusion is at last forced that he sees more for his
partisan purposes in disagreement than in settlement. This Govern-
ment will now let the matter rest and give Sir Wilfrid a period of
uncertainty in which to play his Canadian politics. The remark of the
Premier at Ottawa that the alternatives were arbitration or war need
excite no uneasiness. It is a part of his local political program.”

This abnormally undiplomatic and vivid swipe was only a sample
of what the prime minister was to face when Vice President Roosevelt
moved into the Oval Office following the assassination of McKinley in
September 1901 in Buffalo. Roosevelt possessed superior descriptive
powers and did not hesitate to use them. He once described Senator
William Peffer as a “well-meaning, pin-headed, anarchistic crank of
hirsute and slab-sided aspect.”” He harpooned a New York Supreme
Court justice as an “amiable old fuzzy-wuzzy with sweetbread brains.”
Maurice Low, a reporter for the London Morning Post was ““a circum-
cised skunk.”

On the Alaska issue Roosevelt’s posture was encapsulated in a
comment to a British embassy official: “I'm going to be ugly.” The
new President, only forty-three, was irked by many aspects of the
Dominion, beginning with the fact that it existed. He was disappointed
that previous presidents missed annexation opportunities and he still
clung to a fast-fading hope that the Phillipines, which the United
States had acquired in the Spanish-American war, could be traded to
Britain in exchange for Canada.

Roosevelt also felt that “the Canadians do not like the United
States.” He had been surprised by the gall of what he perceived to be a
war threat in the Laurier speech. In no way could he comprehend the
slightest case for Canada in the Alaska matter. He was as adamant on
Alaska as on any issue and with Roosevelt, adamant meant adamant.
Once the mind was made up, for Roosevelt, it was hunting time —and
on the hunt this extraordinary man was ferocious. “‘T had an interesting
and in a way eventful hunt, killing 12 cougars and 5 lynx,”” he wrote
Arthur Hamilton Lee in the year he became president. “Ishot 8 of the
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cougar with the rifle and killed 4 with the knife.” With that introduc-
tion he moved to the Alaska question. “I have studied that question
pretty thoroughly and I do not think the Canadians have a leg to
stand on. We might just as well claim part of Newfoundland as to
allow for one moment the Canadian claim.”

In the first year of his administration there was no movement on the
issue. The countries couldn’t decide on the make-up of a commission
and a pro tem arrangement for the boundary remained in force. But
as news from Alaska suggested there were large deposits of gold in the
region, the controversy took on a flaming edge. Laurier had feared all
along it would happen. With great prescience he had written to Sifton
in 1899 saying that he didn’t want to leave Washington without an
Alaska settlement. “The reason is obvious. There may be a discovery
of gold in that section at any moment and probably there will be.
Unless the boundary is settled here and now the most serious compli-
cations can arise.”

As the speculation mounted, George Smalley, a London newspaper
correspondent in Washington who sometimes acted as a go-between
for the administration and Ottawa, told Roosevelt that new-found
vold would likely trigger violence with the Canadians in the area.
“What shall we do then?”

“I know very well what I shall do,” the president replied. “I shall
send up the engineers to run our boundary line as we assert it and I
shall send troops to guard and hold it.”” But isn’t that “very drastic?”
said Smalley. Roosevelt regarded the journalist as “a copper-riveted
idiot.” He paused and exclaimed, “I mean it to be drastic.”

The vital question of the make-up of an international tribunal to
arbitrate the matter remained. In the summer, Laurier, who realized
the Canadian case was not terribly strong, agreed to three members
from each side. Previously he had objected, arguing that such an
arrangement would only end in deadlock. Meanwhile, Roosevelt was
vigorously opposed to the idea of any arbitration on the grounds that
it would be a tacit admission on his part that the Canadians had a case
in the first place. The only type of arbitration he was interested in was
arigged one. He wrote Secretary of State Hay, laying out the strategy:
“It is difficult for me to make up my mind to any kind of arbitration in
the matter. T will appoint three commissioners to meet three of their
commissioners, if they so desire; but I think I shall instruct our three
commissioners when appointed that they are in no case to yield any of
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our claims. I appreciate the bother of the matter and even the
possibility of trouble, although I think if we put a sufficient number of
troops up there the miners will be kept in check.”?

The fact that the Canadians had increased their claim in the area
from 1888 to 1898 annoyed him immensely: “In a spirit of bumptious
truculence. .. the Canadians put in this wholly false claim. They now
say that as they have got the false claim in, trouble may come if it is not
acted on. I feel a good deal like telling them that if trouble comes it will
be purely because of their own fault.” And although trouble “would
not be pleasant for us,” the President wrote, ““it would be death for
them.”

Months of polemic and a quick visit by Laurier to the White House
finally produced a treaty in 1903 providing for six “‘impartial jurists of
repute,” three to represent the United States, and three, Britain and
Canada. The rub was there: in the words “impartial jurists of repute.”
Roosevelt had no intention of honouring that phrase. One of his
appointments was Senator George Turner, a man so impartial that he
already had publicly condemned the Canadian position and had
taken an annexationist stance toward Canada. But in comparison to
the next appointment, Turner seemed a man without prejudice.
Henry Cabot Lodge was a very close friend of Roosevelt’s. He was an
annexationist. He was rabid in his opposition to Canada and England.
He had written on the Alaska question the following: “If we should
agree to arbitrate there is nothing to prevent Spain from setting up
similar claims in Florida, France in Louisiana or Great Britain on the
borders of New York.”

News of the selections rolled across the Canadian border like a
hailstorm. Laurier labelled them “an outrage.”

Jettisoning the established protocol of the day which still called for
him to deal through the British ambassador in Washington, Laurier
fired off a sharp rebuke to Secretary Hay: ... These gentlemen under
existing circumstances cannot with any fairness be styled ‘impartial
jurists.”... They could not approach the question with an open mind,
both having expressed their convictions that one side of the case is so
strong as to render almost facetious the mere presentation of the other
side.” For Ottawa to grant legislative approval to the make-up of such
a tribunal would be “humiliating.”

Hay responded that Roosevelt had unsuccessfully tried to get
Supreme Court justices for the tribunal. He didn't mention that the
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president knew they wouldn’t accept before extending the invitations.
He argued further that it was impossible to find people without an
opinion on the controversial subject. By impartial jurists of repute,
Hay said, “we take it to mean men learned in law of such character for
probity and honor that they will give an impartial verdict.”” At the
same time, however, the secretary of state was transmitting his real
feelings in a letter to Henry White: “Of course the presence of Lodge
on the tribunal is, from many points of view, regrettable and, as if the
devil were inspiring him, he took occasion last week to make a speech
in Boston, one half of it filled with abuse of Canadians.” Mr. Hay
added that ‘““the infirmity of his mind and his character is such that he
never sees but one subject at a time.... Of course you know his very
intimate relations with the President....He insisted upon his ap-
pointment on the tribunal.”

The appointments put the United States in a dim light overseas as
well as on the northern half of the continent. It seemed as though the
president, in the words of historian Tyler Dennett, was, throughout
the boundary affair, “delivered into the possession of his most evil
genii.” Laurier, pushed by the public outcry, scourged the appoint-
ments in the House of Commons, blasted London for tolerating them
and, in a move which prompted action by the president, argued
vociferously the Canadian case in the dispute, staking out the position
he hoped the Canadian commissioners would make in the hearings.

President Roosevelt was then prompted to issue personal instruc-
tions to the American side. “I write you now because according to
reports in the public press Sir Wilfrid Laurier, the Canadian Premier,
has recently in open Parliament made a speech. .. which is, in effect, a
mandate authoritatively and officially given by him to the two Cana-
dian members of the Tribunal.” Laurier, he said, was turning his
tribunal members into advocates instead of judges. Because this
hehaviour is “as far removed as possible from the judicial I feel that I
should briefly call your attention to my view of the question which you
have to decide.”

His instructions? “‘In the principle involved there will of course be
no compromise.” By “principle” Roosevelt meant boundary. “The
(uestion is not in my judgment one in which it is possible for a
moment to consider a reconciling of conflicting claims by mutual
concessions.”

While the Canadian protests raged on, the British government
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went ahead and, in what the London Saturday Review called a “pitiful
abandonment” of the Dominion, ratified the treaty establishing the
tribunal. Laurier said that the move was “nothing short of a slap in
the face.” It had the effect of galvanizing Canadian opinion against
Britain as it already was against the United States. Writing to Cana-
dian journalist J. W. Datfoe, Clifford Sifton said the Downing Street
decision represented “the most cold-blooded case of absolutely giving
away our interests.... My view in watching the diplomacy of Great
Britain as affecting Canada for six years is that it may just as well be
decided in advance that practically whatever the United States
demands from England will be conceded in the long run.”

A few months following the British ratification an impatient
Roosevelt perceived Canadian-inspired delays in the progress of the
arbitration. In a move which clearly disturbed his secretary of state he
then threatened to “bring the matter to the attention of Congress and
ask for an appropriation so that we may run the line [boundary]
ourselves.” At this even Hay, so bothered by Canadian diplomatic
behaviour during his tenure, thought the president was taking things
too far. In a strongly worded letter, he sought to cool Roosevelt down:

“Dear Theodore....I do not think they are acting in bad faith.
They are availing themselves of every possible pretext the treaty gives
them of demanding more time to patch up their deplorably weak
case.

“I do not think any threats are at this time advisable or needful. We
shall be as hard on them as is decent— perhaps rather more so.”

The Canadian tribunal consisted of Sir Louis Jetté and A. B.
Aylesworth, both prominent lawyers, and one British member, Lord
Alverstone, the chief justice of England. Henry Cabot Lodge, who
viewed Canadians as “a collection of bumptious provincials” and told
Roosevelt they were “perfectly stupid,” surveyed the situation and
warned the president that his only hope was Lord Alverstone. Roose-
velt, ignoring warnings from Hay that the case was sub judice, gave
directions to his tribunal members, and through the use of conduits
such as famed jurist Oliver Wendell Holmes, pressured the British
government, insisting that if a favourable decision was not reached, he
would use force in Alaska.

“I wonder if the jacks realize,”” he wrote Hay, “that while it may be
unpleasant to us, it will be far more unpleasant to them if they force
the alternative upon us: If we simply announce that the country is ours

“I'M GOING TO BE UGLY™:... « 63

and will remain so, and that so far as it has not been reduced to
possession, it will be reduced to possession, and that no further
negotiations in the matter will be entertained.”

The tribunal sat for seven weeks, the crucial question being whether
Lord Alverstone would side with the Americans. Otherwise there
would be a stalemate. In the corridors, Alverstone met with U.S.
representatives and let it be known that if they would yield on some
small points, giving the Dominion a couple of islands, he would go
their way. Roosevelt agreed, Alverstone voted with the Americans,
and the final decision gave Washington almost everything it wanted.

The verdict, which was reached in October 1903, gave Canada
only a non-strategic canal and two insignificant islands. It stunned
Jetté and Aylesworth because they had been led to believe that
Alverstone was with them on a number of important points. In 1871,
Prime Minister Macdonald had voiced his opposition while signing a
treaty with Washington. Now, Jetté and Aylesworth, with the support
of Laurier, would go a step further. Having gathered in the cabinet
room of the British Foreign Office, the tribunal members began
signing the papers. Lord Alverstone handed the documents to Jetté
and said, “Sign this, Sir Louis.” Jetté demanded, “What is it?”
Alverstone said it was the award. “You know I will not sign it,”” said
Jetté. Aylesworth, his partner, broke in: “I thought we made it plain
we would not sign.”

“Oh, I thought you would,” replied Alverstone. “And so did L,”
Senator Lodge added. With that the two Canadians withdrew from
the room, the necessary majority of four remaining to seal the deal. A
statement was then released by Jetté and Aylesworth: “We... have
been compelled to witness the sacrifice of the interests of Canada. We
were powerless to prevent it.”

At a ceremony at Buckingham Palace, the Canadians were pre-
sented by Alverstone to King Edward. The King made a strong effort
to get the two men to say they accepted the treaty but they would not
budge. They shook hands, bowed, and moved away.

In Ottawa, Laurier spelled out the results to the House of Commons,
placed a map open on his desk and, as members from all parties
gathered around him, sadly illustrated the line the boundary would
take.

Press reaction was scathing. “Led Like a Lamb to Slaughter,”
roared one Vancouver Daily Province headline. “The Line Which We



64 o THE PRESIDENTS AND THE PRIME MINISTERS

Have To Toe,” said another. The Toronto World cited Laurier’s desire
to settle the question on a give-and-take basis. “It has turned out that
way,” the paper said. ““The United States giving and Canada taking
it in the neck.” .

The Buffalo Evening News said the award demonstrated the craziness
of those thinking there could be a North American union. “Canada
detests this country most cordially and is now nearly wild with grief
and rage because our contentions have been upheld.” In London,
the Express headlined the story: ““The Great Surrender—Canadian
Interests Sacrificed.”

Laurier lashed out at the British as well as the Americans, saying
that the episode was a prime example of what made “British dipo-
macy odious to Canadian people.” The defeat, even though he
recognized the weakness of the Canadian case, would anger him for
many years. Lord Grey, the governor-general, would meet with
Laurier on Christmas Day, 1907. He would note “the general attitude
of the United States has wounded Sir Wiltrid deeply. He referred
again, only last night, with much bitterness to the inexcusable action
of the United States in appointing the three political partisans as
jurists of repute, to the Alaska Boundary tribunal.”

In Washington, Roosevelt and Hay celebrated, the president calling
it the greatest American diplomatic triumph in a generation and
excoriating the behaviour of the two Canadian commissioners in
failing to sign as “‘outrageous alike from the standpoint of ethics and
professional decency.”

Hay paid tribute to Lord Alverstone, calling him the “hero of the
hour. No American statesman would have dared to give a decision on
his honor and conscience directly against the claim of his own
country.”

The secretary of state wrote his wife: “‘I can hardly believe my eyes
and cars when I see how perfectly all my ideas in this great transaction
have been carried out....

“I do not wonder that they [the Canadians] are furious. But as Will
Thomson used to say: ‘Serves 'em right, if they can’t take a joke.””

From the same Christmas conversation with Laurier, Lord Grey
was to note how deep ran the prime minister’s disappointment with
Washington. For Laurier it had become a one-way street. Ottawa was
according the United States respect while the United States didn’t
seem to care. ““He has more than once of late commented, and with
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great feeling,” said Grey, “on the marked difference between Ameri-
can and Canadian actions in relation to each other. He is proud, and

justly proud, that since he took office 11 years ago, there has been no

act on the part of Canada which has not been prompted by the
greatest consideration for the government of the United States...I
wish it were possible to say half as much for the Government of the
United States.”

After Alaska, Roosevelt seemed prepared to reconcile his differences
with Laurier and Ottawa. He came to respect the prime minister, he
grew excited about the country’s potential, and he began treating
Ottawa with civility. He sent warm, laudatory letters to Laurier, one
of which began: “As an admirer of you personally and of the great and
wonderful country at the head of whose government you stand....”
When Laurier was in New York at one point, he invited him to come
over and spend a night at the White House. In the period following his
presidency Roosevelt poured praise on the Canadian war effort in
World War I, saying that the contribution of his own country wasn’t
nearly comparable. To enthusiastic crowds he gave many speeches in
Canada, one as a favour to Prime Minister Robert Borden. He was
impressed by the way the country was governed, remarking in 1914
that “if Mexico governed herself as well as Canada she would not
have any more to fear from us than has Canada.”

Laurier, however, kept his distance. He could never reciprocate the
warmth. The single clash over Alaska was too much to overcome and
a shadow hung over the relationship between the two men, just as
later one would hang over Lester Pearson and Lyndon Johnson
following their 1965 clash over Vietnam.

The poisoned atmosphere did not mean there was no progress.
Elihu Root, the third American member of the Alaska tribunal, was
the new secretary of state and, taking a keen interest in Canadian
problems, he sat down one day and typed out seventeen full-length
pages on what he considered the sixteen major difficulties. Negotiations
were opened on many of them and the groundwork was laid for
important settlements which were made after Roosevelt left office.
Root visited Ottawa in January 1907 and dealt nimbly with the
Alaska issue and his role in it, showing some of the diplomatic ability
which would see him win a Nobel Peace Prize in 1912. Despite the
differences, he remained a big admirer of the prime minister. To Root
“Laurier was a very wise and fair-minded man and his character had
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a great deal to do with the fact that when the Great War came in 1914,
there were no controversies left unsettled between the United States
and Great Britain.”

One main issue that arose before Roosevelt was finished was Japa-
nese immigration. The Japanese government was allegedly overissuing
passports, and immigrants were flooding the Canadian and American
west, getting jobs that citizens of the countries were not getting.
Roosevelt was stunned one day when a Canadian visitor told him that
the western Canadian provinces and the Pacific states were prepared
to separate and set up a new republic if Washington and Ottawa
didn’t act to stop the Japanese tide. The president was struck by the
quality of the visitor: ““...a very capable, resolute fellow...a gentle-
man... made a very favourable impression on me.”

The fellow was young William Lyon Mackenzie King and he was
beginning, in an obviously impressive fashion, his rise to the top. On
assignment as Canadian commissioner of Labour and Immigration,
he had headed directly for the White House, unaware that the
required first stop was at the office of British Ambassador James
Bryce. The president commented on the oversight: “Canadian
diplomacy, like much of the diplomacy of my own native land,” he
wrote, “is much on the sans géne order, which has its advantages in
getting work done quickly, but which can be carried to an extreme. I
was much amused (this of course you must not repeat) that King had
no idea he was to call on Ambassador Bryce. I of course told him that
he must do so at once.”

In formulating a heavily restrictive policy toward Japanese immi-
gration, Roosevelt followed the direction advised by Laurier in a
letter to him. The prime minister said the contact of Asiatic labourers
with Caucasians always led to serious troubles and therefore the
contact had to be prevented. Roosevelt couldn’t agree more, saying
there was no way Japan would allow masses of Canadian and Ameri-
can workers into its labour force.

King was immediately taken by the impetuous president. “A man
of strong impulses, but they are true impulses....T must say I like his
impulses.” He heard Roosevelt speak to the Gridiron Club about his
“walk softly, carry a big stick” policy. Roosevelt told the audience
that the idea was to “deal politely, be conciliatory but carry a big
stick.” He went on to add, King noted, ‘““politeness was all right up to
a certain point, but if advantage were taken of it, then it was time to
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In Ottawa the government leaders were concerned that King,
whom they were trying to groom for great things, would get a swollen
head through such eminent contacts. “I hope they won’t make him
conceited,” Lord Grey told Laurier. “I know him well enough to give
him a word of caution on this point.”

Perhaps King needed a word of caution. His ambition was sent
soaring by his meetings with Roosevelt. He observed every inflection
and gesture of the president’s, recording each one: “His delivery was
clear, concise and direct. He speaks slowly, carefully, enunciating
each word and with a sort of musical utterance at times. He has a
habit of showing all his teeth both when he laughs and speaks. At the
dinner he entered into the fun like a boy. He keeps himself erect and
firmly set. His whole manner and appearance bespeak force and
determination. There is an undoubted impulsiveness and strong ten-
dency to combativeness. ... I have the greatest possible admiration for
him.”

Roosevelt had startled King with words on the impending danger
of war. The wide-eyed visitor concluded that indeed the world was on
the verge of a major conflict and he elicited from his talk with
Roosevelt a message for himself, a grandiose message.

“I feel it has been a golden day lined with cloud all over it,”” he
wrote in his diary. “But the meaning of it has found its way to my
heart. It looks as though I was to help preserve peace between
nations.”®



CHAPTER FIVE

The Missing Tact
of President Taft

MOST LIKELY NO United States president loved Canadian soil so
much as William Howard Taft. Most likely no president would be
hurt so much by a decision of the Canadian people.

In 1892, Taft, then an Ohio judge, rented a summer cottage on the
banks of the St. Lawrence in Murray Bay, Quebec. The place and its
people immediately captivated the huge, affable man with the walrus
moustache. Through the next four decades he would return almost
every summer to eat hearty meat breakfasts, sharpen his imprecise
golf game and delight the French Canadian townfolk with tall stories.

His cottage porch overlooked the river and each afternoon Taft
would slowly pilot his 310 pounds into a yawning chair. He would sit
there for hours breathing the pure air, following the flight of the gulls,
watching the whitefish dance on the running blue waters.

When he became president in 1908, custom commanded him to
refrain from foreign travel. Three months into office he was thinking
about how he was going to miss his Canadian summers. “There is no
place like Murray Bay,” he wrote his brother, Charles. “IfI only have
one term, as seems likely in view of the complications that will be
presented during that term, one of the great consolations will be that I
can go to Murray Bay in the summers thereafter.

“Tell Annie [Charles’ wife] that every once in a while when she
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breathes her lungs full of that delicious air, she shall think of me and
know that I envy her opportunity.”

The habitants of the little village loved Taft. They would fondly
refer to him as le petit juge and when he entered town they would raise
their caps. Taft’s birthday on September 15 was the closing event of
every summer season. The Quebeckers would fill his cottage and
celebrate through the night. When he was gone in the winters, they
would stage skits with the largest, most jovial villager honoured to
play le petit juge. But no disrespect was shown. Taft was their hero.
Later when Teddy Roosevelt split the Republican ranks, thereby
ruining Taft’s re-election bid, they spat in disgust at how their friend
had been betrayed. When Taft died in 1930, sadness swept Murray
Bay. The townspeople lit candles in his honour.!

The feelings in this little corner of Quebec did not mirror however
the feelings of the rest of Canada. Nor did the wonderful village
diplomacy of Taft extend to the rest of the sprawling Dominion. Just
like Franklin Roosevelt, another president with a Canadian cottage,
Taft wanted to forge a special, new relationship with the neighbouring
country. His idea was a comprehensive free-trade agreement which,
in economic terms, would forever weld the two countries together. For
Taft, it was to be “the most important measure of my administration.”
It was to be “an epoch in our country’s history.”

Had he been able to work more closely with Laurier, and had the
president and the prime minister communicated better, such an
“epoch” may have come about. What did come about was not an
epoch in Taft’s country but an epoch, a declaration of independence,
in the other country.

The free-trade issue had been somewhat dormant since the miscar-
riage of 1898. In the following years Canada was prosperous, riding a
wheat boom. There was little pressure for change. In Washington,
Roosevelt had been personally interested in an agreement but didn’t
like his chances in the still largely protectionist Congress. But by 1910,
there was a change of drift. Duties were going up, a tariff war
threatened, and American complaints about the high cost of living
were increasing. Taft needed something to buck the slumbering image
of his administration. The thought of open Dominion markets was
appealing.

One day, while vacationing in Washington, Reverend James A.



70) « THE PRESIDENTS AND THE PRIME MINISTERS

Macdonald, the Toronto Globe editor, was introduced to the president.
Not an average introduction, this one soon found Macdonald in
Ottawa at the office of the prime minister. “Taft was almost in a
panic,” Macdonald revealed, “over what he could do to secure
exemption for Canada from the effects of the bill the high tariff gang
are forcing on the country. He wanted to know if I thought Sir Wilfrid
would meet him to consider a reciprocity measure.”

Taft wanted a meeting with Laurier in Albany, New York in
March. Laurier, either ill or feigning illness, said he couldn’t make it.
Earl Grey, the governor-general, and Finance Minister W. S. Fielding
went in his place. (The Dominion had an External Affairs department
by this time. In 1909, Laurier had created one atop a barber shop on
Bank Street. It consisted of a deputy minister, two clerks, a secretary,
and an annual operating budget of $14,950. But there was no External
Alffairs minister to represent Canada in foreign countries. In Washing-
ton the British ambassador was still handling the duties.)

Taft’s message was that there must be a special arrangement with
Canada. “T am profoundly convinced,” he told his visitors, “that
these two countries, touching each other for more than three thousand
miles, have common interests in trade and require special arrange-
ments in legislation and administration which are not involved in the
relations of the United States with nations beyond the seas. We may
not have always recognized that in the past but that must be our
viewpoint in the future. Say that for me to the people of Canada, with
all the earnestness and sincerity of my heart.”

Lord Grey echoed Taft’s sentiments. ““Although living under differ-
ent forms of free and enlightened government we are, so far as the real
big things of the world are concerned, practically one people.”

Taft and Grey got along famously. While behind ¢losed doors the
general points of a vast trading arrangement were being debated, up
front and for the newspapers the president was challenging Grey to a
golf match for the executive championship of North America. Taft,
who took Grey as a special guest in his train compartment to New
York, boasted that he had recently shot less than 100. But, the New
York Times reported on page one: “the Earl was nothing daunted at
this and accepted the challenge forthwith.”

The Taft trade proposal was a call for the removal of tariffs on all
natural products as well as some manufactured items. Lower rates
would be applied to secondary food products, agricultural implements,
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and some commodities. Touring the west in the summer, Prime
Minister Laurier, now sixty-nine, found support for such a measure,
particularly from disgruntled farmers who resented the extent to
which high tariffs favoured eastern manufacturers. Like Taft, Laurier
felt his Q..u::u_mnmg government needed a dramatic initiative. The
defeat of the Liberals in the 1891 election when they proposed free
trade was having little carry-over effect. It was a long time ago.
Support in Laurier’s party caucus for the measure was strong, support
in the United States this time was strong and, as far as Laurier could
ascertain, support in Canada was strong. On January 21, 1911 follow-
ing a long series of bilateral negotiations, a comprehensive agreement
between the governments was signed, leaving final approval to the
respective legislatures.

In Washington, where a sardonic reporter described the agreement
as “Taft’s first policy,” the president began selling it to Congress. In
1910, of $376 million in total Canadian imports, $223 million had
come from the United States. “The reduction in the duties imposed
by Canada,” said Taft, “‘will largely increase this amount and mmﬁ.w us
even a larger share of her market than we now enjoy, great as that is.”

The Dominion, he asserted, “‘has greatly prospered. It has an
active, aggressive, intelligent people. They are coming to the parting
of the ways. They must soon decide whether they are to regard
themselves as isolated permanently from our markets by a perpetual
wall or whether we are to be commercial friends.”?

His reference to “‘the parting of the ways’ was largely overlooked
by the press. But unfortunately for Taft, he liked the phrase, would use
it often, and reporters would pick it up. Initially the president reaped
favourable press treatment on reciprocity. One reason was that the
agreement would mean cheaper imports of newsprint from Canada
for U.S. newspaper publishers. Beneath the surface, however, Taft
worried. “I send you a copy of my message on Canadian reciprocity,”
he wrote Horace, his brother. It will “suit you, I think, though it may
not suit any other of the 90 millions of people.”

His real concern was laid out in a striking letter to Teddy Roosevelt
dated January 10, 1911, eleven days before the pact was even wmm.:mm.
‘Ialt knew then what the problem was going to be. He also knew that it
was a legitimate problem. The letter read:

“The amount of Canadian products we would take,” he wrote,
“would produce a current of business between western Canada and
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the United States that would make Canada only an adjunct of the
United States.”

He continued: “It would transfer all their important business to
Chicago and New York, with their bank credits and everything else,
and it would greatly increase the demand of Canada for our manufac-
tures. I see this as an argument made against reciprocity in Canada
and I think it is a good one.”

His forecast was accurate but despite his awareness of the impending
problem Taft was unable to work to alleviate it. Instead, his words and
the wayward words of a congressional leader would only do the
opposite. While in the cabinet of Teddy Roosevelt, Taft had always
impressed the president with his diplomatic touch. “With Taft sitting
on the lid,” Roosevelt used to say in mock reference to Taft's ample
girth, “everything will be okay.” But this was not an accurate charac-
terization of Taft, particularly in respect to reciprocity. The Cin-
cinnati-born, Yale-educated man with the sparkling blue eyes that
dashed from side to side with unusual speed, was as apolitical as any
president. Taft abhorred the chicanery of politics. He had never
craved the Oval Office. He always wanted to be a Supreme Court
Jjudge. There, his considerable intellectual powers and unchallenged
integrity could be used in greater quantity. There he would not have
to play so many political games.

In the Congress Taft had a man who sometimes didn’t know how to
play the political games any better than he did. James Beauchamp
Clark was the Democratic party leader in the House of Representa-
tives. Because his party had won a majority in the 1910 midterm
elections he was about to be officially named the second most powerful
man in Washington —speaker of the House. The Missouri-born Clark,
who was nicknamed “Champ” in the United States and was to be
nicknamed “Chump” in Canada, joined in a raucous February 14
debate on the reciprocity bill. He spoke the most damaging words of
support that any Canada-U.S. legislation has ever received. “T am for
it,” cried Clark, “because I hope to see the day when the American
flag will float over every square foot of the British North America
possessions clear to the north pole!

“They are people of our blood. They speak our language. Their
institutions are much like ours...I do not have any doubt whatever
that the day is not far distant when Great Britain will see all of her
North American possessions become a part of this Republic. That is
the way things are tending now.”
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A congressman named Norris wanted to make sure of what he was
hearing. “As I understand it,”” Norris said, “the gentleman favors this
bill for at least one reason; that it will have a tendency in the end to
bring Canada into the union.”

“Yes sir,” said Clark. “Have no doubt about that.”

The speech had no immediate negative impact in the United
States. The House voted shortly after it to approve reciprocity. In
Ottawa, news of the vote, not news of the speech, arrived while the
Commons was sitting. Government members interrupted the business
of the day to applaud for several minutes. Prime Minister Laurier

joined in. The opposition Conservatives were visibly nonplussed.

They thought the reciprocity package would be a winner for the
Liberals. “There was the deepest dejection in our party,” Tory leader
Robert Borden later recalled. ‘“Many of our members were confident
that the Government’s proposals would appeal to the country and
would give it another term of office.”

Amazement and indignation accosted the news of the Clark
remarks. Laurier decried the speech, British government officials
ravaged it, and Taft issued a statement to clarify the situation saying:
“No thought of future political annexation or union was in the minds
of the negotiators on either side. Canada is now and will remain a
political unit.”

Sensing that this was not enough, Taft then arranged for Secretary
of State Philander Knox to wipe away remaining doubts. “The
United States recognizes with satisfaction,” said Knox in a landmark
speech on Canada-U.S. relations in Chicago, “‘that the Dominion of
Canada is a permanent North American political unit and that her
autonomy is secure.”” After forty-four years, Washington was issuing
an official, unqualified, categorical statement of Canadian autonomy.
Knox continued: “It is probably more true today than ever before
that the weight of sentiment and opinion both in Canada and the
United States, while desiring closer relations in all other respects, is
crystallized in a belief that the present political separation is desirable
and will lead to the best development of each nation and to better and
more satistactory relations between them.”

In 1938 Franklin Roosevelt would be credited with the first formal
declaration pledging American military support of Canada in any
time of peril. But Knox, a Pennsylvanian and an attorney-general
under McKinley, did virtually the same thing in his Chicago speech.
“In the higher atmosphere and broader aspects of the situation, it is
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certain that if there should be any great world movement involving
the continent, Canada and United States would, as a matter mw
course, act in the most perfect concert in defense of the common rights
of a common blood of civilization.”

Despite the assurances, Taft was clearly apprehensive: “That speech
of Clark’s,” he told his personal physician, “has unquestionably
sounded the death knell of the reciprocity pact and it was the plan
nearest to my heart.”

“Bosh!” he cried out in a speech to newspaper editors in New York's
Waldorf-Astoria on April 27. “The talk of annexation is bosh. Every-
one who knows anything about it realizes that it is bosh. Canada is a
great strong youth anxious to test his muscles, rejoicing in the race he
is ready to run. .

“The United States has all it can attend to with the territory it is
now governing, and to make the possibility of the annexation of
Canada to United States a basis for objection to any steps toward their
great economic and commercial union should be treated as one of the
Jjokes of the platform.”

At the same time he was trying to beat down the annexation bogey,
the president continued to make insensitive remarks that nullified his
gains. “The bond uniting the Dominion with the mother country is
light and almost imperceptible,” he said in the same New York
speech. And, on another occasion: “Now is the accepted time. Now
Canada is in the mood. She is at the parting of the ways.”

Such were the comments that were highlighted in the Canadian
press. In the United States, they were not damaging. There, after a
Taft speaking tour to promote the package, after he called a special
session of Clongress to deal with reciprocity alone, and after strained
political infighting, reciprocity was approved. In a strange departure
from the norm, Taft’s Republican members in both the Senate and
the House of Representatives voted predominantly against the bill.
But most of the Democrats supported the president on it. The Demo-
crats traditionally represented lower tariffs, but in this case many were
inclined to support Taft because they thought reciprocity would
ultimately do him more harm than good.

The focus turned to Canada. Laurier had been so confident in the
early spring: “The country is decidedly with us.” Time would bring
with it a better understanding of the policy, he thought. Some more
beating up on the annexation stuff would take its toll; the Liberals, in
power for fifteen years, would continue their run.
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“I don’t understand,”” Laurier told his people, “that kind of logic
which says that a man will lose his manhood by trading with a good
neighbour. We stand on our manhood.... This talk of annexation 18
simply beneath the contempt and beneath the attention of a serious
people.... Rather than part with our national existence, we would
part with our lives.”

The eloquence was splendid, but as time passed, the Conservatives
were finding increasing hostility in the population toward the reci-
procity plan. Railroad, manufacturing, and banking interests of the
East were lining up and organizing against it on economic grounds.
And the “little man,”” as much as Laurier told him no, was receptive
to the annexation argument. So the Tories brought on filibusters and
assorted delaying tactics to stem the rush of the prime minister’s
legislation and, still confident, Laurier decided to challenge them at
the polls on it.

“Bet on the old cock,” he told voters in Trois-Riviéres, Quebec on
August 17. “Soon I shall be 70 years old and rest, which I have not
known for so many years, would be most grateful to me. But I should
be ashamed of myselfif T did not devote what talents I may have, and
all my strength, to the service of the country.”

“I do not know what the future holds. It is said that the most
uncertain things in the world are horseraces, elections and cockfights.
But if I were a betting man I would bet on the old cock which has been
winning for the last 15 years.”

He had tried to get through to Taft in order to have the president do
more to diminish Canadian fears, but he didn’t do this by writing.
Curiously, the two men exchanged a few letters on trivial concerns but
not on the reciprocity issue. Instead, Laurier used an intermediary
named John Hays Hammond. Caution Taft, Laurier told Hammond,
“against creating the impression that there is political significance in
this treaty.”

After its initial rejection of “Champ” Clark’s remarks, the White
House found it difficult to understand how the fear of absorption
could be such a grand concern in Canada. Indeed, Americans gener-
ally found the fear difficult to understand. Writing at the time, Teddy
Roosevelt, in typically graphic form, explained the situation: “No
human being seriously thought that this was a step toward annexation.
Unfortunately three or four prize idiots of importance, including the
Speaker of the House, indulged in some perfectly conventional chatter
which, although universally understood here as being a rehearsal of
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‘letting the eagle scream’ on the fourth of July, was apparently
accepted seriously in Canada. And poor Taft seemingly cannot learn
anything about foreign affairs and made some remarks that were as
thoroughly ill-judged as was possible.”

The election date was September 21, 1911. It was no secret what the
thrust of the Conservatives’ campaign would be, “I beg Canadians,”
said Borden in a speech typical of many, “to cast a movnw:\ considered
and serious vote for the preservation of our heritage, for the mainte-
nance of our commercial and political freedom, for the permanence of
Canada as an autonomous nation of the British Empire.”

The question for Laurier and for Taft, who also had a large stake in
this election, was how to allay the annexation fears. In modern times
when the leaders could pick up telephones and discuss such things or
pay a routine visit, strategy formation was not so difficult. In 1911,
when telephones weren’t around, and presidents didn’t visit foreign
countries, the chances of misunderstanding and miscalculation were
great. Laurier wanted Taft to speak out and yet he didn’t want him to
speak out. Taft wanted to speak out and yet he didn’t want to speak
out. It could backfire if he did, and be construed as interference in a
foreign country. The Conservatives might profit.

But conversely, would not a grandly staged, intensely publicized,
blanket refutation of the insinuations kill the spread of the fire? The
president hadn’t issued a major denial since April and he had done
much to spoil that denial by more talk in the intervening period about
“the parting of the ways.” Was not another statement imbampon

The pressure on Taft began in the summer. S. R. Richard, a former
Liberal member of Parliament from western Canada, cabled Charles
Hilles, the executive assistant to the president, recommending an
unequivocal statement from Taft on the meaning of “the parting of
the ways.” Otherwise, the Liberals might lose, he said.

“The President is willing to make his position very emphatic,” the
response from the State Department said, “but will not interfere
without their [Laurier officials’] full knowledge and an intimation as
to what they would have him do. Would it help the cause to have him
explode annexation talk on a western trip in Michigan, Minnesota or
elsewhere?”

A state department official, Charles Pepper, contacted Ottawa
cabinet members. President Taft talked to British ambassador James
Bryce. James Bryce talked to Laurier. Laurier was cool. Bryce told the
president as much, Taft held back,
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By September 7, the election two weeks away, the Tories gaining
ground, Laurier, less confident of winning, had changed his mind.
That day, campaigning in Sudbury, Ontario, he met Henry Appleton,
a friend. A statement from the President, he told Appleton, could
move thousands of votes to the Liberal column. Could you contact the
White House?

Appleton contacted Pepper and Charles Osborn, who was the
governor of Michigan and a good friend of Taft’s. The president was
planning a speaking tour before September 21 that would take him to
Sault Ste. Marie on the American side. Laurier “‘personally desired
me,” Appleton wrote the Michigan governor, ““to ask you and Presi-
dent Taft if it would be possible for you to give the public in your
addresses at the Soo the correct version of reciprocity.” He told them
of the damage the ““parting of the ways” commotion was causing: “I
need only tell you that your addresses will be quoted largely on the
20th as it is the day before the election in Canada and, as Mr. Laurier
has well said, if the right word was said at that time it would mean
thousands of votes. ... Trusting that you will not consider me presump-
tuous to present the matter as it was presented to me, I am....”

The governor telegrammed Taft: “Your parting of the ways
speech. .. is being used emphatically in Canada against reciprocity. Is
it possible you would come to refer to the subject publicly in Detroit in
a manner calculated to convey most clearly what you meant so as to
disarm those who are misinterpreting it and thus taking unfair
advantage?”’

Pepper then wrote Taft’s executive assistant on the timing of a
possible speech. “Do it for the Saturday afternoon papers because
they have no Sunday papers of importance in Canada,” he advised.?

The president at this time was worried about a challenge from
Robert La Follette to his renomination to lead the Republicans. He
wanted the reciprocity win badly because it was an approach he
wished to try with other countries and because the boost would help
distance him from the challenger. “If we can only carry reciprocity in

Janada,” he wrote his brother Horace a week before the election, “we
can put our whole case on an actual test.” William Hoster, an
acquaintance of Taft staying at the Windsor Hotel in Montreal,
received a letter from the president about the same time. Taft wrote,
“I am really very anxious to have Sir Wilfrid win and am very hopeful

1e will because I do not think the people of Canada have felt the

necessity for the uplift [from reciprocity ).



78 » THE PRESIDENTS AND THE PRIME MINISTERS

The plans for a blockbuster Taft speech appeared ready. But only a
few days before the election, executive assistant Hilles was given some
impressive news by a friend named John Stewart. “I have recently
been in Canada,” said Stewart, “and lunched with the Liberal
manager who gave me the result of his canvass of the Dominion on the
reciprocity question. It may interest you and is as follows. .. Liberal
Majority —49.”

Now the question arose—Was there any need for a speech by the
president? Would it not be a reckless gamble? The Liberals were going
to win anyway.

In Secretary of State Knox’s office, a cable then arrived from John
G. Foster, the U.S. consul general in Ottawa: “Confidential. The
newspapers report President contemplates discussing reciprocity at
Sault Ste. Marie and other frontier posts before the Canadian elec-
tions. Conservatives are trying to make out a case of American
interference and will undoubtedly misconstrue if possible any utter-
ance on this subject.”

Knox forwarded the message to Hilles. Hilles informed the presi-
dent. A decision was made. The president would not make a speech
on reciprocity.

On September 19 he arrived at Sault Ste. Marie where he was
greeted by large crowds including many Canadians who had come
across the border, as some of them said, “to meet the man who was
going to annex Canada.”

Taft was friendly. “A gentleman from Canada. Glad to meet you
Sir.” He was pressed on the reciprocity issue. It is “sub judice” he
declared. “T have sufficient sense of propriety to say nothing on the
subject but merely to say that I am in a state of prayer and hope.”
Being on the boundary, he did what virtually every president and
prime minister of the twentieth century would do: he paid tribute to
the undefended border. “That 4,900 miles of boundary has no forts.

We have no battleships. There is nothing here to mark the difference
between the two countries save custom houses and some natural
boundaries. Now that presents an example that might well commend
itself to all countries and all nations,”’*

In Canada, as one of the most emotional elections moved toward
verdict time, the big names were wheeled out. “The Americans are a
great people,” said Stephen Leacock, an economist and great man of
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letters, “‘but fifty years ago we settled the question as to what our lot
was to be with respect to them. We have decided once and for all that
the British flag was good enough for us.”

Rudyard Kipling issued a statement in the Montreal Star: “Itis her
own soul that Canada risks....Once that soul is pawned for any
consideration Canada must inevitably conform to the commercial,
financial, social and ethical standards which will be imposed upon her
by the sheer admitted weight of the United States.” Americans had
already dissipated their resources, he said. Now “they are driven to
seek virgin fields for cheaper food and clothing.”

On election day, President Taft was in Battle Creek, Michigan.
“They say we want to annex Canada. Huh,” he said mockingly:
“Gentlemen, my experience in this government has taught me that
we have enough territory without enlarging borders.”

He lashed out at some of the treatment he had been receiving: “I
know that some irresponsible newspapers have called me a trickster
and aswindler and say that I in some way deceived or played unfairly
with the ministers of Canada to secure the treaty.” But, “there wasn’t
any trick about it. The cards were laid on the table.”

He told his aides that afternoon that he thought reciprocity would
win. In the evening he moved on to Kalamazoo, Michigan, where he
attended a banquet. White slips of paper were frequently passed to
him at the head table and, with each, his countenance grew more
grim. “Canadian election very close,” a telegram at 8:40 P.M. warned
him. “Conservatives now have 14 majority overall. Five cabinet
ministers have been defeated including Fielding and Patterson, the
framers of the pact. Result will be in doubt until the west is heard
from.”

At 9:08 P.M. there was no doubt. “Laurier Government and reci-
procity beaten.”

President Taft moved his large body sadly to the podium. “I have
just been informed that reciprocity has failed in Canada,” he
announced. The audience members were against reciprocity. They
applauded his words and then there were cries of “‘hush, hush.” Taft
chuckled a little bit. “I know there are a lot of people in this vicinity
who want to see reciprocity defeated,” but, he said, “for me, it is a
great disappointment. I had hoped that it would be put through to
prove the correctness of my judgment that it would be a good thing for
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both countries. It takes two to make a bargain however and if Canada
declines I suppose that we can still go along still doing business at the
oldstand.” The people applauded him then and Taft waved his hand
in appreciation of their consideration.®

A few days later he wrote indelicately to Horace: ““T'he Canadian
contest which was raging when you wrote has been settled.. .. We were
hit squarely between the eyes and must now sit tight. Of course [ am
very disappointed because I should like to have had this scalp dangling
at my official belt even if T am only going to wear the belt for four
years.”

In Ottawa, Laurier was graceful in defeat, while new Prime Minis-
ter Borden saw little that was anti-American feeling in the Canadian
vote. “In rejecting reciprocity, Canada has simply affirmed her
adherence to a policy of national development which she has pursued
for many years. The verdict was in no way dictated by any spirit of
unfriendliness to the great neighbouring republic. No such spirit
exists.”

The Laurier cabinet met for the last time on September 26 and it
concluded that the prejudice against the United States, inspired by
Taft’s “parting of the ways” speech and Champ Clark’s mouthings,
was the cause of the loss. ‘“We have been beaten,” Laurier said, “but I
say again I have nothing to regret. We could not have refused that
offer [reciprocity| and been true to ourselves. We have been beaten
but we can keep our heads erect.” Young Mackenzie King learned a
lesson. “The moral,” he noted in his diary, “is to make no appeal in
good times for something better. It is only when people are hard up
that they see the advantage of change.”

Speaker “Champ” Clark was unrepentant. After his House speech
had sparked the furor, he had tried to beg off, saying that his remarks
were only halfserious. Now a few weeks after the election in Fremont,
Nebraska, he declared: “Nine tenths of the people in this country
favor the annexation of Canada and I don’t care who hears mesay it. I
am willing to make this proposition. You let me run for President on a
platform calling for the annexation of Canada, insofar as this country
can accomplish that end, and let President Taft run against me,
opposing annexation, and I would carry every state in the nation.”

President Taft ran for re-election the following autumn. He was
ransacked, winning only two states. The only consolation for le petil
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Jjuge was the granting of the wish he had expressed in the letter early

in his presidency. He was now free to return to spend his summers in
the place he loved—Murray Bay. In that corner of Quebec, Cana-
dians were more friendly to him. He returned there every summer
until 1930 when the habitants lit the candles.



CHAPTER SIX

Borden and the
Fight for Recognition

EARLY DECEMBER, 1911, ten weeks after victory, Prime Minister
Borden journeyed to New York where he lunched with Teddy Roose-
velt. “Mr. Prime Minister,” said Roosevelt respectfully, “I do not
expect you to make an admission but I am confident that in your
heart you are profoundly grateful to my friend Mr. Taft for some of his
utterances with regard to the effect of the reciprocity proposals.”!
The prime minister concurred. Borden had won on the trade issue
but he realized fortune had played a paramount role. Despite his own
truculent opposition to reciprocity, Borden did not feel, deep down,
that it was such a bad idea. Once, during the campaign, President
Taft warned that if Canada didn’t move commercially closer to the
United States, it would be forever locked into a disadvantageous
British imperial preference system. Hearing that, Borden told friends:
“The most serious feature of Taft’s utterances is their profound truth.”
Now Canada’s eighth prime minister, worried about negative
American reaction to the vote, was anxious to reassure the country of
Canada’s friendship. “I recognize the duty of Canada,” he told an
audience on the New York trip, “to become more and more a bond of
goodwill and friendship between this Great Republic and our Empire.
It may well be said that for the cause of kinship and neighbourliness,
Canada owes this to you. But I would rather put it on higher ground,;
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that for the cause of Christianity and civilization, she owes it to
herself.”

His campaign rhetoric had championed the British connection, but
in office Borden would pursue a different course. He would try to
reduce dependence on Britain, so that in future dealings with
Washington, Canada could speak for Canada. The problem, as he
put it in a letter to his wife, was that Canada was “‘a nation that is not a
nation.” The Dominion was independent in domestic policy but a
vassal of Britain in foreign policy. This status was reflected on occasions
such as the Paris Peace Coonference which concluded World War L
French President Clemenceau, arranging for a session with Britain
that would include Dominion representatives, told Lloyd George, the
British leader; “Come — And bring your savages with you.”

With Borden’s stewardship, the pressures for change had grown
strong. With survival on the continent, economic health, the trans-
Canada railway, and with a significant contribution in World War I,
the Canadian sense of nationhood and Canada’s desire for an inde-
pendent voice in the world, particularly in the United States, had
been enhanced. The Canadian experience in Washington was a
critical factor in giving rise to the demand for control of foreign policy,
in expanding on that demand, and in bringing it to fruition. On many
occasions, the most serious being the Washington Treaty (1871) and
the Alaska dispute (1903), Canadian prime ministers or their associates
had been compelled to negotiate with the White House as part of a
British team and had been defeated and embarrassed as a result. The
prime ministers had come to feel that if Canada was to lose to
Washington, Canada was going to lose of its own accord.

The calls for independent negotiating status actually started soon
after Canada was born. The pressure increased step by step, almost
year by year, but it would be more than halfa century from Dominion
Day before the rights in Washington were won.

L. S. Huntington introduced a bill in Parliament in 1870 proposing
that Canada be given the right to negotiate commercial treaties in the
American capital. Prime Minister Macdonald, who had yet to undergo
the Washington Treaty experience, blocked the bid. In 1877, Sir
Alexander Galt, who was representing Canada at the Halifax negotia-
tion on a price for the fisheries, warned the prime minister that it was
time for seeking diplomatic status because “as colonials these arrogant
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insulars [British] turn up their noses at us all.” Later, during the 1888
negotiation with the Cleveland administration, a frustrated Charles
Tupper squeezed Macdonald on the issue again: “I confess that from
my experience in Washington the crass ignorance of everything Cana-
dian among the leading public men makes me attach the greatest
importance to our having an able man in a position to dispel that
ignorance.”

The presidents themselves did not actively seek to perpetuate
Canada’s colonial bargaining status. Many would have preferred to
negotiate with the Dominion alone. British shelter for Cianada, some
felt, made the task of achieving a good, quick settlement much more
difficult.

Secretary of State Bayard, the man who said in 1877 that the
building of the railway had brought the United States face to face
with a nation, explained the Washington view of Canada’s diplomatic
status in a letter to Tupper the same year: “In the very short interview
afforded by your visit, I referred to the embarrassment arising out of
the gradual, practical emancipation of Canada trom the control of the
Mother country.... The awkwardness of this imperfectly developed
sovereignty is felt most strongly in the United States which cannot
have formal relations with Canada except directly as a colonial
dependency of the British Crown....

“Nothing could better illustrate the embarrassment arising from
this amorphous condition of things than the volumes of corres-
pondence published severally this year relating to the fisheries by the
United States, Great Britain and the Government of the Dominion.
The time lost in this circumlocution, although often most regrettable,
was the least part of the difficulty, and the indirectness of the appeal
and reply was the most serious feature, ending, as it did, most
unsatisfactorily.” ;

President McKinley and Secretary Hay were frustrated in 1898 by
having to find solutions to Canadian problems that satisfied both
Canada and Britain. Teddy Roosevelt told Canadian lumber execu-
tives in 1906 that he was surprised Canada hadn’t modernized its
antiquated system of representation. William Taft wished he could
have dealt more closely with Canadians on reciprocity.

Had Alexander Mackenzie, the first Liberal prime minister, stayed
in power longer, the drive for change likely would have been much
stronger. Macdonald, despite his annoyance with dealing through the
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British, chose to resist such a move because he felt the support of
London in Washington still gave Canada more leverage than she
would otherwise have.

In 1892, however, the House of Commons passed a resolution
requiring negotiations with England to begin on the subject. The
British, feeling that the Empire would quickly be destroyed should
Dominions like Canada be given independent treaty-making power,
were reluctant but did make gradual concessions strengthening
Ottawa’s ability to make autonomous commercial agreements.*

The Alaska boundary decision, viewed widely in Canada as a farce,
gave tremendous impetus to the push for more power. Laurier caused
a stir in both London and Washington with a candid appraisal in the
House: “I have often regretted Mr. Speaker, and never more than on
the present occasion, that we are living beside a great neighbour who,
I believe I can say without being unfriendly to them, are very grasping
in their national acts and who are determined upon every occasion to
get the best in any agreement they make. I have often regretted also
that while they are a great and powerful nation, we are only a small
colony, a growing colony, but still a colony. I have often regretted also
that we have not in our hands the treaty making power which would
enable us to dispose of our own affairs. ... Our hands are tied to a large
extent owing to the fact of our connection.”

Laurier’s creation of the Department of External Affairs was a
partial response to the problem. In the same year, 1909, the Interna-
tional Joint Commission was formed for the purpose of arbitrating
boundary disputes between Canada and the United States. Britain
took part in negotiating the agreement but the [JC was a precedent
breaker for Canada in that it was a foreign body in which Britain had
no input on the Clanadian side.

More strides might have been made under Laurier if not for the
inspired performance of British ambassador James Bryce who eased
tensions by looking after Canada’s interests in Washington with far
greater effectiveness than the likes of Thornton and Sackville-West.
By 1912 Bryce was saying that “about 90 percent of all my official
duties at Washington are purely Canadian business transactions.” He
felt that a Canadian minister should be appointed in his place, and so
did the newly-elected Robert Borden.

The prime minister from Nova Scotia, earnest, even, and able,
presided over a quiet first two years on the bilateral front. The
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annexation furor had died down, the long-standing fisheries dispute
had been settled by a tribunal at The Hague in 1909, the Bering Sea
controversy was put to rest to Canada’s satisfaction in 1911, and the
new IJC was quietly solving problems that previously had been the
bailiwick of clamourous, high-profile joint commissions.

But no sooner had the plate been cleared than World War I broke
out, engendering new antagonisms in Canada-U.S. relations and
thrusting aside minor business, such as a representative for the
Dominion in Washington. The United States was three years behind
Canada in entering the carnage, its per capita contribution in man-
power tiny compared to Canada’s five hundred thousand, and when
U.S. War Secretary Newton Baker had the temerity to suggest that his
country was “now in the dominant moral position in the war,” there
was considerable resentment in the Dominion. Roosevelt, the old
Canadian enemy, jumped to his neighbour’s defence. “We have no
right to consider ourselves at a standing level with Canada until we
have placed five million men in the field.”

Borden took the same stand, promoting the Canadian effort on
trips south of the border, while pausing occasionally to keep his wife
Laura up to date on the latest fashions in Manhattan. “The New York
ladies are arrayed in the most stunning frocks I have ever seen,” he
wrote on a 1916 visit. “But some of them are mightily abbreviated.”
However, he didn’t travel to Washington to meet Woodrow Wilson
until February, 1918. Before the visit, he was warned by an associate
named James Dunn that Wilson, the former Princeton University
president, was “the most stubborn man in the world. No matter how
wrong he may prove to be, he never changes his views.” Others
viewed the president, Dunn reported, as “a Bolshevik at heart.” The
prime minister’s own first appraisal had not been flattering: “Great
rhetorician but a weak and shifty politician.”” It was to get worse.

On Secretary of State Robert Lansing, Borden had been warned
by ambassador Bryce that talking to the man was like speaking
through the telephone with the connection cut off. The prime minis-
ter’s own experience with Lansing, the New York lawyer who had
stated the concluding arguments in the Alaska boundary arbitration,
confirmed this view.

The visit, which featured discussions on how to win the War,
bilateral cooperation in the War effort, and Borden boasts on the
Canadian contribution, went smoothly—but was somewhat dis-
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figured by an event north of the border. William Jennings Bryan, the
perennial presidential candidate and Wilson’s first secretary of state
was shouted down and forced to stop his speech by an angry mob in
Toronto’s Massey Hall. Many spectators opposed Bryan’s prohibi-
tionist leanings while others felt he was too sympathetic to Germany
in the War. More than one hundred people wore gas masks. Bryan, a
brilliant orator, was stunned. He tried to calm the audience with
appeals to continental brotherhood: “The same blood pulses through
our veins.” He then used a phrase which John F. Kennedy would
later get credit for coining: “God has made us neighbors.” But there
was no hope, and Bryan left complaining bitterly to a reporter;
“There isn’t a city in the union where there is any danger of my being
intercepted” like this. The incident received front-page coverage in
many U.S. papers, compelling Borden to issue a statement: “I observe
with deepest regret the occurrence at Toronto last night but was glad
to note it was due to various small portions of the audience.”

Borden would next meet Wilson at the Paris Peace Conference in
early 1919. American claims that “we won the War” rankled the quict
prime minister as they did his population. His effort was to get
Canada what he felt was due recognition —independent voting status
in the peace settlement and eligibility to the council of the nascent
League of Nations. Wilson was his main opponent on both counts and
Borden got straight to the point, sending him a souvenir edition of the
Montreal Standard, extolling Canada’s War effort. The president was
hardly enthusiastic. “It is very interesting to have such a record of the
important part taken by Canada in this war,” he responded.?

The initial peace conference plan called for five voting delegates
from each of Britain, United States, France, Italy, and Japan, two
from each of the smaller allied nations, and none from the Dominions.
Borden, normally a stranger to the employment of wit, muttered to
associates about the need for Canadians to “hold our own with
Patagonia.”

He found Wilson “very tiresome’ and “obstinate as a mule,”” and
Lansing was ‘“‘arrogant and disagreeable.” The secretary of state
remarked condescendingly: “Why should Canada be concerned in
the settlement of European affairs?” Lloyd George promptly reminded
him that Canada “lost more men than the United States in the War.”

A spirited lobbying effort, spearheaded by Borden, led the way to
recognition. The Dominions won the right to be represented by two
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delegates each, and the right to sign the peace treaty in their own
names.

In the League of Nations battle, Borden again directed the effort,
demonstrating a passion for battle that few realized he possessed. A
stinging memo from the prime minister declared that “the people of
Canada will not tamely submit to a dictation which declares that
Liberia or Cuba, Panama or Hejaz, Haiti or Ecuador, must have a
higher place.”*

When the name of President Wilson was raised during a Borden
conversation with Lloyd George, the prime minister berated the
president with such indignation that Lloyd George implored: “For
heaven’s sake, don’t look at me like that.”

Borden was more diplomatic in a note he sent Wilson about
Canada’s proposed changes to the League covenant: ... You will
understand, I am sure, that it is my desire to be helpful and not
critical. I fully realize the immense difficulties which have been
overcome in presenting to the world this supremely important docu-
ment upon which the future of humanity so greatly depends. I
appreciate also the danger of undertaking amendments which may
renew differences that the committee found it difficult to compose....”

With a big assist from Lloyd George, Borden succeeded in con-
vincing Wilson that representation for the Dominions would not
mean domination of the post-war world by the British Empire. The
victory was tarnished, however, when the U.S. senate rejected Ameri-
can participation in the League, partly on the grounds that Britain
would wield too much power. A disgusted Borden concluded: “In
foreign affairs the politicians of the United States act like children and
do not recognize their responsibilities to their country and to the
world.”?

The peace conference taught Borden the difficulties inherent in
being “‘a nation that is not a nation.” In reflecting on that anomalous
position he wrote Laura: “It is about time to alter it.”” And in the
context of U.S. relations that is the field to which his battle now
shifted.

Near the close of the War, a Canadian mission had been established
in Washington for the purpose of coordinating war-related activities.
The end of the fighting removed its purpose, but instead of disbanding
the mission, Borden wanted it replaced by a Canadian office with a
minister enjoying full diplomatic status. Wilson did not object, saying
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that if it was okay with Britain it was okay with him. The president,
despite being so exasperating for Borden at Paris, held no grudge
against the Dominion. At a cabinet meeting in September 1920 he
defended the Canadian pulp and paper industry, shooting down
colleagues who were grumbling about high import prices. He said he
sympathized with Canadian conservation efforts and, according to
Navy Secretary Joe Daniels, argued that “newspapers had too much
paper now.” Daniels countered that “Canada was not trying to
conserve but was robbing publishers.” Wilson spurned him.¢

Borden won 10 Downing’s approval for a Canadian minister in
Washington but there were catches. The Canadian would sometimes
have to report to the British ambassador. When the latter was absent,
the Canadian would have to move into the British embassy in his
place. As a result, opposition Liberals decried the idea. Canada would
be “establishing a kindergarten school of diplomacy,” argued W. S.
Fielding. “If Canada sends an ambassador to Washington he will
degenerate into nothing better than a clerk under the British ambas-
sador.” Another member of the Opposition said it would take more
than “pink teas and 10 o’clock dinner in Washington to make Canada
a nation,”

But Borden assented to the arrangement and on April 26, 1920,
Robert Lansing, his American adversary, announced that the United
States had agreed to Canada having direct diplomatic relations.

But strangely, after the long battle had been won Borden did not
follow through with an immediate appointment. When he stepped
aside due to ailing health, the promising Arthur Meighen succeeded
him. Meighen, tied down by a sick economy, couldn’t find a suitable
candidate for the Washington appointment. Again it was delayed,
though not due to any distaste for the idea on his part; later in 1921, he
would rock the Imperial Conference with the declaration that “in all
questions affecting Canada and the United States, the Dominion shall
have full and final authority.” But the Conservative prime minister
wasn’t in office long enough to put his assertion to the test.

Mackenzie King beat him in 1921 in yet another election in which
U.S. tariffs played a big role. The Republican administration of
Warren Harding was increasing the duties at a rapid clip and Meighen
went to the country advocating a “brick for brick” customs wall to
keep pace. King, aware of the lessons of the Laurier period, didn’t
push free trade but “freer trade,” and won narrowly.
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A man more continentally inclined than any prime minister before
him, King would greatly change the face of the North American
relationship in his amazing twenty-two years of power. Countries that
were [riends in name, and only sometimes, would become friends in
deed. Canada and the United States would become, quite arguably,
the world’s greatest neighbours.

But before all this, in the initial years, when King was still feeling his
way around and there was not a man in the Oval Office with whom
he could closely connect, the bilateral initiatives were few. It would be
six years belore he moved ahead with the appointment of the minister
to Washington —an extraordinary stall for a country that had so long
complained about British representation and for a prime minister
intent on tying the continent closer together. Among the explanations
were: opposition in the Canadian Parliament; lingering antipathy in
Britain; the lack of an appropriate man for the job; and the issue of
total independence for him.

The major advance of the early King years was the signing of a
bilateral agreement in 1923, signalling the coming to Ottawa of
independent treaty-making power. To the displeasure of the British,
Ernest Lapointe, Canadian Fisheries minister, and Charles Hughes,
Secretary of State to Warren Harding, signed the Halibut Treaty,
which regulated fishing in the North Pacific to preserve halibut stocks.
It was generally recognized that such treaty-making power for Canada
was overdue, and about to happen, but British ambassador Auckland
Geddes wanted his name on the documents. Lapointe, with the strong
backing of his prime minister and the support of President Harding,
proceeded on his own.

The signing served to strengthen arguments for a Canadian resident
minister in Washington, and King finally went ahead with the
appointment of Vincent Massey in 1927 during the prosperous presi-
dency of Calvin Coolidge. Coolidge was consistent in the bilateral
context with his overall image —quiet, formal, boring. Massey found
out how “extremely formal, even stiff,”” he was during the historic
February 20 ceremony at the Executive Mansion marking his
appointment,

“On arrival at the White House,” he recalled in his diary, “we were
met by a covey of footmen.... When the summons came that the
President was waiting we all fell in, according to a prearranged plan
and moved into the audience chamber like a squad of guardsmen at
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Wellington Barracks. On arriving we bowed low at the door, advanced
across the room, bowed again and stood still—how still!”

Massey was then introduced to the president as “His Britannic
Majesty’s Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary to
represent the interests of the Dominion of Canada.” Massey read his
address, Coolidge read his. “Then we shook hands and there followed
what was alleged to be an ‘informal’ conversation,” which, Massey
noted, “resembled two public speeches delivered in alternate sentences
to two audiences composed of one person each. The President asked
where I came from, whether Toronto was near a lake and if this was
the first Canadian diplomatic mission. I told him that my people
came from Massachusetts originally and then came to Canada after a
short time in Vermont. He said his people came from Massachusetts,
moved to Vermont but stayed there. I suggested that there was only
one lap left to be made. I gave him a personal message of friendship
and goodwill from the King. ... He replied in a stiff jointed sentence.
After I could bear it no longer and the time seemed to have arrived to
move, I begged leave to present my stafl.... We then retired with
Prussian rigidity.”

Summing up, Massey said, “the ceremony struck me as having
stiffness instead of dignity and where it was meant to be impressive it
was simply pompous. In other words, the participants were oppressed
by their ritual.”

Prime Minister King visited Coolidge in November of the same
year. Tom King, the Washington correspondent for the Toronto Globe,
had warned the prime minister of the dour New Englander’s frugality
and lack of emotion. The joke was that Coolidge had been weaned on
a pickle. On arrival in the capital city, the highest dignitary present to
greet the prime minister was the State Department’s second secretary.
It was a step up from 1871 when the only person to meet John A.
Macdonald was the British ambassador’s valet. King, accompanied
by Massey, was introduced to Coolidge who stood motionless in a
black morning coat. The president asked King if there was snow in
Ottawa. He asked how long the prime minister was staying. He said
he was glad to see him. The conversation continued in the same vein,
until the prime minister bowed as he prepared to leave. The president
asked again if there was snow in Ottawa. Said King: “It was the most
formal ceremony I have ever been through.”

The next day, however, King was more impressed. Coolidge
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“invited me after lunch to walk with him to the verandah of the White
House looking towards the Potomac; told me it [the river] used to
come near a present fountain, that Adams used to go in bathing there
before breakfast and that once a woman reporter held him up for an
interview while he was in the water, He said that if T had been Adams,
I should have got out and put on my clothes and told her to make a
story out of that.”

The anecdote and subsequent conversation changed the prime
minister’s opinion. The president, who King described as dressed to
“the pink of perfection,” was a man of “much clearer vision and
thought than I had believed, a man very well informed, very careful
in all his utterances and exceedingly astute...I regard him as anything
but a silent man only.”’

The bilateral business of the day centered mainly on the issue of the
construction of the St. Lawrence Seaway. A proposal being advanced
eagerly by a cabinet secretary named Herbert Hoover was to deepen
the existing waterways of the St. Lawrence and build canals circum-
venting falls and rapids so that ocean vessels could move up the river
all the way to the Great Lakes and the heart of the continent. Since
part of the St. Lawrence served as the Canada-U.S. border, joint
negotiations were necessary. Coolidge pressed King on the matter but
the prime minister was wary on both political and economic grounds.
“I spoke of the situation being parallel to that of reciprocity and that
every evidence of eagerness from the side of the U.S. was certain to
make our path more difficult. This he recognized very clearly and said
s0.”

From Ottawa, King wrote Coolidge, thanking him profusely and
remarking how the opening of the Canadian legation marked “the
beginning of a new era in Canada’s international relations.” Exag-
gerating, as he would often do with presidents, he continued: “It was
our hope that it might be a beginning of closer friendships on the part
of Canadians with their neighbours to the south. Such it has proven
already to a degree that could scarcely have been anticipated.”

Not one to sidestep self-promotion, the prime minister sent a little
gift to the president: “Under separate cover I am venturing to send
you a copy of a book just published which contains a few of my recent
addresses. When your official duties are over, its pages will let wo:
see —should there be a chance even to glance them over—how
greatly we on this side of the international boundary value all its

expressions of international amity and good-will.”

CHAPTER SEVEN

The Last Voyage
of Warren Harding

THE 15,000-MILE JOURNEY of Warren Harding, a journey which
would include the first visit of a United States president to Canada,
began on a hot day in July, 1923.

Almost everything about this excursion into eternity for Harding
was wrong from the outset. The world of the twenty-ninth president
was collapsing from without and from within, and he knew it more
than anyone. He wished only to play poker and bridge and to forget
the sordid circumstances of his life.

From without, he was being helplessly whirled into a slimy kickback
scandal brought on by friends he had appointed to high office; friends
who took advantage of his soft heart, friends who were swindlers,
confidence men, influence peddlers. “I can take care of my enemies all
right,” President Harding confided before his train left Washington
station. “But my damn friends. My goddamn friends!™!

From within, the overweight, fifty-seven-year-old Republican suf-
fered from an enlarged heart, high blood pressure, shortness of breath,
extreme fatigue and a torn family life. He had fathered an illegitimate
child, His relationship with Florence, his wife, was in turmoil. In
recent months doctors had warned he was in perilous condition. His
flesh had come to look like wax. Shortly before the trip, as if he knew
the end was near, Harding sold his Ohio newspaper, reorganized his
investments, sold his farm, and made out a new will. “He was a
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corpse, " a journalist wrote, “essaying a pre-mortem tour,
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To the public however, the world of Warren Harding was all well.
The emerging scandal, the health problems, the family problems
were masked. To Americans, and to Canadians, Harding was a
popular, attractive president. He had all the exterior trappings. He
looked, acted, and sounded the part, he was tall and strong, his face
had a carved-of-stone imperious look, and his voice was deep. His
words, embellished by his training as a newspaperman, were melliflu-
ous and majestic. He was a president who inspired confidence but
who had none.

The tradition-breaking trip would take him through the American

west by rail, up the coastal waters aboard the U.S.8. Henderson to
Alaska, and home by way of Canada—a one-day stopover in Van-
couver, British Columbia. In the 134 years since George Washington’s
first presidency in 1789, not one chief executive had travelled to
Canada. It wasn't until 1906 that an American president travelled
anywhere outside his country. A 1790 statute required all central
government business to be conducted in the nation’s capital. Another
required the president toact on all bills passed by Congress within ten
days. In the pre-jet era this meant the Chief Executive couldn’t allow
himself to get too far away from home. The tradition developed, the
tradition remained, and President Chester Arthur discovered how
serious it was when he went fishing in the Thousand Islands near the
Ontario border in 1882, accidentally ventured into Canadian territory
and, in so doing, sparked a controversy in Washington.

Not surprisingly, it was the brash Roosevelt who formally broke the
tradition in leaving the country to view progress on the Panama
Canal or, in his own words, “to see how the ditch is getting along.”
Taft also slipped down to see the canal, making an official stop in
Mexico on the way, and the only other foreign excursion before
Harding’s Canada visit was Wilson’s post-war peace trip to Europe.
So bothered were some congressmen that a president would go so far
away, they introduced a bill to have Wilson declared out of office
while in France.?

Harding, the president who became noted for advocating a return
to “normalcy,” had no compelling reason to visit Canada. He admired
the land, what he knew of it, and was most impressed by the country’s
performance in the War. He remembered in this context a “brave
lad” who worked for him while he was publisher of the Marion, Ohio
Star. The United States had yet to enter the war but the boy was

THE LAST VOYAGE OF WARREN HARDING ¢ 95

restless and he decided to go and do battle wearing Canadian colours.
Harding gave him encouragement and best wishes. The lad went to
the front and never returned.

Plans for the western trip did not include Canada mnitially. But after
an invitation and further prodding by the government of British
Columbia, Harding, in a decision which would prove unwise, chose to
go.

From the beginning, accident, mystery and tragedy marked the
tour, the Vancouver stop becoming one of the most controversial. In
the first week, an automobile carrying two journalists of national
reputation plunged off a Colorado embankment, killing both. Then
Emp.wm::m,m railway engineer dropped off the president in Tacoma, just
before running his train headlong into a landslide. He too was killed.

Aides tried to get the fatigued Harding to rest in the early days of
the journey but he couldn’t sleep. Instead, he stayed up Em.;:.m playing
cards. Poker was one of his favourite diversions. Every week in the
White House he would have an all-night big-money game, and
people such as Herbert Hoover, who felt the White House merited
more dignity, would be disgusted.?

Despite the long games and the lack of sleep, Harding held up on
the land segment of the trip. He was loved in rural America and the
adulation of the crowds nourished his wavering frame. Rather than
passing up opportunities to make speeches and meet the people, he
made them all. Rather than let the advisors write all the drafts, the
president did many himself.

But when he got away from the people and boarded the boat to
Alaska, he became overpowered by gloom. Hoover, accompanying
Harding, found him “exceedingly nervous and distraught.” No
government business was transacted. All that transpired ?mm card-
playing, around-the-clock cards. ““As soon as we were aboard ship,”
.mooﬁ% recalled, “he insisted on playing bridge, beginning every n_wv\
immediately after breakfast and continuing except for mealtime often
until after midnight. There were only four other bridge players in the
party, and we soon set up shifts so that one at a time had some relief.
For some reason I developed a distaste for bridge on this journey and
never played it again.”

One day after lunch, the president asked Hoover to come to his
cabin. “If you knew of a great scandal in our administration,” Harding
asked him, “would you for the good of the country and the UE._W\
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expose it publicly or would you bury it?” Hoover suggested that he
should “publish it, and at least get credit for integrity on your side.”
Harding said it would be politically dangerous.* He described some of
the corruption his aides had been involved in, the most notorious of
which was to become the Teapot Dome scandal.

As the melancholy journey flagged on, Harding, receiving reports
from home, became convinced the scandals could not be contained
and his depression grew deeper. At Sitka, Alaska, the last stop before
Vancouver, a military aide brought a box of giant crabs back to the
Henderson. The president and other members of the party feasted on
them. Shortly thereafter, one by one, they started to fall sick.

At 10:45 AM., Thursday, July 26, 1923, a U.S. president officially
set foot on Canadian soil for the first time. The welcome was stunning.
More people, more enthusiasm than Harding had received from the
American cities. Vancouver hadn’t seen anything comparable in
decades. The visit of the Prince of Wales three years earlier was a lesser
spectacle, Estimates put the crowd totals for Harding for the day at
2560,000. Little could explain his popularity but for the fact that he
was a ULS. president who cared enough to come to Canada. “CITY
FALLS TO HARDING” the headline across the top of the Vancouver
Sun screamed.

The president was in a tailcoat and for the first time on the trip, his
silk hat. Prime Minister Mackenzie King, who had met Harding a
year earlier in Washington, was not present, deciding that the short
stopover did not warrant a long trip for him across Canada. J. H.
King, the prime minister’s Public Works minister, greeted the presi-
dent who, after stepping off the Henderson, made a brief statement: “I
cannot let this moment pass without saying how gratified we are to
come here and how gratified we are at being so cordially received.
This is the first visit of a President of the United States to the
Dominion of Canada and I hope it may serve to rivet the friendship
between the two peoples which has always existed.”

Harding was always good at cloaking his inner feelings in a cover of
geniality and although some members of his party sensed he was
falling apart, it was not apparent to the Canadian crowds. From the
docks, the president moved through the joyous throngs to a gathering
of filty thousand in Stanley Park where he made his major speech of
the day, the inaugural address of a president in Canada. With the sun
brilliant, and the area lestooned with American flags and colours,
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Harding, though not as animated as when in peak form, delivered an
eloquent, touching and, in parts, beautiful declaration of friendship.

“Let us go at our own gaits along parallel roads, you helping us and
we helping you. So long as each country maintains its independence
and both countries recognize their interdependence, those paths
cannot fail to be highways of progress and prosperity....

“Our protection is our fraternity, our armor is our faith; the tie that
binds more firmly year by year is ever increasing acquaintance and
comradeship through interchange of citizens; and the compact is not
of perishable parchment, but of fair and honorable dealing which,
God grant, shall continue for all time.”

In the years to come, many of the words of Harding would be
repeated so often as to become clichés. But to the people in Stanley
Park who loved the speech, they were not old words:

“What an object lesson of peace is shown today by our two countries
to all the world. No grimfaced fortifications mark our frontiers, no
huge battleships patrol our dividing waters, no stealthy spies lurk in
our tranquil border hamlets. Only a scrap of paper, recording hardly
more than a simple understanding, safeguards lives and properties on
the Great Lakes and only humble mileposts mark the inviolable
boundary line for thousands of miles through farm and forest....

“We are not palsied by the habits of a thousand years. We live in the
power and glory of youth. Others derive justifiable satisfaction from
contemplation of their resplendent pasts. We have relatively only our
present to regard.... Therein lies our best estate. We profit both
mentally and materially from the fact that we have no ‘departed
greatness’ to recover, no ‘lost provinces’ to regain, no new territory to
covet, no ancient struggles to gnaw eternally at the heart of our
National consciousness.”

The president moved from the park through the crowded streets to
a luncheon where he wasn’t scheduled to speak but was moved to do
so by the glow of the reception. Canada was where he could go to
“borrow eggs,” he said, and “I don’t know anything better than a
good neighbor to whom you can go to borrow a couple of eggs.”

It was a warm day and now the worn-out Harding was on his way
to the Shaugnessy Heights Golf Club for a match with his Canadian
hosts. Spectators were only allowed around the first tee and the last
green. The president was scheduled to play a full round of eighteen or
close to it. But after only six holes, he moved over to the eighteenth
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and finished out there. At the clubhouse, he jokingly told onlookers he
had “been licked.” They cheered him and he left quickly for his hotel,
where his wife Florence waited. A year later Florence would reveal
that on the golf course Harding had suffered the beginnings of a heart
attack. She said those who knew he had grown ill kept it “a close
secret’” for the rest of the day. Later, reports also said that Harding
gave up on his abstinence pledge on the Canadian links and drank
heavily.

The press noted nothing untoward in the president’s behaviour
after the golf game, or during speeches in the evening. Articles said he
played twelve holes and was in most jovial spirits at the conclusion.

The itinerary called only for his attendance at the state dinner that
evening, but hearing that the local press was having a reception for
the visiting press, Harding, already behind schedule, didn’t want to
pass it up. His surprise appearance was dramatic and the outpouring
of affection from the press members extreme. “T hope that none of you
will ever get it into his head that the newspaper game is a rotten one,”’
said Harding, “‘because it is not. It is the best and the biggest game in
the world....I entered the Presidency as a newspaperman and if the
high office that I now fill has changed me, I feel that I am not worthy
of that office.” The journalists cheered wildly.

“I feel I could just be one among you all,” Harding continued.
Then he looked at the coordinator of the group and said, “I don’t
think it would take up too much of your time, would it, if I shook
hands with all the boys?” He went through every one there. The
“boys,” as he called them, responded by singing “Hail, Hail, the
Gang’s All Here.” They gave him three cheers and a tiger and
Harding, the biggest newspaperman among them, left happily for the
dinner.®

To Hoover, the president appeared “very worn and tired” in the
hot crowded dinner hall but to journalist Joe Chapple, who wrote a
book on Harding, he was “the embodiment of manly strength and
vigor, bronzed by the summer sun of Alaska, with his premature gray
hair...one of the handsomest men I ever looked upon.”

Shortly after the meal, Harding had what doctors thought was an
acute gastrointestinal attack. The initial belief was that it was brought
on by the bad crabs and soon the diagnosis was that he was suffering
from ptomaine poisoning.

That night his boat slipped out of Vancouver at 10:00 p.M. and

2 =

THE LAST VOYAGE OF WARREN HARDING 99

headed into a thick fog. A destroyer moved ahead as its guide but in
the middle of the night, the Henderson rammed it. The president, who
had gone to bed immediately on boarding, was startled, as were the
other passengers. Major Arthur Brooks, Harding’s valet, went directly
to his room and found the president still in bed, face buried in his
hands. When Brooks told him that the boat had crashed, Harding
replied, “I hope it sinks.”” He got up and went to the deck. Order was
restored and the Henderson deemed still fit enough to keep moving
until morning,

In Seattle the next afternoon, Harding decided to go ahead with a
major speech. He faltered badly in the oppressive heat, dropped the
manuscript, grasped the podium and, with Hoover picking up the
pages and prompting, struggled to the finish. Further engagements
were cancelled, and the president was put into bed on a special train
headed for San Francisco. A White House physician abided by the
ptomaine diagnosis and said all would be well in a few days. But when
specialists checked him on arrival in San Francisco, they discovered
that in the last few days Harding had suffered a heart attack. By
Thursday, six days out of Vancouver, his condition was reported to
have substantially improved. By Friday, Warren Gamaliel Harding
was dead.

His wife, who along with two nurses was the only person in his suite
when he passed away, allowed no death mask to be made. No autopsy
was performed. The belief was that the immediate cause of death was
apoplexy.

Within a year, Mrs. Harding burned thousands of her husband’s
personal papers. Also within a year the president’s physician died of
strange causes while Mrs. Harding was alone with him in a room.
Rumours that foul play was involved in Harding’s death surfaced but
none were proven. Gaston Means, a discredited ex-Justice Depart-
ment investigator, published a book in 1950 strongly suggesting that
Mors. Harding poisoned her husband because of infidelity. He also
hinted at strange occurrences during the Vancouver stop.

On the day President Harding died, thousands of shocked Van-
couverites poured onto the streets looking for the latest newspapers,
shaking their heads in bewilderment. In the Hotel Vancouver the
people talked, the Sun reported, “in hushed tones of the big calm man
whose purpose it had been to assuage the turmoil in a troubled world
with his gospel of rationalism. They felt that his gospel was the true
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one and that had he lived to complete his work he would have done
great good for his country and the world.”

Ten thousand people in the city showed up for a memorial service in
Stanley Park in the same place Harding had spoken nine days earlier.
Vancouver journalists had an oil painting done of the president and
presented it to President Calvin Coolidge, who hung it in the National
Press Club in Washington. At the ceremony, Coolidge said he had just
read Harding’s speech in Stanley Park and was moved by it.

In Ottawa, prime minister King wrote to Hewitt Bostock, speaker
of the Senate: “I am so glad that the reception of the late President at
Vancouver was such a splendid one and that it has left so many
pleasant memories. In view of Mr. Harding’s death, the incident has
assumed an international significance much greater than could have
been anticipated....” Bostock had written the prime minister from
Vancouver shortly after the visit to tell him about the glorious recep-
tion. “I hope we can manage that you get the proper credit,” he
added.

In 1928, after thousands of donations from Canadians had been
gathered, a ceremony was held in Stanley Park. The people of
Vancouver unveiled the Harding International Goodwill Memorial.
It was a tribute to the first president Canadians ever saw. It was a
signal, following many decades of suspicion, that there was a place in
the Canadian heart for Americans.

CHAPTER EIGHT

Hoover Wagons,
Bennett Buggies

A NATURAL TENDENCY among the prime ministers was to seek the
favour of the popular presidents and to seek distance from unpopular
ones. No prime minister was more eager in the coat-tail game than R.
B. Bennett, who faced Presidents Herbert Hoover and Franklin
Roosevelt. But Bennett’s misfortune was his striking similarity to the
disdained Hoover and his equally striking dissimilarity to the admired
Roosevelt. In party, in pedigree, in philosophy and in some respects in
appearance, the Conservative prime minister was a Hoover, a
Depression-ridden Hoover. In the same respects he was the opposite of
FDR. The predicament called for a face lift and Bennett chose to
undergo one. But unfortunately the Canadian people were not fooled.
They could see behind the disguise.

Much more successful at the game was Prime Minister King.
Beginning with Theodore Roosevelt he had personal contact with
seven presidents. The experience, combined with his political savvy,
made him adept, particularly during the FDR years. But, before
Bennett’s hard times with Hoover, King’s mettle in dealing with the
presidents was also toughly tested by the depression president.

A millionaire, an engineer, a humanitarian, Hoover initially had a
favourable reputation in the Canadian capital. The Iowa Republican
was considered knowledgeable, decisive and positively disposed to the
Dominion. But, as a Canadian journalist in Washington warned
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King, Hoover was a “rampant protectionist.” He won the 1928
election running on higher tariffs for agricultural products, a policy
which would be disastrous for Canadian farmers, and a policy which
Prime Minister King himself noted would create “a deplorable atti-
tude and feeling between the peoples of the two countries.”

To save his own re-election chances in 1930, King had to find a way
of convincing Hoover to exempt Canada from such a tariff. His plan
was to make a trade-off, to employ a seldom used tactic in bilateral
relations—linkage.

A necessary ingredient for the execution of such a strategy is the
availability of something for the president, something to trade off.
King had just the item —the St. Lawrence Seaway. By happy coinci-
dence the man in the United States most interested in the securing of
an agreement for the joint development of the St. Lawrence Seaway
was Hoover. This had been his goal since his days as commerce
secretary in the Harding administration. He pushed for it then and,
under Coolidge, he was chairman of the St. Lawrence Commission.
To Canadian objections, he released a report enthusiastically endors-
ing the scheme. The deepening of the St. Lawrence, he felt, would
enable 90 percent of the world’s ocean shipping to reach into the
Great Lakes. “Its completion,” he wrote later, “will have a profoundly
favorable effect upon the development of agriculture and industry
throughout the Midwest. The large by-product of power will benefit
the Northeast. These benefits are mutual with the Great Dominion to
the north.”

Throughout the twenties, the Canadian government had been
cool. The costs would be tremendously high. Ottawa had already
invested large sums in a railway transportation system. Montreal
would lose its status as the inland seaport. But with the crippling U.S.
tariff threatening, King was prepared to reconsider. At least he was
willing to suggest to Washington that he might move ahead on the St.
Lawrence if he received an exemption on the agricultural tariff.

In a diary notation shortly before Hoover’s swearing-in, the prime
minister sounded like he was in soliloquy. “Hoover makes his inaugu-
ral speech on Tuesday, a week hence. If T can win his confidence —
which I do not think I have at present—I may be able to save the tariff
being put up against Canada and a tariff war developing. In any
event my clear duty is to do all possible to prevent this and go just as
far as I can in indicating our intentions to proceed with the St.
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Lawrence development... Hoover is wedded to that project more
than all else.”

In order to ingratiate himself with the Hoover White House the
prime minister warned how tough relations would be with the opposi-
tion Conservatives under Bennett. The Tory leader had been making
pointedly anti-American speeches. In case the Hooverites hadn’t
heard about them, King, quite capable of disreputable behind-the-
scenes work, wrote William Phillips, the U.S. minister to Ottawa. I
think we may assume they [speeches] foreshadow a campaign of
prejudice and antagonism on the part of the Opposition toward the
United States, having in mind the feeling that may be engendered
should the tariff later be raised against Canada. Every effort will be
made by the Clonservative Party to foster retaliation and to make as
impossible as can be joint negotiations over the waterways.”

King sent Trade minister James Malcolm to Hoover to work out a
Seaway-tariff deal. Hoover showed interest but while King wanted a
discreet, unpublicized arrangement, the president wanted blatant
linkage. He was willing to have a provision in his tarifl’ bill which
would stipulate that a Canadian exemption be put into effect as soon
as Ottawa gave the Seaway the official go-ahead.

King wasn’t in a position to provide such a cold, hard assurance on
the Seaway. The Hoover proposal, he told Vincent Massey, would be
viewed as a Washington attempt to force Canada to accept something
it didn’t want. But before he could quietly decline the first offer and go
for something better, a story, hinting at the arrangement and embar-
rassing King, was leaked to the press. Now the prime minister had to
make a publicstand. Had he been seeking a trade-off? Was he willing
to let the Americans have their way on the Seaway to prevent the
possibility of a higher tarift being introduced by Hoover and gaining
assent in Congress? There was no such deal in the works, no such
possibility, declared the prime minister. In words which may well
have astonished Herbert Hoover, he told the House of Commons that
he could “conceive of no greater misfortune than that the question of
the St. Lawrence waterway should be mixed up in any way with the
tarifl.” Each issue, he asserted, ‘‘must be dealt with separately on its
merits,”

Hoover subsequently introduced his tariff. It was rejected the first
time but made it through prior to King’s 1930 re-election bid. King,
suffering because of it, was swept aside by Bennett who promised to
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“blast a way” for Canada into world markets. But it was a most
propitious period for another intermission in King's record stretch as
prime minister. The early thirties were the wrong years for anyone to
be Canada’s leader.

Bennett had the misfortune of settling in at the same time the Great
Depression settled in. The Americans soon had automobiles drawn by
mules because there was no gas. They were called Hoover Wagons.
Soon Canada had the same things and they became known as Bennett
Buggies. In the United States empty towns multiplied and they came
to be known as Hoovervilles. In Canada ghost farms multiplied and
they came to be Bennett Barnyards. The links were natural not only
because of the similar conditions in both countries, but also because of
the resemblance of the two leaders. They both offered the same
prescriptions. They were believers in the free market. There was no
need for government intervention. With time, they thought, Adam
Smith’s invisible hand would go to work. All would be well.

“Gentlemen,” Hoover told a group of relief-secking visitors in the
early days of the depression, ““vou have come too late. The depression
is over.” To another group, he said “nobody is actually starving. The
hobos, for example, are better fed than they ever have been. One hobo
in New York got ten meals in one day.” To others: “What this country
needs is a great big laugh. There seems to be a condition of hysteria. If
someone could get off a joke every ten days, I think our troubles would
be over.”

Bennett was less vivid but spoke essentially the same line. “T cannot
make up my mind,” he told Albertans, “‘why this country between the
lakes and the mountains should experience the depression, why people
who have lived here for years should now find themselves without an
accumulation of goods.”

“Governments cannot do everything,” he told others. “They can
tax you and you can pay taxes, grudgingly or otherwise. But you must
look beyond that.”

Hoover and Bennett had as much in common as any other president
and prime minister. But the theory that resemblance breeds rapport
did not apply here. The Conservatives under Bennett were like the
Conservatives under most previous prime ministers. They looked east,
not south. They were, as assistant secretary of state William Castle
warned Hoover in Bennett’s first year, “less friendly disposed to the

United States than the Liberal Party.” Because of this political
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imperative, Castle told the president, “Mr. Bennett frequently finds it
advisable to criticize us despite the fact that he is personally friendly to
the country.”!

Hoover was still determined to get the St. Lawrence Seaway built.
He wanted to overcome any unfriendliness. He worked directly with
Hanford MacNider, the U.S. minister in Ottawa, so much so that
MacNider made a point of apologizing to state department officials
for going over their heads. At one point MacNider had wanted to
make a strong series of statements in support of the Seaway. But
Bennett was in Britain and, out of respect for his absence, Hoover
rejected the idea. MacNider was annoyed. “Now I suppose I must go
around mumbling platitudes which is not my idea of a good time.™*
The minister was soon given another assignment. Worried that Cana-
dians had the wrong impression of the U.S. attitude, Hoover wrote
MacNider on October 17, 1930: “It seems to me that we should think
up some particular method or occasion by which we can mark ou
real feelings toward Canada and try to impress them with it.”

The first two years in office had not been easy ones for Hoover but
he was by no means derailed. Hume Wrong, Canadian chargé
d’affaires in Washington, on his way to becoming one of the country's
exemplary diplomats, analysed Hoover for the prime minister in the
fall of 1930:

“My own belief is that the problems of the 1932 election are
occupying Mr. Hoover’s mind to an inordinate degree. The great
administrator, in elective office for the first time, is harassed and
oppressed by the difficulties, the nature of which he is unfitted by his
training and character to comprehend. He has as yet done nothing
which will permanently prejudice his future; but he has also done
little to confirm the reputation which he brought to the White House,
If he is to accomplish great things (and of this I am growing more and
more doubtful) they are likely to be postponed until his second term.”

Whatever the prime minister’s own opinion of Hoover’s future, one
thing was certain —he wanted to have as little to do with the president
as possible. So shrouded was Bennett’s one visit to Washington that
the press called it the “mystery tour.” Secretary of State Henry
Stimson found the Bennett act incredible. So anxious was the prime
minister to be “incognito,” Stimson told reporters, that he wore a
derby hat instead of the more formal silk hat the occasion would

normally have warranted.
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The ultimate snub occurred on the White House lawn. Twenty-five
photographers prepared to take the standard picture of the president
and the visiting dignitary. It was customary to do so. But Prime
Minister Bennett stopped them. It would be “an honour” to be
photographed with Mr. Hoover, he said. But since the visit is “unofli-
cial,” pictures should await another occasion. The problem, as most
top oflicials there realized, was that Bennett did not want to be seen on
the front page of Canadian newspapers with Herbert Hoover.

The meeting with the president did not go well. The president
pressed Bennett on the St. Lawrence Seaway. The prime minister
responded evasively, went to a press conference and told more than
fifty anxious scribes virtually nothing. “What about the St. Law-
rence?” asked one. I believe it is still there,”” Bennett replied. He did
make one formal statement but added that it was not for publication.

The Washington Siar's front-page story reflected the obscurity:
“The confusion and uncertainty which has surrounded the visit to
Washington of Prime Minister Bennett deepened last night as he
prepared to leave for Ottawa. Even a trip by the Premier to Arlington
cemetery to place a wreath on the Canadian cross there was sur-
rounded by secrecy. Legation officials declined even to confirm that
the Premier would lay such a wreath. A photographer who followed
the Premier was requested to refrain from taking pictures.”

Most press reports took the same tack and they stung Bennett. He
had been annoyed on arrival when reporters asked pointedly whether
he or members of his party had taken advantage of diplomatic
immunity to bring liquor into the United States, a country then in the
throes of prohibition. His advisors responded testily that the prime
minister had given explicit instructions against taking booze.

When the Associated Press, reputed for its objectivity, ran an article
on his furtive behaviour, Bennett instructed Hume Wrong to fight
back. Wrong wrote A.P. President Frank Noyes, complaining that
Bennett’s footsteps were ‘“‘dogged wherever he went,” that one re-
porter jumped into his car and tried to interview him and that reports
were “filled with rumours of mysterious and quite non-existent
negotiations.”

“...1 can assure you,” said Wrong, “that these reports gave an
entirely distorted version of what took place and were a wide departure
from the usual standards of accurate reporting maintained at the
Associated Press.”

N
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Reporters would not believe there was truth in the announced
purpose of the visit—an inspection by the prime minister of the
Canadian legation. Hanford MacNider, besieged by the doubters in
his Ottawa office, spent two hours fending them off. Undaunted by
Bennett’s clandestine debut in the capital, the Washington press corps
tried to get him to appear at its annual Gridiron dinner. MacNider
said there was little hope. ‘“‘He naturally doesn’t want to be running
back and forth from here to Washington because he has been accusing
Mr. Mackenzie King of the same thing through all the past years.”

President Hoover was irritated. From the disappointing meeting he
felt he had at least elicited a small promise from Bennett to appoint a
preliminary commission on the Seaway. “I was under the distinct
impression,”” he wrote Stimson, “‘that the matter would be taken up at
once upon his return and that we would have some results. Nothing
has happened...” He instructed the secretary of state to get the
Canadians moving. MacNider told the president that the problem
was that Bennett was trying to run a one-man government and had
not taken the time to acquaint himself fully with the St. Lawrence
situation. There was dissatisfaction among party members over his
domineering ways, he reported, but ‘‘he shows no sign of changing his
procedure.”

MacNider devised a plan. William Herridge, the extremely
influential brother-in-law of Bennett, was taking up his new posting as
minister to Washington. MacNider suggested that Hoover take
Herridge away with him for a couple of days out of the capital and do
the hard sell on the St. Lawrence. But the State Department, arguing
hotly that every other ambassador in town would expect to go on trips
with the president, rejected the idea. “It seems to me,” the under-
secretary of state told Hoover, “that there would be plenty of oppor-
tunity to discuss the St. Lawrence Waterway with Mr. Herridge right
here in Washington.”

After months of pressure, the Bennett government finally agreed to
open negotiations on the project. Conditions were changing, the
Opposition forces were softer, and the prime minister saw some
political advantage in moving ahead with the job-creating scheme if
the terms were right. In July 1932, four months before the presidential
election, a treaty for the development of the waterway was signed.
Hoover was ecstatic, calling it “the greatest internal improvement yet
undertaken on the North American continent.”
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But like so many other agreements notched between the leaders of
the two countries, this one had a decidedly short life span. In the
election, Hoover was crushed by Franklin Roosevelt. The Senate,
which had not moved on ratification of the treaty before the vote, now
rejected it.

Bennett, to his joy, had a new man in the White House. For that,
the loss of the St. Lawrence agreement was not too high a price to pay.
Justseven weeks into the Roosevelt term, he was in Washington to see
FDR and the contrast was glaring. Now Bennett catered to the press,
and sought out picture opportunities with Roosevelt. Now there was
no scofling at the prime minister’s derby hat but rather, references to
his sartorial splendour—particularly to his stylish, pearl-buttoned
gray vest,

From the outset Bennett appeared to realize that he was dealing
this time with a man on the verge of greatness. Bill Herridge, whose
role would be critical in the next two years, had sized up Roosevelt for
him in the following way: “There is no doubt that Mr. Roosevelt is
confronted with a great opportunity and that he is eager to seize it.
The country is begging for leadership. ... Talk is growing of the need
for a dictatorship; Mr. Roosevelt, if he has the skill, could assume the
position of a constitutional dictatorship much as Mr. Wilson did
during the war....The country is anxious to take sides with the
President against Congress in the perennial conflict which is inevitable
under the constitution; and Mr. Roosevelt has both the authority
within his party and a gift of popular appeal which are denied to Mr.
Hoover.”

Before the Bennett visit, the State Department had provided the
president with an analysis of Bennett and Clanadian-American issues,
Among the points: Bennett’s conservative high-tariff views had mel-
lowed somewhat during the past two-and-a-half years and he is
convinced that economic nationalism all over the world has gone too
far; Bennett alone is powerful enough to obtain approval in Parliament
for any program he wishes; Herridge has more influence with him
than anyone; the financial community in Canada is teetering, the
situation with the banking executives being that of a “small group of
drunk men with their arms around one another, no one of whom
could stand alone.” A smelter company in Trail, British Columbia,
was spewing poisonous sulphur across the border causing heavy
damages; Canada must get moving on compensation.
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Roosevelt wanted a trade requirement reducing the high Canadian
barriers. It was to be part of an American free-trade push the world
over. But the State Department warned against feeding the Bennett
ego by negotiating the first agreement with Canada: “Mr. Bennett
would in such circumstances be in a position to say to the people of
Canada that he had brought the United States to its knees by tariff
retaliation and forced us to sign a trade agreement.”3

As it turned out the two men came to an agreement in principle to
work toward a trade treaty. Bennett, the New Brunswick lawyer who
had campaigned strenuously against reciprocity in winning a seat in
Parliament in 1911, was now steering his government toward such a
path. He found Roosevelt to be “kindness itsell.” The president
ordered tea for two and as the delicate fragrance'of Washington’s pink
cherry blossoms drifted by the sun-spanked White House columns
toward them, the two leaders discussed, as Grattan O’Leary put it,
“the hundred and one things the two countries have in common.”
Several world leaders were in town that April week taking part in a
World Economic Conterence. But Roosevelt made sure Bennett
received priority treatment. As the prime minister was headed for an
embassy reception one day, Roosevelt turned to him and said: “Ben-
nett, where are you lunching?...I wish you would stay here and have
a bite with me.”

Bennett did, and by the end of the trip he was motivated to tell a
national radio audience in the United States that Roosevelt was a
man of “wide vision, unselfish purpose, steady courage and sincerity,
rare patience and determination.”

But no one expected that Bennett would become so taken by the
man and his policies that he would undergo a political reincarnation.

Herridge was the catalyst. Beginning with Vincent Massey, the
prime ministers would have a series of illustrious men representing
them in Washington, but none would be so close to the prime
ministers or quite so influential as Herridge. In the words of Dean
Acheson, a future secretary of state who was then undersecretary of
the treasury, Herridge was one of the ablest and most popular diplo-
mats the United States ever received: “The first central and all
important fact about Herridge was his vitality. It poured out of
him.... Whatever he did was done with verve and often with a good
deal of noise. To be with him was to be alive, to be moving, to be
breathless.”
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The New Deal, Roosevelt’s massive use of federal planning and
government programs to relieve unemployment and the plight of the
farmer and businessman, began in the spring of 1933. By the fall,
Herridge, the master salesman, was trying to pawn a facsimile off on
Bennett. The Roosevelt program, Herridge felt, was more bull than
butter, but the important fact was that the public was buying it.

“This New Deal,” he wrote the prime minister early in his hard sell
campaign, ““is a sort of Pandora’s box from which, at suitable intervals,
the President has pulled the N.R.A. (National Recovery Act) and the
AAA. (Agricultural Adjustment Administration) and a lot of other
mysterious things. Most of the people never understood the N.R.A. or
the A.A.A. any more than they understood the signs of the Zodiac,
but that did not matter much; they were all part of the New Deal and
the New Deal meant recovery because the President had so
promised.. ..

“We need a Pandora’s box,” he continued. “We need some means
by which the people can be persuaded that they have a New Deal,
and that the New Deal will do everything for them in fact which the
New Deal here has done in fancy. ...

“It has been said that on March 4, 1933, President Roosevelt was
given a national instrument of extreme sensitivity upon which to play.
It has been argued that we cannot reasonably conceive of a parallel
situation in Canada, and that, at any rate, none such exists. I do not
know how much truth there is in this, but I believe there is in Canada
today a situation which can be almost amazingly influenced by the
right treatment. I believe that the national heart at this time is highly
responsive and will incline with profound fervour to the right sort of
lead...

“That alone you can give.”

A young civil servant named Lester Pearson was also “intensely
interested” in Roosevelt’s New Deal. He watched as Herridge, in
several trips to Ottawa, put the pitch to Bennett: “I was on the
outskirts of those discussions, some of the most vigorous of which used
to take place at lunch in the cafeteria of the Chateau Laurier, which
became kind of a poor man’s Rideau Club, for threshing out radical
ideas for a Conservative Government in a deepening depression.”
He wrote a speech for Bennett that contained thoughts “‘more likely to
be popular with a socialist than a tory. I assumed that the Prime
Minister would drop or alter them but when I got on the train with
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him...I found that he had not had time to go over my draft.” To the
astonishment of party regulars and Pearson, Bennett gave the speech
almost as written.

The election of Liberal Mitch Hepburn in Ontario was further
evidence to Herridge that “old fashioned Toryism is dead.” In his
correspondence with Bennett he then became extraordinary: “We are
now the Progressive Party. And by God, we must keep on the move
until we find the answer to the question, ‘what’s wrong with Canada!’
This is your job and no one can take your place. It is indeed, a trust! If
we should let go now, Canada would sag back into a ‘slough’ which
would rot her. Ease the strain and we fall to pieces. Hand over to
inept, colourless and medieval leadership these fine people and they
will break and turn upon one another. The Destiny of Canada is up
for decision. And you are the judge.

“Deep down in your heart, you know that is the truth. And deep
down in my heart I know what your course will be...I believe
this—that you alone can save the day for Canada.”

Whether Bennett was going to ape his New Deal or not was of no
great matter to Roosevelt. What concerned him in respect to Canada
was the ‘Trail Smelter case and the St. Lawrence issue. He had
William Phillips, undersecretary of state, meet for ninety minutes
with Bennett in Ottawa over the pollution matter. Phillips won a
promise that the prime minister would try and jawbone the offending
company into behaving, But Bennett wanted the president to know
that the problem was not Ottawa’s fault. “I fully appreciate your
difficulties,”” he wrote Roosevelt, “It might be well however if the
residents and officials of the State of Washington would bear in mind
that any injury which they consider they have suffered is not due to
any act of the Canadian Government, but to the operations of a
corporation in the province of British Columbia over which the
Dominion as such has no jurisdiction.”

Don’t worry about the statement, Phillips told Roosevelt, it is “only
for the purposes of the record and should not, therefore, be taken too
seriously. He [Bennett] took the position that willy-nilly the Canadian
Government was saddled with the problem.” On the St. Lawrence,
the president had modifications made to the treaty, submitted it to the
Senate again, and the Senate rejected it again.

Finally, after hint upon hint throughout 1934, R. B. Bennett
succumbed to the influence of Herridge and made the desperate lunge
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to the left. To open the new year he announced the Bennett recovery
program. It called for a series of acts, some constitutionally assailable,
which would control prices, working hours and wages, provide
unemployment insurance, and provide greater oversight on banking
and marketing and mortgage foreclosures. It was a mini New Deal.

“If you believe that things should be left as they are,” Bennett
announced, “you and I hold contrary and irreconciliable views. I am
for reform. And, in my mind, reform means government intervention.
It means the end of laissez-faire. Reform heralds recovery. There can
be no permanent recovery without reform. Reform or no reform! I
raise the issue squarely. I nail the flag of progress to the masthead.”

The announcement engendered incredulity. Socialists such as J. S.
Woodsworth called the program a “deathbed conversion.” The
Montreal Gazelte asked: “Is Mr. Bennett endeavouring to humbug
himself or the people of Canada?” Liberal leader Mackenzie King,
truly disgusted, bolted to the attack, calling the program one part
unconstitutional, one part fascist and one part stolen [rom Grits of old.

In his diary he wrote: ‘It was really pathetic the absolute rot and
gush he talked —platitudes, unction and what-not, a mountebank
and a hypocrite. ... If the people will fall for that kind of thing there is
no saving them: they will deserve all they will get.”

King did not have to worry. The people were not as gullible as he
feared they might be. The belated attempt of R. B. Bennett to turn
himself into a Franklin Delano Roosevelt was a dismal failure. The
election result? Liberals—171 seats. Conservatives— 39,

CHAPTER NINE

The Best Bilateral Years:
Franklin Roosevelt and
Mackenzie King

PRIME MINISTER KING was in his bed in Ottawa when the vision
came to him. “It seemed to me the late spring or early summer. I was
sitting on the grass in the sunshine. President Roosevelt was seated
almost immediately opposite to me. A lady was standing nearhy
talking to both of us. The President had in his hand a new straw hat. It
had a narrow cord hanging from it and he played with it in his hands.
There was no band on it. The style was closely woven straw.”

The president threw his hat to the prime minister. “T placed it on
my head and, to my amazement, found that it fit me exactly. I said to
the lady nearby that I had thought the President’s head was much
larger than mine. I was surprised to see his hat was a perfect fit.”

As King awoke the vision was clearly etched in his mind. The need
for more sleep beckoned but so did the message of the dream. The
prime minister pulled himself out of bed. He took out a pencil. He
quickly wrote down what he had seen.!

What he had seen in Franklin Roosevelt was the good neighbour,
maybe the best neighbour. He saw a president whose head was never
too big for Canada or its crafty, sometimes neurotic, leader: a president
who took the continent’s two rival parts and did more than anyone to
make them partners.

Like William Howard Taft, Franklin Roosevelt came to know the
Dominion of Canada by spending time there, The year following his
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birth in 1882, his affluent parents purchased a summer residence. It
was on the small New Brunswick island of Campobello, which was
nine miles long and populated by less than one thousand people. The
breezes were cool in the summers and the blue Bay of Fundy waters
cold. The rambling cottage had comlortable balconies, porches,
hammocks, and big armchairs, around which the servants sorted the
books and magazines.

The Roosevelts spent all their summers on the island and Norman
Lank, a sailing instructor, took early notice of an eager youth named
Franklin. “When he was just a boy,” Lank said, “he could sail like a
man of fifty. I knew then there was something more than common in
him.”

Charting his boat, the Newe Moon, bird watching, and golf occupied
most of young Roosevelt’s holiday time. Like his cousin, Teddy, he
thrived on physical exertion. As well as being secretary and treasurer
of the local golf club at the early age of eighteen, he acted as its
greenskeeper, rebuilding tees and putting surfaces. Politics was the
subject for the folks who gathered beside the sagging wooden benches
outside the general store. Franklin frequently joined in and was there
to hear some blistering debates over the Laurier-Taft reciprocity deal.

As his political career took shape, as he moved from New York state
senator to under secretary of the Navy, he cherished the Campobello
breaks, and in the summer of 1921 he was particularly anxious to get
away from the Washington cauldron. A Senate committee investigat-
ing homosexuality in the Navy had put him through a messy, gruelling
few days, charging that he had knowingly allowed service investiga-
tors, or “fairy chasers’ as they were called, to act as agent provocateurs
in catching homosexuals.

Unnerved and exhausted, Roosevelt reached Campobello after
captaining a yacht for too many hours through fog-bound Fundy
waters. The next day he was fishing in the hot sunshine when the
accident took place. ‘I baited hooks, alternating between the fore and
the aft cockpits of the motor-tender, crossing beside the hot engine on
a three inch varnished plank. I slipped —overboard. I'd never felt
anything so cold as that water. I hardly went under, hardly wet my
head, because I still had hold of the side of the tender, but the water
was so cold it seemed paralyzing. This must have been the icy shock in
comparison to the heat of the August sun and the tender’s engine.”

He did not feel right the rest of the day or the next morning. But
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rather than rest, he ran, he swam, and fought a forest fire on a nearby
island. The fight took many hours. Roosevelt chopped down evergreen
branches for himself and his children and they thrashed away at the
flames. “Our eyes were bleary with smoke; we were begrimed, smart-
ing with spark-burns, exhausted,” he said. Back at the cottage, the
“glow’ he normally felt after a hard day’s work was missing. He took
his mail and a few newspapers, and “sat reading for a while, too tired
even to dress.” It “never felt quite that way before.” He went to bed,
thinking he had a slight case of lumbago. But as he tried to get up in
the morning, his left leg lagged. ‘It refused to work,” then the other
leg felt laggard and it, too, refused to work. His temperature shot to
102°F, His wife, Eleanor, sent for Doctor E. H. Bennett, an old friend.
No more than a bad cold, said Bennett. Next day, Roosevelt couldn’t
move either leg. His hands were so weak he could barely write. He felt
paralyzed from the chest down. A specialist came to the island,
diagnosed a blood clot in the lower spinal column, prescribed heavy
massaging, predicted recovery, went home, and sent in a bill for six
hundred dollars.

Recovery didn’t come. Roosevelt remained in bed, got his massages
and felt worse. His spirits blackened. He felt God had abandoned
him. Finally, two weeks after the fall from the boat, a Boston doctor
specializing in a relatively unknown disease called poliomyelitis
arrived. He informed the thirty-nine-year-old Roosevelt that he had
it. He said it was not an overly serious case and complete recovery was
a possibility.?

Roosevelt lay on the Canadian island, immobilized, for another
two weeks. The pain was agonizing. It was in his back, in his arms and
in his bladder which was paralyzed and had to be regularly
catheterized.

The public was sheltered from the news. Reporters inquiring on
Campobello were told he would be all right. In early September,
about a month after the illness occurred, the Roosevelts stealthily had
him removed from the island to New York city where the press was
told he had temporarily lost the use of his legs below the knees but that
there would be no permanent injury. At this point Rosevelt had
already determined that he was not about to let the disease destroy his
political career. When the New York Times carried a front-page story
saying he would recover, Roosevelt wittily wrote Adolph Ochs, the
publisher: “While the doctors were unanimous in telling me that the
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attack was very mild and that I was not going to suffer any permanent
attacks from it, I had, of course, the usual dark suspicion that they
just saying nice things to make me feel good. But now that I have
seen the statement officially made in the New York Times I feel
immensely relieved because I know, of course, it must be s0.”*3

That September, when he left Campobello on a stretcher, was the
last time Roosevelt would see his beloved Canadian summer home for
(welve years. He simply did not wish to return. When he finally did,
on June 30, 1933, he was president. “Memories of Campobello,” said
his son Elliott, “had been too painful, I believe, until this day. He
decided that this was the time to exorcise the memory.”

The emotional return of FDR to Campobello, marking only the
second visit of a sitting president, was not without a specal drama. As
he did in 1921, Roosevelt had to pass through foggy waters to get to
the island and, as before, he took control of the yacht himself. Visibility
was 5o impaired this time that it was feared his boat would not be able
to pass through Rogue’s Bluff, off the Maine Coast, and that the
homecoming would have to be cancelled or, worse, that the yacht
would crash.

Eleanor Roosevelt waited on the island with concern. There had
been no word from the presidential party. Residents and visitors,
clustered at the dockside, worried a little, but were mostly optimistic.
“Franklin will be here,” someone would say, “he won’t let us down.”
Slowly the fog began to lift and the doubts lifted with it. When word
came that the presidential party was only fifteen miles away, tiny
campobello grew excited. The fisherfolk were in their Sunday best;
the children waved flags and pennants; the anxious old friends of the
president told stories while waiting to clasp his hand: the well-to-do
summer residents, very much “Park Avenue” on this day, readied
their cameras.

Since it was not an official visit, no Canadian government represen-
tatives were present. But practically everyone on the island was there
and, from the site where polio had seized him, the welcome was
gousing and genuine. “We well remember,”’ said John Calder, a local
llicial, in greeting Roosevelt, “the young man who roamed our
shores, fished our streams and battled with Old Fundy’s tides in his
fitile sail boat.”

T'he president looked back: *‘I was brought here first because I was
geething, 49 years ago. From that time on I came every summer until
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12 years ago. ... When we came out of the fog at West Quoddy today
the boys said there was land all ahead. T started full speed ahead
because I knew it was Luebec Narrows. That is one of the things
Captain Lank taught me here when I was a youth.”

The welcome was “the finest example that could be given of
permanent friendship between nations. I am glad that Norman Davis,
our official delegate to the disarmament conference, is with me,” said
Roosevelt. “Now he can go back to Geneva and tell them what a
border without fortifications means between two great nations.”

Roosevelt spent much of the weekend with old Canadian friends.
He boasted to Captain Lank about the crack American fishing
schooner, the Gertrude Thébaud, adding that he had a large, framed
picture of it. “We got better ships than that in Canada,” said Lank.
The captain presented him with a picture of the Bluenose and Roosevelt
said he would put it in his study alongside the Thébaud. Chesley
Allingham, the proprietor of the general store, was called in and he
and Roosevelt reminisced about the store-front debates.

“T’ll be back next summer,” said the president on leaving. He took
away many fond memories but also a dreadful cold which lingered for
a week. He left behind a most gratified island population, a group of
Canadians who sensed, although he was just four months into office,
that this man was not an average president. “There is every promise,”
the Saint John Telegraph- Journal rhapsodized during his stay, “that he
will occupy a place in his country’s gallery of the greatest, alongside
Washington and Lincoln. The phenomena of the last few months are
as yet barely apprehended.”

The popularity of the president was not a fact that would escape
Mackenzie King at this time or at any time during the thirteen-year
stewardship of FDR. After he won re-election in October, 1935, it
took only one day before King was at the door of Norman Armour,
the American minister to Ottawa, asking for an audience with the
president. Specifically, he wanted to open negotiations for a new
liberalized trade agreement which would help alleviate the depression.
He was prepared to go to Washington right away, he told Armour. He
explained how he thought Canada, in future, could be of great use as
an intermediary between the United States and Great Britain, He
wanted to have far closer relations with the United States than had
past Canadian governments. “I am not in favor of annexation,” he
told the minister, as if' it was still considered a viable option. “I don’t
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think that would be good for either country. Certainly you have
enough troubles of your own without wanting to add us to them.” But
closer economic and political cooperation was vital, he said, and the
trade agreement was the place to start. The prospect of Canada and
the United States proclaiming a trade agreement within a few weeks,
while Britain looked helplessly on, “seemed to give him almost mali-
cious pleasure,” Armour recalled.

Two weeks later, King was in Washington and it was here, during
the first of eighteen visits, that the friendship began. The two leaders
had one big thing in common. They were Harvard men. King
attended the illustrious institution at the close of the nineteenth
century, Roosevelt at the beginning of the twentieth. Although their
frequent future references would make it sound like they were class-
mates, they never met as students. They met at Harvard only once,
during the war, when King was there to receive an honourary degree
and Roosevelt was a member of the board of overseers. That was the
only in-person contact prior to 1935. In 1929 King, as prime minister,
had communicated by letter with Roosevelt, then governor of New
York but it was a rebuff. Roosevelt had written, saying he would like
to stop by and discuss the St. Lawrence Seaway proposal. King said
no: “The leader of the Opposition and the conservative press... assert
that I am prepared if need be to sacrifice Canadian interests. ... Any
act on my part which in any way is capable as being construed as one
having a bearing upon the existing controversy is bound to be misin-
terpreted and magnified out of all proportion.”

Before the visit advisors had told Roosevelt about King's nature.
“Inclined far more to play the game with us,”
“Inclined to indulge in poetic licence,”

was one description.
was another. King’s “pet
idea,” as they put it, was to nourish Canada’s role as the go-between
on U.S.-British relations.* There were no references to the bizarre
underside of the prime minister—to his trust in his dog Pat, his
contact with the spirits, his omnipresent superstitions, and to his
excessive lust for being among the world’s greats. These aspects of his
makeup were well sheltered. The only reference to anything odd
about the man was a statement in a memo that on reaching Washing-
ton he requires a day’s rest period before feeling capable of doing
business properly.

It was during his rest period before the first session with FDR that
another vision came to King. This one featured him and the president
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driving golf balls around a White House room. Two others were
present, and Roosevelt was more interested in watching them thanin
playing himself. As for the prime minister: “I was feeling a little
reticent about not having played the game before, but prepared to

join in.”

The significance of this vision for King was that in the game of
public life, he and Roosevelt should see primarily to their figurehead
roles while letting the experts in the game take care of the details. Tt
was a lesson that neither would heed.

On meeting, the president and the prime minister went on at
length about their Harvard days and forever after, Roosevelt, in
alluding to King, would almost always draw the link, sometimes
going so far as to suggest they were teenage buddies. (“*As you know,”’
he wrote Australian Prime Minister John Curtin, “I have been close
to Mackenzie King almost since we were boys.” Had he been so close
he would have known that no one called the prime minister by the
first name ‘“Mackenzie.””) After the chat, the president wanted to
exercise his afflicted limbs with a swim in the White House pool. He
invited the prime minister to come along. But as King would do
virtually every other time he was asked swimming, he declined. This
time it was because he was tired, in need of yet more rest. Eleanor,
who spoke admiringly of Quebec’s Gaspé peninsula, showed King to
his room, pointing out that it was the one in which Lincoln signed the
proclamation for the emancipation of the slaves. King was shaving
when Roosevelt's son, home from Harvard for a couple ol days, came
in for a bath. Talking to him, King found it all quite extraordinary. “It
recalled to my mind the circumstances of the descendants of Wolfe
and Montcalm becoming acquainted in a bathroom at the Chateau
Frontenac about three hundred years after.”

After dinner, Roosevelt gave a toast. “Having an old friend here
and one who comes from a neighboring friendly country, I should like
to propose the health of the sovereign, King George,” he said. “We
all rose and drank to the King’s health,”” Prime Minister King noted.
“When one recalls that the United States was lost to England, and to
one of the Georges, with Washington the leader of the struggle for
American independence, it was a rather striking circumstance that
another King George’s health should be proposed, the occasion being
what it was.”

Following a White House movie, Roosevelt asked King and Secre-
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tary of State Cordell Hull to join him in a room off the hall. The
ent, as King recorded, “was assisted to his seat on the sofa by an
attendant and when sitting down, knocked over the ashtray. Both his
lower limbs are between steel supports. He manages pretty well with a
cane but it is with the greatest difficulty that he gets up and down.”

On the couch, Roosevelt beckoned, “‘come and sit here, Prime
Minister.” He meant next to him on his right side. Always when they
spoke, the president would want King in that same place. But King,
1g uncomfortable, would frequently get up and move to a chair
directly across from him. He never realized until the end that Roose-
velt only had one good ear—the right one.

T'he conversation opened with Secretary Hull holding forth on
what a great smoker he had been until his tonsils were removed,
compelling him to give it up. Having talked about so many other
subjects, King was anxious to get on to trade. When FDR was
interrupted by the telephone, King asked Hull if it would be wise to
start in on it, Hull advised patience, but when Roasevelt finished, he
dd the trade subject himself. The three then entered into a long
detailed discussion about cream, lumber, potatoes, and cattle. Roose-
velt knew the particulars of trade in respect to them all and King

realized then that here was a man who could golf his own way around
o roornm.

An agreement for reciprocal trade had eluded all presidents and
prime ministers since Confederation. The last pact was the treaty of
1854 which was abrogated in 1866. The years of trying had brought
years of turmoil. King himself had found his 1930 re-election chances
badly weakened by the record-breaking Smoot-Hawley tarifl of the
same year. Bennett had tried unsuccessfully for a tariff agreement
with Roosevelt to bolster his 1935 election bid but couldn’t pull one
ofl. Smoot-Hawley, in combination with the depression, had sent
bilateral trade spiralling downward to the point where by 1934 it was
only one third of the 1928 level. Both sides realized that increased
trade would mean increased prosperity. Roosevelt wanted an agree-
ment, Hull was an ardent free-trade advocate, and in Ottawa, the
cd States had a much respected representative who was convinced

that the time was critical. Go now, Norman Armour advised the
White House in a significant memorandum, or Canada would be
lorever drawn into the British orbit: “Is it not vitally important for our
political future that we have next to us a Canada interested in

—s———
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developing her trade with the United States, interested in supporting
our policies in regard to Latin America, possibly as a member ofa Pan
American Union, the Far East and elsewhere, and feeling that in a
thousand and one ways they are bound to us in practical things even
though sentimentally and politically they are part of the British
Empire?”

High tarifls, he argued, were leading to the Canadian development
of competitive products and industries: “It does scem to me inevitable
that this development should continue to such an extent that Canada,
equipped with low-priced French-Canadian and other labor, may
become before long our most intensive competitor abroad in many
spheres of agriculture and mdustry.

“There is still time, while the Canadian economy is in a formative
stage, to shift the impetus away from highly competitive production to
complementary production.”

This memo was to William Phillips, the undersecretary of state.
Arguing that it would be a “real tragedy’ if the opportunity was not
grasped now, Armour asked forgiveness for being so personal and
pleading in his remarks.5

Concluding the long discussion with King on the trade commodi-
ties, the president then said to him: “Mr. King, all these three, cattle,
cream and potatoes are political. If the campaign were over, I would
feel we would have no difficulty with regard to them.” He was
referring to his own 1936 re-election campaign. King, who knew
American politics, was prepared for such a line of argument. His
strategy was to seal the deal that very weekend so that the question
would not ride unsettled into the election campaign. He felt an added
lure was the fact that it was Armistice Day weekend. If the agreement
was reached on the Monday holiday, he told the president, it could be
a lesson for the world. He described his argument in his diary: “If we
could give to the world an object lesson of the new world developing
the arts of peace, while the old world was bent on destruction, it might
be the means of changing the whole world situation....It would
certainly point the way to the breaking down of the false doctrines of
economic nationalism, which were the main cause of war.”

Roosevelt loved the Armistice Day symbolism. ““That would be a
great stroke,” he said. Plans were made to have the respective stafls
sort out the fine points over the following two days, Saturday and
Sunday. King, delighted, did not want to keep the president up any
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longer. It was almost midnight but Roosevelt stretched the conversa-
tion for another forty-five minutes. In the morning, the prime minister
felt sufficiently unabashed to produce a copy of his book, Industry and
Humanity, but Roosevelt surprised him saying he already owned a
copy and knew it well. He had a secretary bring it in so that King
could sign it. King could hardly have been more impressed. i

That day, Roosevelt met with his cabinet and told them he was
negotiating a treaty with King that was distinctly to the advantage of
the United States. He later ordered all cabinet secretaries to attend
the signing. Most did so willingly except for the woman member,
Labor Secretary Frances Perkins, who wouldn’t stop talking through-
out the ceremony, greatly annoying colleagues like Harold Ickes SM::
her criticisms. “I hope,” said Roosevelt, in making the Armistice Day
announcement, “‘that this good example will reach around the world
some day, for the power of good example is the strongest force in the
world. It surpasses preachments; it excels good resolutions; it is far
better than agreements unfulfilled.”

King was in wonderland. In his diary he said the treaty was “the
greatest political achievement of my life and one of the greatest of this
continent in a century or more.” He sent the first of many absolutely
fawning letters to Roosevelt: “May I say that no visit anywhere, at
any time, has left memories which will be longer cherished.... May I
add how delighted I was to renew with yourself an acquaintance
having so memorable an association with Harvard University, and to
have it grow into what T hope you will permit me to believe is a very
real friendship.”

Roosevelt didn’t respond to the adulatory missive for almost five
months. “When you get to know me better you will come to under-
stand that though my letters are few and far between, my heart is in
the right place,” he finally replied. The Republicans, as FDR sus-
pected, tried using the treaty against him in the campaign of 1936.
Hoover mocked the pact, saying that the more abundant life Roosevelt
promised Americans was apparently to be provided by Canadians.
But Roosevelt was confident at the time of the King letter that the
worst was over. “In a sense,” he wrote him, “we both took our
political lives in our own hands in a good cause and I am very happy
to think the result has proven so successful.”

With just one meeting King had been able to secure a major trade
agreement that had eluded all predecessors, and establish a form of
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rapport with a president that had never happened before. Roosevelt’s
personal connection with Canada was an advantage, as was the
Harvard connection. The shared ideals of the two men were a factor.
And the climate of war, and eventually the war itself, was something
that almost compelled cooperation.

To the men who were around King through the Roosevelt years
there were many reasons for the forging of such a splendid partnership.
To Jack Pickersgill, who worked for King, “Roosevelt had so few
people around he could talk to who didn’t have an axe to grind,” and
King was one. “He liked to have King around to bounce his problems
off him.”? It seemed to Liberal Paul Martin that Roosevelt took King
under his wing because the prime minister was an exceptional veteran
statesman and political leader whose advice was very valuable.® To
James Reston of the New York Times. it seemed a case of Roosevelt
marvelling at the vast potential of the grand land to the north and
wanting to be as close to it and its leader as possible.?

And, as Mackenzie King was to find out during his next meeting
with the president, Roosevelt admired him because of his early
background, his writing, and his education. While Roosevelt was off
speaking to the governor-general, an associate who had talked to the
president told King that Roosevelt was impressed because King was
“about the only one left of the university men who had held on to
politics as a career and kept his place with the people—a man of
education who continued to command their confidence.”

The meeting, in Quebec City in July 1936, marked the first time a
president and prime minister met one another in Canada. Roosevelt
wanted to see his good friend, Governor-General Lord Tweedsmuir,
he wanted to further his relationship with King, he was in an election
campaign and a Canada visit wouldn’t hurt. As King put it, there was
also the hope that a further display of friendship might have a
“quieting effect upon the situation in Europe where international
friendliness and goodwill seem to have lost their footing altogether.™

As the president’s train pulled in at 9:30 AM. King observed a
“fairly tired man and one who had been through a bit of brutal
battering. Soon his face broke with a smile, and the dark or sombre
expression was lost in the radiant one—he is very brown. It is quite
amazing how he manages with his infirmity. His son, James, at his
side, was a fine picture of filial devotion.”

The reason for Roosevelt'ssuccess? “I think the President is reaching
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the people more through his infirmity, his determination of will, and
with family scenes—than in any other way.”

A weather-perfect visit, crowded with homilies about the unde-
fended border and so on, it excited the prime minister because he was
c.mmm::_.:m to feel a harmony with Roosevelt. “How completely his
views are in accord with my own,” he would soon record. “Anyone
can sce by reading my Industry and Humanity, the whole Roosevelt
program is there.” He was smart enough to attempt to learn from the
chief executive. When Roosevelt was preoccupied, he badgered his
advisers about their man’s modus operandi: “It is clear to me his
methods and point of view are not unlike my own re preparation of
speeches and correspondence but he has an infinitely better organiza-
tion and has an infinitely better capacity to delegate work and to take
off time from work completely.”

In conversation Roosevelt recalled that several senators had recently
asked him what he would do if Japan attacked British Columbia. The
U.S. forces would move in to prevent Japan from getting a foothold,
he replied. Someone then asked, well what would he do if’ Japan
attacked Australia? “Australia is a hell of a long way off,”” Roosevelt
said.

In his public remarks, Roosevelt inaugurated the practice of the
presidents saying some words in French, a practice that brought grief
to many. Roosevelt carried it off splendidly, however, his staffsupply-
ing him with a long memo when he got home on the excellent press
and public reaction to it.

Somehow, Prime Minister King was led to believe that these nice
meetings with Roosevelt would have a healing effect on the acrimo-
nious spirit of war-bound Europe. “It was all just as wonderfully
beautiful as it possibly could be,” he noted in the diary. “One kept
continually contrasting in one’s mind the condition of Europe—the
fear and hate there and thé confidence and goodwill here. T think the
proceedings will do great good, are bound to have an effect in
Europe...I believe my speech will help in all this. It is a means of
attacking the problem of international strife and unrest from the
Christian side with Christian methods because of reason and
understanding.”

Somehow too, King was led to believe that the president would
likely be assassinated: “It is a truly horrible and contemptible cam-
paign and he is a courageous man to face it all, doubly so with his

physical condition. ... It will be a miracle il he es apes assassination, If
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he should be assassinated, it would mean instant civil war in the
U.S. —Spain over again.”

The relationship between the two men became close and personal
when they met in March 1937 at the White House. It was on this
occasion that King read to Roosevelt in bed, shared with him private
thoughts, and advised him on a number of issues. With Europe on the
verge of conflict, Roosevelt was trying to organize a world peace
conference in the United States, but was having his doubts about such
aventure. King laid out a plan whereby the conference could be held
in Geneva in conjunction with a League of Nations gathering. Roose-
velt asked for more details and King came to his bedside the next
morning with a written plan. Very excited about this development,
King attributed it all to guidance from above: “This I am sure is
divine planning of things working together for good by unseen spiritual
forces.”” His mission, he believed, was “a holy one, that God’s spirit
was guiding—that Christ’s purpose was being fulfilled, that I was
acting as an agent to help fulfill his Holy will.” Roosevelt was under
one of the most stinging attacks of his career because of his ill-advised
attempt to change the rules governing Supreme Court appointments
so that he could get a court more amenable to his New Deal legislation.
He was lying down, reading the bad reviews in the morning papers.
The prime minister told him that his policies were Christian, and “the
world would find Christianity was a virile thing.”” He complimented
Roosevelt on his moves toward world peace. The president told King
he had helped take his mind off other things and the prime minister
“left with the President urging me to be careful about my health, 1
doing the same to him, each with a wave of the hand to the other —like
brothers.”

One of the subjects discussed during the visit was the readiness of
Canada to defend itself. It was a short discussion. King suggested that
many of his countrymen seemed to think that the Monroe Doctrine
was sufficient protection for Canada and that Ottawa therefore didn’t
have to worry about defence preparations. He added that no self-
respecting government could countenance such a view. The president
quickly got down to the basics of the situation. His demands were not
great. “What we would like would be for Canada to have a few patrol
boats on the Pacific Coast.”’ ! Don’t worry about the Atlantic, he said,
leading King to assume that Washington and Britain could protect
him there.

Earlier in the evening when other guests were present “the President
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siidd inajoking way that he and 1 were g

whether 1 should give him the maritime provinces, or
uld give Canada Maine and Vermont; he was quite evidently
at the part of Ame ica which had gone against him.
in King he did not have a drinking

9

I'he ident, sensing
mate, explained to him that the reason he drank was because of his
polio. His feet often became cold and in order to keep the blood
circulating down there, doctors had recommended pre-dinner cock-
tails. Then he told King his view of the King Edward-Wallis Simpson
affair. He hoped Mrs. Simpson would make a good wife, but knew her
type. “In a few years, she would become pretty plain looking and be a
different person.” The conversation was another during which King
was not aware of Roosevelt’s hearing disability. The president, as
usual, had him sit on the same sofa by his right side. But King soon
moved, thinking he was being considerate. Some of the ideas
exchanged were ones which would have made the press shudder.
With respect to the advent of radio, the prime minister said that
governments could not afford to turn over to private organizations the
control of what was being said over the air. Roosevelt agreed entirely.

Already, the personal nature of the diplomacy between the two was
beginning to aggravate other politicians and the press. King was so
c-mouthed after his summits that White House reporters, in their
frustration, concocted a thyme: “William Lyon Mackenzie King—
Never tells us a goddam thing.” They sang it often, and FDR passed
the news of it along to the prime minister. The two of them wanted to
get together again in 1937, but King wrote to Roosevelt suggesting
that perhaps too many suspicions were being generated: “I expect to
be told, as soon as the debates of the session begin, that all kinds of
deals with respect to trade between Great Britain and the United
States, the St. Lawrence Waterways and the export of power and
much else have been made between the two of us, and that already in
some mysterious way we have tied the hands of the members of
Congress in the United States and the members of Parliament in
Canada.” But “no one except yourself,” King added, “knows better
than I do how much in the interests of both countries it is that you and
I should have frequent opportunities to talk together.”

Roosevelt was of the same mind. “It was father’s hope,” wrote son
Elliott, “that the day would come when he and Mackenzie could
‘drop in and visit’ with each other as casually as members of the same

¢

family.”
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The British High Commissioners, 1871. Standing, left to right: Lord Tenterden, Sir John
A. Macdonald, Montague Bernard. Seated, left to right: Sir Stafford Northcote, Earl de
Grey & Ripon, Sir Edward Thornton. (Public Archives of Canada.)
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Sir Wilfrid Laurier at Red Deer, Alberta, 1910. (Capital Press Service.)
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Warren Harding on his way to Vancouver, B.C.,
1923. (United Press International.)
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Truman shares a joke with (left 1o right)
Mackenzie King, and (right)
Seigniory Club at Montebello,

Ray Atherton, U.S, ambassador to Canada,
Stall’ Sargeant C. W, Graham, during a visit 1o the
Quebec, June 1947, (Public Archives ol Ganada.)
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Laurent in Washington, 1949, (Wide World Photas.)

Qor: Diefenbaker with Eisenhower and Secretary of State John Foster Dulles in
Ottawa, 1958. (Wide World Photos.)
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Kennedy during the tree planting where he wrenched his back, 1961.
(Canadian Press

John F. Kennedy arriving in Ottawa, 1961, (Wide World Photos.)
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Reception at the U.S. embassy at the close of Kennedy’s 1961 visit. From left: Kennedy, Governor-

General George Vanier, Jacqueline Kennedy, Mrs. Vanier, John Diefenbaker, and Olive Diefen-

Kennedy addressing a joint sessi m.m.. li 3 .
(Wide World Photos.) ST D e T baker. (Wide World Photos.)
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Pearson and Johnson at the Camp
David meeting where Johnson
rebuked the prime minister for
his speech on Vietnam, 1965.
(Wide World Photos.)
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Reagan addressing Parliament in Ottawa, March 12, 1981.
(United Press Canada.)
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A casual drop-in was made by Roosevelt at Queen’s University in
August of 1938 and a casual remark was made. At least he considered
it a casual remark. “I give to you the assurance,” he told a large crowd
in the football stadium, “that the people of the United States will not

stand idly by if domination of Canadian soil is threatened by any

other empire.”
The statement, to his great surprise, became a landmark one in
:anada-U.S. relations as it was considered the first defence commit-
ment of the United States to its neighbour. “What I said at Queen’s
was so obvious,” FDR wrote Tweedsmuir, “that I cannot quite

understand why some American President did not say it hall a

51

century ago.” A similar commitment, though not heralded by the
press as such, had been given by Secretary of State Knox twenty-seven
years earlier. A few days later, King reciprocated Roosevelt the best
he could by pledging that hostile powers would not be allowed to base
operations against the United States from Canada. In his diary he
made reference to the Roosevelt commitment but gave equal promi-
nence to the fact that Roosevelt alluded to “our both being from
Harvard, using, in this connection, the expression ‘Mackenzie King
and myself.””

The next time they met, King, always sensitive to the political
value of the association, announced that it was no exaggeration to say
that “the relations between the United States and Canada have never
been happier than in the three years that have elapsed since
November, 1935.”” The occasion was the reaflirmation and the exten-
sion of the 1935 trade agreement. The health of the president, of great
concern to King since he met him, jolted the prime minister. Roosevelt
had lost many, many pounds, his eyes were terribly weary, and King
was frank with him in saying how poorly he looked and how he wished
he would get some rest. After a long series of meetings, Roosevelt told
King he had arranged for them to dine alone. This was something the
presidents and prime ministers rarely did. According to King, Roose-
velt told him that “*he liked this so much better, and could relax with
ey

A rumour spread at this time that the bachelor prime minister had
a greater interest in the White House than his relations with the
president. He was quite taken, reports said, with FDR’s social secre-
tary, Marguerite LeHand, or Missy as she was called. A tall, dignified,
> of the

n. In his

reasonably attractive woman, Missy was a personal fay

ally involved with |

president’s and believed to be roma
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diary account from the visit of November 1938, King refers to Missy
throwing him a kiss. “She is a very fine woman,”” he wrote, “I can see
what a great help she must be to the whole family.”

At the White House, though Eleanor could never understand what
her husband saw in him, the prime minister was gaining the status of a
close relative. At the State Department, where Cordell Hull was a
deep admirer of King’s, the same was true. “If I had belonged to the
department myself, I could not have met with more in the way of
recognition along the way,” said King. “Darkey messengers and
porters, as well as members of the staff, all seemed to know me.”

Hull, a Tennessean, an architect of Roosevelt’s Good Neighbor
policy, was so kind and benevolent that when listening to him King
got the feeling that ““he was just thinking out loud. Two or three times
however, to my surprise, he used the expression ‘Christ Almighty.””

FDR had confided to the prime minister that he did not intend on
seeking re-election in 1940, and that although he was hesitant because
of Hull's age (then sixty-nine), he wanted him to be the next president.
But Roosevelt did not personally broach the subject to Hull. He chose
as his intermediary in important internal American politics none
other than the prime minister of Canada.

On April 29, 1940, King told Hull that it was not really his business
but that “for the sake of the world,” he should run and become the
next president. He said that Mr. Roosevelt was looking to him to
succeed. Telling the secretary of his Canadian electoral successes,
King even offered advice on how he should run his campaign. Use
radio instead of travelling, he offered, and don’t hesitate to use a
picture of yourself with a dog. King felt posters of him and his mutt,
Pat, had been a substantial political plus. He said that he thought
“the people at this time would appreciate a campaign carried on in
that way in the U.S.” Hull doubted his capabilities in domestic affairs
and was reluctant considering his age but, as FDR chose to run again,
he never got a chance anyway.

He was delighted to hear from King that he was the president’s
choice. Then, and in the years to come, he invited the prime minister
to his apartment for informal lunches and dinners. His analysis of
King? “I found him a very serious-minded person, thoroughly agree-
able in his relations with others, philosophical, unpretentious and
sanely liberal. He possessed great vision and constructive ability. Not
an impassioned orator, he was nevertheless a fluent, forceful and
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captivating speaker. I never knew a more unselfish patriot or a man
who loved humanity more.”

The advantage of close ties with Washington for the Canadian
head of state was evidenced in the summer of 1939 when King George
VI was planning a historic visit with Roosevelt in the United States.
The prime minister, who would be seeing the king in Canada anyway,
really had no business being on the U.S. leg of his tour but there was
an opening for a minister-in-attendance. A Canadian election was
only months away, and coupled with his great yearning to be part of
historic occasions, King could use the wonderful shower of publicity
for political purposes. He knew that the British weren’t really con-
sidering him for the role, but realized that President Roosevelt might
have some input. “ITunderstand,” he wrote in a slyly worded letter to
FDR, “that before a final decision is reached by his Majesty as to who,
il anyone at all, is to accompany him as Minister or Ministers in
attendance, it is proposed to ascertain your own wishes and to be
guided by them.

“In these circumstances, it would, of course, not do for me to
express any opinion as to what may or may not be best from the point
of view of the United States.”” But, “I have thought I should let you
know at once that I shall be acting as Minister in attendance upon the
King throughout the period of his visit to Canada, and that nothing
would give me more pleasure than to accompany his Majesty in the
same capacity in the course of his visit to the United States.”

Roosevelt, against the stated wishes of London, lobbied strongly lor
King and won him the position. King George went so far as to
mention during the visit that initially he had someone else in mind.
“Mackenzie and I,”” Roosevelt told him, “know each other so well
that I was most anxious he should come.” For this trip, the president
even helped the prime minister with his appearance. King was a dour
dresser and with discretion, Roosevelt wrote: “If it is terrifically hot
can’t you discard that very good looking gray morning suit and light
gray hat and design for yourself a white naval uniform, with gold
maple leaves to denote Prime Minister rank?”’ Throughout the visit

Roosevelt, sensitive to the prime minister’s needs, sensitive to the
he would continue to need his support, made a point of secing (o it
that the Clanadian leader was right next to himself and King George
for all the well-photographed ceremonies.

Despite King George's initial coolness to his participation, Mac-
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kenzie King soon ingratiated himself, and it wasn’t long before the
two of them and Roosevelt were sharing gossip about such figures as
Winston Churchill. Roosevelt felt Churchill was one of the only
leaders who realized the magnitude of the problems ahead, but
unfortunately ““Churchill was tight most of the time.”” He said that
when Sumner Welles, his undersecretary of state, visited him, Chur-
chill drank whiskey throughout, then made a speech of an hour’s
length, at the end of which “he had become sober.” King George said
he wouldn’t wish to appoint Churchill to any high office unless it was
absolutely necessary in time of war. “I confess I am glad to hear him
say that,” the prime minister recorded, “because I think Churchill is
one of the most dangerous men [ have ever known.”” He described his
behaviour with Welles as shameful: “It is that arrogance and the
assumed superiority that some Englishmen have that have made so
many nations their enemies today.”

Although the king’s visit marked yet another successful outing for
the prime minister with the president, King still wasn't confident
enough to address Roosevelt by his first name. He opened a letter
following the occasion with his usual formality: “My Dear Mr.
President.” In his first sentence he said: ‘I almost wrote My Dear
Franklin, for so indeed I feel, but my Scotch reserve gets the better of
me.” With typical excess, the prime minister went on to say, in
describing the visit, that “nothing fraught with so great significance or
good has happened since the great schism of the Anglo-Saxon race.”
The only regrets were the consistency with which the “‘darkey waiters”
kept dropping trays of expensive china and, as he pointed out in the
letter, his failure to join the president and the king for a swim. When
FDR called for him to join in, King declined because he felt there
would he a big party of swimmers. He went off for a ride with Miss
LeHand and another gentleman. When later he heard that the swim
was an exclusive affair, he was upset for weeks. “I am afraid I missed
one of the great events of my life.”

His relationship with Roosevelt was not distinguished by harmony
alone. There were moments when the quality of the bond would be
put to tough testing, the worst clashes coming in the early stages of the
war. Roosevelt was clearly bothered by Canada’s inadequate defence,
saying it presented a danger to the United States. King said he was
doing his best but admitted the best wasn’t much. The slow nature of
British war preparations bothered Roosevelt more however, “Now [
will ask you something,” he said to King. ““You have Clanada, You get
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Australia and New Zealand and all of you put a burr on the tail of the
British. They are so slow about everything.” King agreed. “Well,
Mackenzie,” said Roosevelt, “if there is more trouble you will not
mind if I ring you up.” In an unnecessary gesture of politeness he
turned to Loring Christie, the Canadian ambassador in Washington:
“You will not mind if I go over your head and talk straight across the
phone to Mr. King.”!' But the next request of the president to the
prime minister did not come directly. In May, the Germans were
toppling France. England could be next and Roosevelt and Hull were
doubtful she could defend herself. The president told H. L. Keenley-
side, a Canadian External Affairs emissary, that he believed Hitler
might make an offer of settlement based on Britain relinquishing her
colonial empire and sea fleet in exchange for her salvation. Such
would make Germany superior in military power to the United
States. He gave Keenleyside instructions to relay to the prime minister:
Line up the Dominions to bring concerted pressure on England to
reject any soft peace and, before making any settlement, disperse her
fleet to the United States and the colonies so it would remain out of
German hands. Not only was King to orchestrate Dominion pressure
on London but also to personally notify Churchill of Roosevelt’s
wishes.

King was shocked. He had always promoted and enjoyed playing
the role of intermediary between the two big powers, but this was too
burdensome. Although he had often been accused of being anti-
British, and although he had even been referred to as “the American”
in the quiet corridors of diplomacy, he was thinking now that “the
1.5, was seeking to save itself at the expense of Great Britain,” and he
didn’t like it. “I instinctly revolted against such a thought,” he wrote
in his diary. “My reaction was that I would rather die than to do
aught to save ourselves or any part of this continent at the expense of
Britain.”

He sent Keenleyside back to Washington to make sure the instruc-
tions were perfectly clear, to make sure the president meant what he
had said. Yes, Keenleyside reported back, the message was to be
delivered to Churchill. In anguish, the prime minister decided to go
ahead with the assignment. He set about wording a letter that would
“appear to be from myself rather than from him [Roosevelt], while at
the same time taking care to see that it was wholly his point of view
that I was putting over and not my own.”

The key paragraph of his message read: “The United States cannot,
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it is considered, give immediate belligerent aid. If however Britain
and France could hold out for some months, aid could probably then
be given. If further resistance by the fleet in British waters became
impossible before such aid could be given, the President believes that,
having ultimate victory for the allies and the final defeat of the enemy
in view, it would be disastrous to surrender the fleet on any terms, that
it should be sent to South Africa, Australia, the Caribbean and
Canada....”

Churchill was affronted by the message. He shot back a telegram:
“We must be careful not to let Americans view too complacently
prospect of a British collapse, out of which they would get the British
flect and the guardianship of the British empire minus Great Britain. ...
Although President is our best friend, no practical help has [reached
us] from the United States as yet.” Then he asked King to do some
lobbying the other way: “Any pressure you can apply in this direction
would be invaluable.”

The prime minister, who instructed Keenleyside to provide the
news of the rebuke to Roosevelt, was becoming exasperated. His
finance minister, J. L. Ralston, found him working in his office at 2:00
A.M. one morning on another telegram. He told Ralston that he was
played out, finished, couldn’t carry the load and was on the point of
quitting. “Chief, you've got to go through,” Ralston told him. “The
despatch you are working on may mean victory.”

King satisfied himself that he was too indispensable to the world at
the time to consider stepping aside. The president and Mr. Hull were
his “intimate, personal friends,”” he told his Liberal party caucus. “If
they learned tomorrow that this government had gone and I had
ceased to be its leader, I do not know just what effect that would have
on all relations of confidence not only between Canada and the
United States but between the States and Britain.”

The danger to Britain meant danger to Canada and King was
compelled to brood upon the vulnerability of his country’s negligible
defences. There was Roosevelt’s informal Kingston pledge and other
casual assurances from the president that Washington would offer
protection, but there was no North American alliance as such, and
King wanted one, or something close to one. The way it came about
was classic King-Roosevelt.

In June of 1940, the prime minister had requested some low-level
talks, Roosevelt, concerned about preparations in the North Atlantic,
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told Canadian ambassador Christie on August 15 that he was thinking
of sending three officials to Ottawa for discussions. But there was no
urgency in his conversation and little indication that any breakthrough
was imminent.

At the time of the Christic conversation, the State Department
received a memo from its distinguished minister in Ottawa, J. Pierre-
pont Moflat. Canadian public opinion, he wrote, had gathered solidly
behind the need for a joint defence understanding with the United
States. “As a matter of practical politics the Prime Minister may
ultimately be forced to recognize the existence of this popular
demand.... The old fear that cooperation with the United States
would tend to weaken Canada’s ties with Britain has almost entirely
disappeared.”

The day after receiving the memo, and the day after the talk with
Christie, Roosevelt phoned King. He said he was on his way to
Ogdensburg, New York to inspect American forces and would like
King to meet him there: “We can talk over defense matters between
Canada and the U.S. together. I would like you tostay the night with
me in the car [railway] and on Sunday I am going to a Field Day
service at 11. We could attend it together.” 12

King met with his Defence Department officials, had a hair cut at
the Chateau Laurier, and arrived in Ogdensburg at the appointed
hour. Initially the president was preoccupied studying the first major
campaign speech of Republican opponent Wendell Wilkie, But he
then entered into a long discussion with King and War Secretary
Stimson on continental defence. The talks continued the next morning
whereupon the president took a sheet of paper and a pencil from a
basket. He began drafting the first defence pact between Cianada and
the United States, an agreement which marked the first accord
between the United States and a belligerent in the war, an agreement
signalling a changed destiny for Canada—from the cloak of the
Empire to the cloak of the continent. As custom with this president
and this prime minister would have it, the creation of the Permanent
Joint Board on Defense was an entirely personal venture. Neither the
Canadian cabinet, the U.S. cabinet, the Congress, nor Winston
Churchill were consulted about it.

When Roosevelt finished drafting the statement in the railway car
he read it aloud to King. Roosevelt used the word “commission.”
King said “board”” would be better. He questioned the president on
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the use of the word “permanent.” Roosevelt explained that it was
highly significant because the board was not just to be a response to
wartime emergency, but a lasting institution.

Feeling that a press conference was unnecessary, the president
called in an aide to get his script typed, had it mimeographed, and
in ten minutes copies were handed to reporters. Stimson said it was
a good day’s work. King thanked both men with typical extrava-
gance and remarked inaccurately on how Churchill would be so
impressed.

The British leader soon wired: “T am deeply interested in the
arrangements you are making for Canada and America’s mutual
defence. Here again there may be two opinions on some of the points
mentioned. Supposing Mr. Hitler cannot invade us and his Air Force
begins to blench under the strain, all these transactions will be judged
in a mood different to that prevailing while the issue still hangs in the
balance.”

But in Canada where it mattered most for King, the agreement was
widely praised. He commented in his diary at the time on what made
him and Roosevelt tick: “A certain boyish interest in simple things...a
thorough dislike of undue formality,” and a shared view that “the
really important things of life are very simple and that all that is
needed is good will and sincere intent to effect any great end.”

As King's rapport with the president developed, it did not bring
him greater security. The sychophantic nature of his approach to
Roosevelt only increased. After almost every meeting there would be
a King letter to the effect that it was one of the great experiences of his
life. After the signing of the Ogdensburg Agreement he may have
been a little out of form. In his letter to the president, he could do no
better than call it “one of the most far reaching agreements ever
reached on this or any other continent.” There were no references to
the great Anglo-Saxon schism.

But if the approach aggravated Roosevelt, he didn’t show it. The
enjoyment he derived from being with King and talking to him was
evidenced by his desire to have the prime minister join him on his
holidays. Early in 1941, Archibald MacLeish, the librarian of Con-
gress, was leaving the American minister’s residence in Ottawa when
King turned, came toward him, and “with a sudden and very real
warmth,” asked MacLeish to greet the president for him. “Give him
my love,” said King. MacLeish then wrote the president. “I have
never heard words spoken with more sincerity.”
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As soon as he got the MacLeish letter, Roosevelt wrote the prime
minister: “One of our mutual friends who saw you recently told me
that he thought you looked a wee bit tired and that it would do you
good to run down to the United States for a little while to ‘get your gas
tank refilled.’

«,..Istill hope to go to Warm Springs for a week or ten days starting
the end of March. It would be grand if you could come down there
again.”

King wanted to see Roosevelt, not only for rest, but to ask for
another favour. Canada was facing a balance-of-payments crisis.
Usually Ottawa had a trade deficit with the United States, but a
balancing surplus with Britain. With Britain at war however, London
was unable to meet its dollar payments for Canadian imports, leaving
the Ottawa treasury dangerously depleted. Ottawa mandarins had
failed for months to negotiate more favourable terms with the Ameri-
cans to make up the deficit and now Mackenzie King was about to do
it himself. As soon as he left for the president’s home at Hyde Park,
New York, he knew God was on his side because when he awakened
he noticed the two hands of the clock were on top of one another. King
got very excited whenever this happened. This time, he felt it was a
sign there was “‘a guiding hand in my mission.”

FDR at this time was extremely well disposed toward the Dominion.
In his 1940 election victory the French-Canadians on the eastern
seaboard, for the first time, went solidly for him. He was planning a
trip to Ottawa and agreed with the prime minister that he would
probably receive a rousing welcome. On meeting, the two men
congratulated each other on the wonderful jobs they’d done in respect
to relations on the continent. King was delighted because the president
didn’t have his economic experts with him, meaning that it would be
easier for the prime minister to sell the deal. Roosevelt, who invited
King into his “cubby hole” study for a shirt-sleeved talk, didn’t know
much about international economics. King explained the problem
and posed the solution—a Canada-U.S. defence production sharing
arrangement whereby the United States would purchase more war
supplies and munitions from Canada. Washington in turn would
simply supply them to the British under the lend-lease formula. This
way, Canada’s exchange problem could be solved.

Roosevelt thought it was “a swell idea.” He telephoned his treasury

‘secretary and gave him a synopsis. He took a copy of a draft of a

possible agreement that King had been cocky enough to prepare in
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advance and told his press secretary he could strike out the word
“draft” and use it for the real thing. King asked if they should not
have an official signing. “No, you don’t need to trouble about that,”
said the president. “But let me write on one.” In pencil, he scribbled
on the original: “Done by Mackenzie and F.D.R. on a grand Sunday
in April.”

The president insisted that the prime minister be the one to give out
the copies of the agreement to the press. King did so happily, climbed
into his train car and went to bed at once. But he got up a few minutes
later to see what he thought was the president sitting in his train car as
it rolled by. In his pyjamas and dressing gown, King dropped to his
knees to thank God for the marvellous day. But the excitement wasn’t
over yet. When he looked up at the clock, “the hands were absolutely
across each other at about six minutes to 11. It was almost as though
some one were speaking to me.”

In Washington, some technical officials were dubious about what
Roosevelt had signed. When King telephoned him one day he heard
the president shouting instructions: ‘““This is what I want done! Don’t
tell me why it can’t be done. Just do it!”

The Hyde Park Agreement, as it was called, was one of King’s
greatest successes. It removed the currency crisis, aided Canada’s
economy, helped in the country’s war effort, created a closer bilateral
economic climate, and it gave King more political bonus points
because the deal was clearly seen to be in Canada’s favour.

But it was not long after the master stroke that the always insecure
prime minister suffered his most tormenting episode in connection
with FDR. It had been his habit to have the occasional drink with the
president, but in 1941, he felt he owed it to his dog, Pat, to swear off the
stuff. During a follow-up visit to Hyde Park he had to turn down the
offer of a drink from the great president and for Mackenzie King it
was “one of the greatest struggles of my life...I do not recall a time
when I experienced more in the way of self-torture.”

He described what happened: “I had had in mind for months past
that when I came to pay this visit to the President that he would be
expecting me to have a drink with him...I had wrestled with myself
when little Pat passed away and made the vow I did then to give up
taking anything to drink. I kept it firmly in England with Churchill.

“...Just before I left to dress for dinner the president said to Princess
Juliana and myself, we will have a cocktail in my room before

A

THE BEST BILATERAL YEARS:... e 137

dinner—then to Princess Juliana— ‘you know Mackenzie King only
takes a drink when he comes to see me.””

Kingsaid at once, “You will have to let me off. I then explained that
before going to England I had sworn off, knowing how much sherry
and wine etc. was consumed there and that Churchill would want me
to drink with him as he did.”

Before dinner, cocktails were made and everyone stood around
drinking them except King. Later, he wrote of the occasion: “I would
have given anything for just one glass of wine or sherry as a cocktail
but I held out. Isaid to the President that I felt I was spoiling the party
and that I should not perhaps have made the resolution I did and
should make an exception. But the President said quite firmly, putting
up his hand —‘You must not.” It was as if some force or voice was
compelling him to speak.”

At dinner everyone continued drinking and King only had water,
although he would have preferred ginger ale. He then found it very
hard to talk and remember names, and felt that instead of easing the
president’s burden he was adding to it. After dinner he retired to his
bedroom and wrestled away the night:

“I was very restless, tearing my soul out wondering if T had made a
great mistake in binding myself the way I had, wondering if T had not
made relations between the President and myself more difficult for the
[uture, in other words, really injured relations instead of helping them
hetween our countries. ... At one time I had a queer sensation as if the
house had been bombed. I felt the house was being attacked and I felt
real fear, but decided to stay; curiously enough the bomb seemed to
me as if something had exploded in my own stomach. This was the
way the night lasted till dawn. : _

«,..1 thought then I should look at the clock for evidence to see if
someone was watching over me and if I was right.... To my delight
and comfort the hands of the clock were together.”

The anguish didn’t seem to register with President Roosevelt. In a
letter he told King the visit had been a joy and spoke again of how the
continent was blessed with fortune.

Meanwhile, the prime minister was having more visions. In one
dream, set near Queen’s Park in Toronto, he was walking with the
crippled Roosevelt who was using King as a support. The president
was getting tired, the city was getting crowded, and King couldn’t get
a taxi. He stuck the poor president on top of a newsbox, or something
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like one, and left him there, sitting on it. King proceeded into the hotel
to find a taxi but could only find a bunch of'selfish, rich people. They
were indifferent. They laughed at him and at what he told them.

The moral? Roosevelt was now “hard pressed, in a tight corner. ...
He had lost the sense of freedom which he had when we were together
prior to the entry of the U.S. into the war.”

U.S. officials complained in the early 1940s that, as Pierrepont
Moffat put it, “Things move very slowly in Mr. King’s mind.”!3
Moffat was lamenting Ottawa’s indecision in respect to playing a
more active role helping the democratic forces in Latin America. His
message about King’s lassitude was forwarded to Roosevelt who, in
an interestingly worded missive, tried to get the prime minister
moving.

“As you know,” he wrote King, “I have ‘hunches’—not always
good but sometimes accurate,

“This is for your information only. My present ‘hunch’ is that it
would help if Canada could take a great part in the struggle between
the forces of totalitarianism and the forces of democracy being waged
in Latin America. They use somewhat different weapons down
there—but it is a real fight.

“Canada can help.”

Among Roosevelt’s other hunches was one asserting that the terri-
tory known as Newfoundland was not fit for occupation. In a meeting
with King and Churchill, the British prime minister suggested that
with a military base there, the Americans might be considering taking
the island over. Roosevelt said there were some things he might like to
acquire but Newfoundland was not one of them. It was “‘suitable for
raising sheep,” he said.

The president continued with favours for King. When Canadian
troops landed with the Americans and the British on Sicily to begin a
new campaign, the British War Office prepared to announce that
only British units had arrived with General Eisenhower’s Americans.
His political fortunes depressed at the time, King was furious. His
solution was to telephone Roosevelt and tell him the Canadian people
were not going to tolerate being overlooked again. Roosevelt brought
out his bat once more and sent an order overseas stipulating that the
Canadians be included in the announcement.

In December 1942, King wanted a congratulatory letter from the
president on the third anniversary of the British Commonwealth Air
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Training Plan, a project in which Canada had played a large role. On
this occasion a peculiar short cut was taken. Neither Roosevelt nor
members of his staff knew much about the program or what to say in
such a message. Finally, a White House assistant, without informing
the State Department, approached the Canadian embassy for help.
His idea? — Why don’t you people write your own letter of congratu-
lations and we’ll have the president sign it? The embassy official
approached was Lester Pearson. He was somewhat shocked by the
absence of diplomatic propriety but agreed to it. On December 16, a
beautiful, laudatory letter, signed by the president but written by a
future Canadian prime minister was sent to the current prime
minister.

Pearson was at his descriptive heights: “May this great Air Training
Plan, which...has made Canada the aerodrome of democracy go
from strength to strength. May it continue to send into the skies
thousands of eager and courageous young fliers until the enemy is
swept from the air and lies crushed on earth beneath the ruins of his
own temple of tyranny.” The unknowing King was deeply thrilled.

Although Roosevelt’s interest in Canadian fliers were not engross-
ing, he and staflf members had considerable concern for the Quebec
problem and Canadian unity. Moffat was struck by the attitude of
English Canadians toward the French. “They do not so much hate
the French Canadians as despise them,” he wrote the president in
August 1942, The English are “increasingly talking of them as though
they weren’t even Canadians, merely a minority living in Canada.”

The president took time off from his war deliberations to compose a
lengthy letter to King on the French problem. His advice was to get
moving on the assimilation process: “When I was a boy in the nineties
I used to see a good many French Canadians who had rather recently
come into the New Bedford area near the old Delano place at Fair
Haven. They seemed very much out of place in what was still an old
New England community. They aggregated themselves in the mill
towns and had little to do with their neighbors. I can remember that
the old generation shook their heads and used to say, ‘this is a new
element which will never be assimilated. We are assimilating the Irish
but these Quebec people won’t even speak English. Their bodies are
here but their hearts and minds are in Quebec.””

Today, he said, they have been absorbed. “They no longer vote as
their churches and societies tell them to. They are inter-marrying
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with the original Anglo-Saxon stock: they are good peaceful citizens
and most of them are speaking English in their homes...

“All of this leads me to wonder whether by some sort of planning,
Canada and the United States, working towards the same ends,
cannot do some planning — perhaps unwritten planning which need
not even be a public policy — by which we can hasten the objective of
assimilating the New England French Canadians and Canada’s
French-Canadians into the whole of our respective bodies politic.
There are of course many methods of doing this which depend on
local circumstances.” Concluding, he said that “there would seem to
be no good reason for great differentials between the French Canadian
population elements and the rest of the racial stocks.”

In the early 1940s when the defence of the continent was of primary
importance to Americans, Canada received more attention than
normal from Washington. This would change after the war when
American responsibilities became global as well as continental, but for
the time being the care and consideration were badly needed balm for
King’s fragile confidence. He was still fretful of calling Roosevelt by
his first name. He confessed once to Roosevelt that he was afraid the
president found him dumb. He would look up at the clock during con-
versations hoping that the hands would be forming the straight line.

In May of 1943, King got the first in a series of ego-boosters when he
took part in a meeting at the White House with Roosevelt and
Churchill. Initially he hadn’t been invited, but with some foxy foot-
work was successful. Before the meeting King knew that Churchill
wouldn’t have time for a stopover in Canada but his strategy was to
invite the British leader anyway, have the request turned down, and
thereby gain leverage for having to join the meeting in Washington.
Pearson, who wrote the telegram to Churchill, recalled: “It was
evident that I was also delicately to convey to Mr. Churchill the
impression that, if time made it impossible for him to come to Ottawa,
Mr. King was prepared to accept an invitation to Washington. I got
the point at once since I knew how Mr. King liked to convert these Big
"Two meetings into Big Three or even Big Two and a Half ones. Who
could blame him?”

Roosevelt and Churchill praised King in their sessions, talking of
him as the ideal man to moderate a post-war conference on recon-
struction of the world. “Is it not a fact,” asked Churchill, “that we
three men who are at this table, now, have had more experience in
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government than any other men in the world today?” The status of
the Canadian legation in Washington was being changed to that of a
full-fledged embassy with an ambassador instead of a minister. FDR
referred to the need for the prime minister to get consent from the
king. Churchill rejected such an obligation, saying “Canada has
complete control of her own affairs.”

Roosevelt confided in the prime minister many of his deliberations
with Churchill, among them the story of how the United Nations got
its name. After a fruitless session with Churchill in search of a phrase to
describe the countries fighting for freedom, Roosevelt went to bed one
night and couldn’t sleep. He wanted the word “united” in the phrase
but couldn’t come up with an appropriate companion word. Suddenly
“nations” came to him and he knew immediately it was right. Excited,
he couldn’t wait until breakfast to tell Churchill and had his aide
wheel him to the British leader’s door at daybreak. He knocked and
heard Churchill shout: “I'm in the tub.” Roosevelt entered and the
cherubic Churchill popped from the bath, “not a stripe on him.” The
president pointed a finger and declared, “Winston, I have it—The
United Nations.” Churchill agreed immediately that it was right.
King told Roosevelt that the name had been “properly baptized.”

In the planning for the first Quebec conference —the Roosevelt-
Churchill parley which laid plans for the invasion of Nazi-occupied
Europe —the question naturally arose as to the status of host Macken-
zie King. Since Canada’ war contribution was substantial and since
the meeting was in Canada, it was argued, particularly by the British,
that King should have full status at plenary sessions. Here, Roosevelt
went against him, successfully reasoning that if Ottawa was let in
many other countries would have to be let in. But King wasn’t
bothered. As long as the big two were coming and he was host, it
would be “quite sufficient to make clear that all three are in conference
together and will not only satisfy but will please the Canadian feeling
and really be very helpful to me personally.”

The conference went smoothly. King got in all the important
pictures, the role of the Canadian forces was lauded by Roosevelt after
Churchill had forgotten, the president was crazy about Quebec trout,
and the “Big Two™ finished the work they wanted on war plans. One
of the only blights on the week, in King’s view, was a showing of a film
of the Group of Seven artists, featuring mainly the work of A. Y.
Jackson. “I really felt ashamed of the exhibition being announced as
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Canadian art,” King wrote. The paintings, he said, destroyed and
distorted many natural and beautiful Canadian scenes. The prime
minister was also needled about his tea-drinking ways. As Roosevelt
and Churchill enjoyed their scotches, Churchill told King he should
forget about his silly resolution. But the problems were small stuff
compared to the glories of a conference which, the prime minister said
in a final statement, “helped to put our country on the map of the
world.”

Just as important for him were the next few days. Roosevelt
proceeded from Quebec to Ottawa to become the first president to
visit Canada’s capital. It was seventy-six years since Canadian Con-
federation, and 154 years since George Washington’s first presidency.
Spectacular sunshine and a loving crowd of thirty thousand greeted
the president on Parliament Hill. The House was out of session but the
members had been called back to Ottawa so that Roosevelt could
speak to them. He knew many of them because the U.S. embassy was
in the habit of providing him with capsule summaries. In the cabinet,
“Chubby” Power was “unfortunately a periodic drinker,” Ralston
was “too immersed in detail,”” and despite his sound common sense,
Crerar was “definitely a ‘has been.””” Among the Conservatives, R. B.
Hanson was “none too friendly to the United States™ and “‘completely
uninspired.”

For the size of the occasion, Roosevelt’s speech was not a proper [it.
His prose managed to sidestep Canadian and for the most part
Canada-U.S. affairs, and focussed almost totally on the war and the
evil Nazis; “Sometimes I wish that that great master of intuition, the
Nazi leader, could have been present in spirit at the Quebec
Conference—I am thoroughly glad he was not there in person. If he
and his generals had known our plans they would have realized that
discretion is still the better part of valor and that surrender would pay
them better now than later. ... We spend our energies and our resources
and the very lives of our sons and daughters because a band of
gangsters in the community of nations declines to recognize the
fundamentals of decent, human conduct.”

The way Nazis deal with their neighbour is “first to delude him
with lies, then to attack him treacherously, then beat him down and
step on him, and then either kill him or enslave him.”

It was a speech that could just as well have been given in Kansas as
Canada, but for King there was a reference which pleased him
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greatly. Roosevelt alluded to him as “my old friend” and added:
“Your course and mine have run so closely and affectionately during
these many long years that this meeting adds another link to the
chain.” The visit was not without its disappointments for the prime
minister however. Beside the fact that the president’s car broke down
during a motorcade, King found, while showing Roosevelt through
his Laurier House residence, that his favourite table had a cloth on it:
I took a look at the dining-room table while the president was having
a wash. My heart fell into my boots when I saw the table had been set
with a white cloth instead of being left uncovered with doilies and
flowers.” He made an effort to get it changed before Roosevelt
emerged from the washroom but aborted the bid when he discovered
there were no doilies.

The Ottawa visit was the last time that King was to see his friend,
the president, in reasonably healthy condition. At the second Quebec
Conference in September 1944, which was the next time they were
together, King was shocked. While Churchill was “fresh as a baby,”
Roosevelt had lost thirty pounds and was worn out physically and
mentally. King, however, worried most about his own mental defi-
ciencies. Listening to Churchill and Roosevelt he would grow sad that
he hadn’t mastered history as he should have, that he hadn’t kept
more contacts with important men, that he had been far too much of a
recluse: “It is a great opportunity of life largely missed....I continu-
ously deplore not having been able to keep up with the events in
different countries and not being more familiar with the history of
Canada. I am woefully ignorant of questions on which I should be best
informed, when associating with the President and Mr. Churchill.”

But he was always confident of his political judgment and passed on
advice that Roosevelt heeded. Before the presidential election of 1944,
the president wanted a conference on the division of post-war Europe
with the Soviet leader, Joseph Stalin. Pointedly, King warned that it
would be a mistake. Rather than risk a failed conference, he said,
make a campaign promise to have one afterward. Much less of a
gamble, King told him.

Roosevelt won yet again and a few months later King had an
election to think about, needed political help, and set out for
Washington to get it. The State Department alerted Roosevelt to the
real reason for the meeting. “Prime Minister King comes to Washing-
ton tried by the animosities aroused by the conscription issue in
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Canada and on the eve of an election campaign which will be very
tough indeed. He is seeking to rebuild his prestige and thus may want
to meet the press here and capitalize discreetly on his friendship with
you. As you know, Canadians would have voted for you to a man last
November.”

Roosevelt was only happy to oblige. “I would like to see him get
more publicity,” he told dinner guests days before the visit. The
president had been through ten years with King as his neighbouring
head of state and his relationship with him had been smoother and
happier than with any foreign leader. With the warm rapport had
come accomplishment. Canadians not inclined toward stronger con-
tinental ties would not see the many agreements as accomplishments,
but men such as Cordell Hull regarded the relationship with Canada
through those troubled years as being nothing short of the highlight.

“Throughout my twelve years at the State Department,” said the
secretary, “‘no sector of our foreign policy gave me more satisfaction or
brought more fruitful results than our relations with Canada. In 1933
cooperation between the two countries had sagged to a low point; the
depression, the Smoot-Hawley Tariff Act, and the Ottawa agreements
had slashed their trade, and there was no adequate expression of the
natural identity of the two countries, especially in the strategic and
economic spheres. As I left office we had built a solid economic
relationship through two trade agreements and a truly wonderful
industrial cooperation during the war; we had assured the strategic
interdependence of the two countries through the establishment of the
Permanent Joint Board of Defense; and our relations in general had
increased in extent and importance. They offered to the world the
highest example of nations, bordering on each other and cherishing
the same free institutions, working together for their mutual
advantage.”

King arrived at the White House a month before Franklin Roose-
velt would die of a cerebral hemorrhage. The prime minister kissed
him on the check and the usual confusion followed about the sofa, the
right ear, and a chair directly across. At first King felt good about the
president’s appearance, but as the discussion wore on, he noticed that
Roosevelt was repeating the same stories, that his eyes were not
square, that he was thinking only on the surface, and that he was
taking credit for things he didn’t do. Pearson had visited Roosevelt
qarlier and been appalled by his condition. King felt that he had
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“pretty well lost his spring,”” but Roosevelt himself was thinking of the
future. “Three years from now when I am through here I am thinking
of setting up a newspaper which will be about the size of four pages of
foolscap.” It would have no editorials, hesaid, but just report the news
truthfully and be distributed in every city in the country for the price
of one cent.

King left the White House on Saturday, March 10 for a couple of
days rest in Williamsburg, Virginia, but stopped by again on his way
back to Canada. Roosevelt was having a press conference on March
13 and he wanted the prime minister there. King didn’t want to go
through the pressure of answering questions but wished to attend in
order to pick up any available publicity points. Roosevelt, doing his
last favour for the prime minister, told him to just come and sit there.
He did and Roosevelt spoke at length to the press of the friendship, of
the accords that had been reached and of the personal relationship
that had translated into concrete achievements. “He spoke,” wrote
King, “as if I had been at the White House right along.” The press
reports in Canada were glowing,

The last conversation with the president was about politics. Roose-
velt said if there was any way he could help in the election he weould do
it. King said that he did not think he would win, that he might even
lose his own constituency. The president told him not to worry, that
he felt he would be victorious.

In the late Ottawa afternoon of April 12 while he was being
massaged, Mackenzie King was informed that Roosevelt had died.
His reaction, curiously, was unemotional: ““I scemed too exhausted
and fatigued to feel any strong emotion. It all seemed like part of the
day’s heavy work. Just one more in fact. I was almost too tired to think
of what, in the circumstances, I would be called upon to do.”

Lester Pearson, ambassador to Washington, wrote the tribute on
behalf of his country. “My country is Canada. We Canadians knew
the President well and he knew us. He was, in fact, closer to us in a
sense than any other President ever was. He spent his summers on our
shores. He fished our northern streams. His fireside talks were heard in
our homes. His ringing declarations lighted our hearts. He understood
our problems and our possibilities.”

On Sunday, April 15, Prime Minister King arrived in Hyde Park
for the burial ceremony. “The fields were green,” he noticed, “the
little leaves were coming out on the trees, birds were singing. Many
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shrubs were already in bloom. Some blossoms on the trees. The sun
shining brightly, the air fresh and balmy. It really filled one’s soul with
a feeling of delight.

“There came to my mind as we drove along the lines from the
darkey song: ‘When the birds were singing in the morning and the
myrtle and ivory were in bloom and the sun on the hill was adorning,
oh, it was then that we laid him in the tomb.””

At the grave site, the prime minister, worried that he was wearing
the wrong style hat, stood near Harry Truman, whose head was
lowered. King had a wreath and, as the mourners gathered around
the burial plot, he unwrapped it, left his coat and hat with Edward
Stettinius, the secretary of state, and walked alone toward the grave.
He stood motionless for a moment, dropped the {lowers beside the
bier, and walked slowly back. A man in charge of a motion picture
crew came forward and asked King to do it again because it would
make an excellent shot. King, encouraged by Stettinius, walked
slowly to the bier again. He picked up the flowers and placed them
down again. He returned slowly to his place among the mourners.

CHAPTER TEN

Life with Harry

WHEN HARRY TRUMAN, the haberdasher from Missouri, assumed
the presidency in 1945, the United States held Canada in esteem.
“Canada has developed during the war years into a nation of impor-
tance,” the State Department asserted in a memo to the new president.
“Her eleven and a half million people have demonstrated remarkable
productive capacities and she has put a million men in uniform..... The
strength of Canada’s overseas armies was particularly remarkable.”
The Dominion had “played an effective and important role” in
conferences establishing the United Nations and the International
Monetary Fund and in providing international relief. The Canadian
delegation at the United Nations Conference was a “conspicuously
able group.”!

The memorandum declared that Canada had now reached the
status of “a leading Middle Power.” In respect to U.S. interests, the
country was playing a “useful, constructive role.” The Canadian
government, it said, “‘is quick to respond to considerate treatment by
the United States, is sensitive to public opinion in this country, is
anxious to stand on its own feet, paying its own way, but is naturally
inclined to resent any situations in which Canada is taken for granted
or overlooked entirely.”

Truman was given a frank assessment of Prime Minister King: “As
a speaker and a writer he is lacking the essential gifts of clarity, force
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and ease. On the floor of the House he is a past master at evasion in
answering questions but in rough and tumble debate he scores many
more points than he loses. He is primarily a student. He is a bachelor
and devotes a large part of his leisure to reading and abstract thinking.

“...He dislikes publicity; avoids giving interviews and, in his occa-
sional press conferences, is not only uninformative but over-polite to
the point of seeming disingenuous. He is intensely loyal to his friends
though quite willing to laugh at their foibles.”” Summing up, the State
officials said the prime minister enjoyed little personal popularity but
will “go down in history as a statesman.”

Had the same officials who wrote flatteringly of Canada and
interestingly of its leader seen what the powers in Ottawa were saying
about Harry Truman, their reviews might have had a different tone.
Lord Athlone, governor-general of the Dominion, spared no mercy in
telling King what he thought of the beloved Roosevelt's replacement.
Truman was, in his words, “a crook.”? King acknowledged in his
Journal that “some persons have been seeking to convey that impres-
sion.” His own view was not that he was a criminal but an inexpe-
rienced low brow, probably not up to the job.

Ambassador Lester Pearson shared the concerns. As vice-president,
Truman had made him feel he had about as much status as an
ambassador from “Upper Ruritania.”” He kept Pearson waiting for
an hour for an appointment, seated with a peanut-chewing Missouri
friend of the president’s who was later charged with influence ped-
dling. In the meeting Pearson was interrupted by the unannounced
entrance of a senator who condescendingly assured him that, as usual,
everything was fine with Canada. At the next encounter, a reception
for Truman, the vice-president cracked a series of stag-party one-liners
that Pearson found “‘more vulgar than funny.” Truman then took to
the piano with a sexy young actress who dangled more public leg than
Pearson was used to seeing in 1945. ‘I was not amused or impressed. I
thought, ‘can this man rise to the awesome responsibilities likely to fall
on him so soon? 3

With Roosevelt gone, King realized he could not maintain the
influence he had in Washington. Truman, who called the War of 1812
“the silliest damn war we ever had,” knew little about Canada, had
no previous contact, and seemingly cared little. Initially suspicious of
him, King told his cabinet that he believed “the long range policy of
the Americans was to absorb Canada. They would seck to get this
hemisphere as completely one as possible,”
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The times were momentous. The United States suddenly stood
unchallenged as the world’s number one military and economic
power. The rest of the world was so crippled from the War that
Clanada now stood fourth. The atomic bomb, the ultimate horror
weapon, had been discovered, with Canada playing a significant role.
A new world economic order and organization was in place. A
multilateral free-trade movement was nascent. The globe was being
severely split into communist and capitalist camps. The United
Nations was in place, and soon there would be NATO and the
Marshall Plan.

These vast changes meant that the mandate of the United States
was no longer just the defence and the economic health of the
continent, but the defence and the economic health of the noncom-
munist world. Relations with Canada had to be squeezed into this
new perspective, and into the perspective of a stronger, self-assertive
“anada. In 1931 the Statute of Westminster had put the Dominion on
the same level as Britain in essential status, but not in function. But
with its imposing performance in war and diplomacy, Canada was
now functioning at the same level as well. Britain was no longer its
military and economic protector, the United States having assumed
the role. The FDR years saw the forging of a greater economic
alliance with Canada through the liberalized trade and Hyde Park
agreements and the dawning of a defence alliance with the Ogdens-
burg pact. The Truman administration leaned toward a further
strengthening of both, a greater integration of the continent. Mac-
kenzie King, now more infirmed by age, unable to maintain concen-
tration over an extended period, was leaning toward a more isolationist
Canada of the type he led before the war. He was less trustful of
America without Roosevelt, wary of its new super-power status,
tremulous over the advent of the atomic age. His cabinet and the
shining breed of civil servants Canada was producing at this time were
inclined in opposite directions—toward internationalism, collective
security, and a closer relationship with Washington.

King spent his remaining three years as prime minister with Tru-
man in Washington (St. Laurent dealt with the president for the
following four). The first private meeting of King and Truman came
seven weeks after one of the first of so many momentous decisions
Truman would make —detonating the atomic bomb en Hiroshima

- and Nagasaki, marking the first and only occasion on which nuclear

bombs have been used. The Hiroshima blast, August b, 1945, killed
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roughly 100,000 people. The Nagasaki detonation, four days later, left
50,000 dead and historians perplexed over the rationale. Was not the
first A-bomb and the threat of more enough to drive the Japanese to
surrender? King feared that Truman did not fully grasp the horrific
revolutionary nature of the new bomb. The prime minister, along
with British leader Attlee, were the only two heads of state in the
world to know in advance of the United States’ plan to go nuclear.
President Roosevelt told King during the Canadian’s last visit in
March of the decision and that August would be the likely date. The
early consultation was in recognition of Canada’s contribution to the
building of the bomb and as a supplier of the vital ingredient —
uranium. In the Quebec conferences, King, Churchill, and Roosevelt
had reached an agreement on the development and use of atomic
energy which, when later scrutinized by Truman, distressed him
greatly. Among other things it required the United States to gain
British permission before using the bomb. “Byrnes [secretary of state]
and I discussed the Roosevelt agreement with Churchill and Mac-
kenzie King on the Atomic Energy Program,” Truman noted in his
diary. “’It is a mess. No one seems to have thought the thing would
work out as it has. So I am the heir to a hell of a mess.” He was
somewhat consoled by the fact that the vast amounts of money spent
on the development of the weapon produced something. “But I'm not
blaming anyone. Suppose that 2 billion, 600 million dollars had been
spent in vain. What a terrible mess that would have been! So let’s be
thankful for what we have.”

On the day before the Hiroshima explosion, King wrote of the
pending event: “It makes one very sad at heart to think of the loss of
life that it will occasion among innocent people as well as those that
are guilty. It can only be justified through the knowledge that for one
life destroyed, it may save hundreds of thousands and bring this
terrible war quickly to a close.”

On the day after Hiroshima: “Naturally it created mixed feelings in
my mind and heart. We were now within sight of the end of the war
with Japan....We now see what might have come to the British
people had German scientists won the race. It is fortunate that the use
of the bomb should have been upon the Japanese rather than upon
the white races of Europe.”

Before the prime minister could confer with Truman on atomic
energy, he learned of another stunning development, this one even
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closer to home. In early September, Igor Gouzenko, an employee of
Ottawa’s Soviet embassy, appeared at the oflices of King’s top officials
and revealed the existence of a Soviet espionage ring. The Soviets,
fair-weather allies with the West in the war, had been moving away
but few had suspected this and King was alarmed, fearing that secrets
to the production of the bomb may have been stolen.

The revelation, along with the bomb, absolutely compelled a
meeting with Truman but owing to the skittishness which accom-
panied King's dotage it almost never came off. The two leaders had
talked briefly at the United Nations founding conference in San
Francisco in the spring and Truman had invited King to the White
House in June. But King was in an election campaign and the public
relations value of a visit with the unproven president was deemed
insufficient for the trip. Now, Truman wanted King to fly in Friday,
September 28, spend the night in the White House and, since the
president had a long-standing engagement in Missouri on Sunday, fly
home on Saturday. King, however, had an important debate to
attend in Parliament on Friday. Moreover, he didn’t want to fly to
Washington because he was going to be flying to London to see Prime
Minister Attlee. He didn’t like to do too much flying at once. He was
over seventy.

‘Iruman was so informed, stewed for a while, and decided he would
be gracious enough to cancel his Missouri trip so that King wouldn’t
have to miss Friday’s debates. King then determined he would not fly
to Washington under any circumstances, He would take a train which
would leave Friday night and arrive late Saturday. But then it was
discovered that the trip would require the transfer of his railway car in
New York at an additional cost of three hundred dollars. Outraged,
King cancelled his train ticket. The biggest spy story in decades was
demanding urgent action but the prime minister of Canada, a man of
Scottish blood, was not about to spend an extra three hundred dollars
to see to it.

King telephoned American ambassador Ray Atherton to give him
the news. Too much money, he said. The expenditure might touch off
a scandal. Can’t go. Atherton, fuming, said that surely the excursion
could be arranged in such a way that no one would know about the
extra three hundred dollars. But King was intransigent. ““I told him
these things should not and could not likely be concealed. At any rate,
I would take no chances.” Norman Robertson, the highly regarded
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deputy minister of External Affairs, intervened to plead with the
prime minister that it would be absolutely crazy to let the small
amount of money get in the way of such an important matter. But
King again held ground. “I told him I did not wish my reputation to
be damaged by any false step.”

Truman, becoming perplexed about this man, now un-cancelled
his Missouri venture, deciding that if King couldn’t make it by early
Saturday, there would be no meeting. The prime minister would not
change his mind on the train problem, but finally under considerable
pressure resolved that, if the weather was excellent, he would fly down
Saturday morning. It was and the Washington departure crisis finally
concluded.

The hope expressed immediately as the two leaders sat down in the
rather empty executive mansion, was that what had begun with King
and Roosevelt could continue with King and Truman. Truman had
been pleased with King’s re-election, writing him about what a
“source of deep gratification” it was for Americans. “We rejoice.”
The prime minister replied that his relationship with FDR was an
important factor in the victory.

They referred to the spy matter as the Corby case, because the files
on it were kept in a Corby’s whiskey box. After a lengthy briefing from
the prime minister, Truman emphasized repeatedly that he hoped
King would take no unilateral action on Corby, that the two of them
must get together with Attlee to work out a strategy, and that nothing
should be done without consensus among the three. Ten Downing
Street was suspected of wanting faster action — public disclosure and
arrests—but Truman’s recommendation was soft music for King.
With advanced age had come advanced insecurity. His confidence
was now so frail that he didn’t feel up to the job. “I am too weary to
meet situations as they arise,” he wrote in his diary that fall. “The
things that I was wholly familiar with this afternoon I could not find
strength to express. This is a condition which no responsible leader
should be in in times like the present.” On Corby he didn’t want to
have to act alone.

Under questioning from Truman, he disclosed that the espionage
net likely extended into the top level of the State Department. Truman
did not react with great surprise. He wanted to get all the information
possible, but the deferential prime minister, fearing he was taking up
too much of the president’s precious time, kept getting up as il' it was
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time to leave. Truman, after the third or fourth flagrant King gesture,
assented, suggesting that a further meeting to include Attlee was
necessary.

The new parley was scheduled [or the second week of November.
Along with the espionage matter, the future of atomic energy joined
the agenda. This was a subject the dire importance of which was fully
understood by Mackenzie King. From England he wrote that he
would return to the continent “‘ready to enter on a larger sphere of
work than ever—a sphere of work which will identify me with this
new age of atomic energy and world peace. It is the thing that I am
sure is a part of the purpose of my life. All that I get from my own inner
feeling through psychic sources etc. stresses this very clearly.”

To Lester Pearson the meaning of the meeting was clear as well. A
force that could destroy the world had been unleashed on it. A way
had to be found to control that force. One of the days of the summit
was Armistice Day, and for Pearson it “‘could never have been more
relevant. T had not missed an Armistice Day silence since 1919 but
never had the two minutes seemed so long, so pregnant with meaning,
so evocative of memories or so challenging to a renewed and more
resolute search for a better world.”*

In damp, cool weather the leaders and their assistants boarded the
yacht Sequoia, normally the venue for Truman’s around-the-clock
poker games, and sat around the green felt card table. After his
annihilation of Japanese cities, Truman had written King thanking
him for Cianada’s part in “this most terrific of wars.” Now he asked the
seven people around the table to speak in turn on what could be done
to ensure that atomic energy would never again be used for destructive
purposes.

King, whose diary account of these Washington days has never
been found, stated his position, but Pearson felt compelled to elaborate.
“I could... not resist the opportunity to plead for a deep and broad
international effort through the United Nations to control this new
and final threat to human survival, an effort which must be made
before other atomic powers appeared. I emphasized as strongly as I
could what seemed to be so obvious, that we could prevent global
catastrophe only by global agreement of an unprecedented character,
and that this would undoubtedly require some delegation of sovereign
rights to a supranational agency.”

The discussion was discursive, but there was agreement on the need
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for international rather than trinational action. Each side then wrote
a draft of a suggested agreement and, with Prime Minister King
playing a leading role in the final alterations, the three were combined
into one. The major principles of the joint Declaration on Atomic
Energy were that Canada, the United States, and Britain would share
scientific information on the atom with other nations; that specialized
information, which could lead to the development of the bomb,
would be withheld; and that an international control commission
would be established at the United Nations.

King was enthusiastic. He told Truman a great service had been
rendered mankind. The president was encouraged as well. “The
more [ think about it, the better I like it.”” The principles embodied in
the declaration were put forward at the United Nations but an
agreement could not be secured with the Soviets, who wanted all
stocks of atomic weapons destroyed within three months, and an
international convention prohibiting production of all such weapons
instituted. The United States, the possessor of a distinct military
advantage because of the atomic capability, was not prepared to go
that far. And of the poker-table agreement of 1945, Pearson was later
left to muse: ““These were fine words and noble sentiments. There was
a solemn warning in them but there was to be little effective action to
follow. Have they become merely the expression of another ‘might-
have-been’ of history? Today the answer seems to be ‘yes’ and it could
mean humanity’s greatest and final failure.”®

The spread of bomb technology was not controlled, nor was the
effectiveness of Soviet espionage. Highly secret yacht talks led to an
agreement on coordinated police action, although diplomatic relations
with the Soviets were maintained. In Canada a royal commission was
appointed and arrests made. Public reaction to the disclosures was
vehement, the spy case becoming a catalyst in the genesis of the Cold
War. Lewis Clark, an American official in the Ottawa embassy,
reported to Washington: “At the moment the Canadians are like the
brave little boy who has talked back to the bully [Russians] and is
wondering what is going to happen to him.”

The bully managed fine without having to retaliate. By 1950 when
more Russian spying was uncovered, the Soviets had stolen enough
secrets to develop their own atom bomb and, by 1954, the more
powerful hydrogen bomb.

From the continental standpoint, the meetings in the autumn of
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1945 at least produced some harmony out of a King-Truman relation-
ship that had begun without promise. Following the Sequoia Confer-
ence, the prime minister was impressed enough to send the president a
rare token of appreciation—one of his treasured dog pictures. “I
should feel deeply honoured Mr. President if you would accept as a
slight remembrance of this visit, and the events of the past week, the
somewhat intimate photograph of myself and my old dog, Pat.”” It
was, he pointed out, one of FDR’s favourites.

“Your picture will occupy a place of honor in my study,” Truman
responded and, unless his wife Bess was diplomatically devious, he
meant it. Two vears later, Bess took King aside during a state visit to
Ottawa. She told him that whenever the maids mixed up the photos
on her mantle, the president would always make a point of rescuing
the picture of King and Pat to the foreground. King was most
gratified. He raved about it in his diary.

For Truman the most important aspect of relations with Canada
was the planning and application of joint defence measures. A White
House memorandum put the case simply to Truman in 1946. “Two
world wars have demonstrated that an aggressor must destroy the
power of North America or be defeated. Due to post 1945 technological
advances, North America is no longer adequately protected by geog-
raphy. Canadian and United States military advisers agree that in
five years North America must be prepared to meet major enemy
capabilities.” The Americans wanted to integrate as much as possible
Canadian military methods and planning but Dean Acheson, the
deputy secretary of state, whose parents were from Toronto, realized
there would be problems. “In view of Canada’s traditional close
association with the United Kingdom,” he told the president, “the
shift to an even closer association with the United States armed forces
is a matter of great moment in Canada and one which involves
considerable political risk for the present government. Some Cana-
dians fear we would encroach on their own sovereignty and some fear
that Canada might ultimately have to withdraw from the British
Commonwealth.”

But the Pentagon, as Acheson added, was “insistent on closing the
gap between Alaska and Greenland and on pushing the defense of our
industrial centers north of our own border. For this we are dependent
on the cooperation of the Canadian Government.” On the Pentagon’s
list of requirements were an air defence system to include bases in
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Canada and meteorological and early warning communications
facilities.

Ottawa officials were somewhat sympathetic, but not convinced of
the immediacy of the Soviet threat. King, feeling that Canada was to
be “a mere pawn in the world conflict,” wanted to maintain strong
defence links with Britain to avoid total reliance on Washington.

The prime minister had worried all along that, having established a
military presence in Canada during the war, the Americans would be
reluctant to dismantle it after the war. He had talked once to Vincent
Massey about the process of disentanglement and Massey recalled
that “The PM showed he had grave doubts as to whether international
agreements on this which Canada had secured from the United States
provided any practical guarantee against the United States’ claims
and pretensions. When I suggested that the Americans did not take us
seriously enough as a nation, King said that Canadians were looked
upon by Americans as a lot of Eskimos....”

In October 1945 King wrote that “If the Americans felt sccurity
required it” they “would take peaceful possession of part of Canada
with a welcome of the people of BC, Alta., and Saskatchewan....” He
was apprehensive about the loyalty of his western provinces. “I felt
perfectly sure that once the Western provinces became alarmed in the
matter of their security, they would look to the United States for
protection, not to Canada or the Commonwealth.”

In a wire to the State Department, ambassador Atherton labelled
King’s suspicions about American motives “traditional caution,”
adding that unfortunately the prime minister’s control was such that
he dragged the views of his cabinet and chiefs of staff with him. His
recommendation was to have Truman meet King and “...assure
Canada that joint defense with the United States will not lead to
withdrawal from the Commonwealth.”

In a White House session with King in October of 1946, Truman
pushed his case for an American Air Force bomber base at Goose Bay,
Labrador. King first pointed out that Labrador belonged to New-
foundland which was not, at the time, a Canadian province. He said
he understood that the United States was thinking of stationing
10,000 men in Goose Bay and this would cause many Canadians to
fear an infringement of their sovereignty. Truman argued that all he
was trying to do was make aggression impossible anywhere but he was
unable to move the prime minister, it being a meeting in which the
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most concrete development was that there should be another meeting.
Truman, a man who could be blunt in his appraisals, a president who
would later refer to Richard Nixon as “Squirrel Head,” was not
dismayed, however. “Mr. King was here last week,” he wrote his
mother a few days later. “‘He is an honest man. I can always get along
with an honest man.” The prime minister was also impressed, finding
the Truman style most effective: “His whole appearance is that of a
business executive who has himself well in hand, completely in train-
ing. He has a very disarming smile, very deep dimple in his right
cheek when he smiles. Eyes kindly and sympathetic yet strong.”®

A few months after the meeting, post-war principles of defence
cooperation were enunciated, the outcome being a compromise falling
short of the degree of integration Washington sought. Canada took
the position that the granting of permanent or long-term rights to the
United States for defence installations on Canadian soil was
undesirable.

Nonetheless King wanted a favour from Truman. He would soon
be celebrating his twentieth anniversary as prime minister and, for
this “crowning event” as he called it, he wanted the president to come
to Ottawa in June 1947. To lobby, he stopped by the White House
following a vacation in Williamsburg, Virginia. Having left his advis-
ers behind he hoped Truman would reciprocate so that he could have
a one-on-one session. But an aide joined the president, leading King to
grumble in his journal that Americans always like to have a third man
present. “I do not think that as between the President and the Prime
Minister that sort of thing is necessary.”

The pitch to the president was that “the plain people” of Canada
wanted to see him and cheer for him because he was courageous and
fearless. To this, Truman responded: “Tonly try to do what is right; not
to trouble about anything else.” King’s philosophy was somewhat
different. He once told Pearson on a train trip to Washington that the
secret of politics was not to do what is right but to avoid doing what is
wrong. Pearson told the story to James Reston, and Reston never
torgot it.”

King's second line to Truman was standard poetic excess. He said
that the president’s presence for his twentieth anniversary celebration
would constitute such a sensation that he would then be prepared to
part the world in peace. These blandishments were successful, and on
June 10, 1947 Truman became the second president to come to
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Ottawa. To mark the anniversary, the prime minister scheduled a
portrait of himself to be unveiled in the Parliament buildings as the
president looked on. A portrait of former Prime Minister Robert
Borden was also to be unveiled. The governor-general, Viscount
Alexander, would do the honours.

With an air of solemn dignity, the gushing preliminary statements
were read. With the bespectacled Truman watching carefully, the call
went out first for the unveiling of the Borden portrait. The governor-
general, his grandeur appropriate for the occasion, walked gingerly to
the covered picture as the sense of anticipation grew. He drew the
cord and the wrong portrait appeared.

The governor-general, despite a rehearsal earlier in the day, had
been led to the wrong spot and accidentally exposed the picture of
King instead of Borden. The master of ceremonies turned deadly
white. Viscount Alexander was led to the other portrait and this time
Borden was unveiled. The master of ceremonies apologized for what
had happened. There were apologies all round. Prime Minister
King's great moment, the moment which was supposed to prepare
him to leave the earth peacefully, was terribly tarnished. The unveiling
of his portrait was re-enacted. There was a nice round of applause.

Otherwise, the Truman visit was a splendid success. The president
was greeted by large, genuinely enthusiastic crowds. As he strode up
the main walk to the Parliament on a sparkling morning, the band
played the Missouri Waltz, his favourite tune. In a marvellous expres-
sion of friendship, the president and the prime minister joined arms
and, to the delight of the sun-drenched thousands, began to skip along
to the beat. It was a grand departure from King’s normally strict
behaviour, and inside he had another surprise. When Truman finished
his speech, King brought him back to face the audience, and called for
three cheers for the president: “Hip-hip-hoorah!” the House thun-
dered. Hip-hip-hoorah! “Never in my life have I received such a
cordial welcome as I had from your Parliament this morning,”
Truman told a luncheon. “You were kind to me. I have heard of
people receiving three cheers and a tiger but it never happened to me
before.”

There were no immediate controversial issues. The visit was an
exhibition of friendship. Truman praised the wisdom of King in his
speech to Parliament. He said the unveiling ceremony was “wonder-
ful.” He lauded the Canadian war effort as “magnificent,” and he
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said there was a lot more than luck to the Canada-U.S. friendship:
“The example of accord provided by our two countries did not come
about merely through the happy circumstance of geography. It is
compounded of one part proximity and nine parts good will and
common sense.”

Canadians, he said, were broad in mind and broad in spirit.
Americans “find that the composition of your population and the
evolution of your political institutions hold a lesson for the other
nations of the earth. Cianada has achieved internal unity and material
strength, and has grown in stature in the world community by solving
problems that might have hopelessly divided and weakened a less
gifted people.”

The two leaders had a press conference at Montebello, Quebec.
Truman sat down under a tree and said, “Let’s have a drink.” He
asked for bourbon and branch water, his favourite. Someone told him
there was no branch water, but Truman said not to worry about it,
that he had brought his own. While the prime minister stayed dry and
in the background, the president drank and fielded the questions. I
sincerely hope that Canadians will pay us a visit,” said Truman.
There isn’t a chance in the world of our being able to give them the
sort of reception that they have given me, but we do the best we
can.... The United States has but one objective in view and that is
peace in the world and friendship with every nation in the world. And
underline that every.”

His daughter, Margaret Truman, accompanied the president on
the three-day stop and was effusive in a later description. “The Prime
Minister, Mackenzie King,” she said in words which would have
shocked many, “was one of the most charming statesman I have ever
met, with a delicious sense of humor. We loved the old world charm of
Ottawa. It was like a trip to London with only one-tenth the trouble.”

In the same year, the prime minister, facing a dollar crisis similar to
the one in 1941 which had prompted Hyde Park, began quietly, very
quietly, to work toward the establishment of a free-trade area with the
United States. It was one of the most top-secret negotiations in
bilateral history. King appointed a small group of Finance Depart-
ment officials to try and negotiate an agreement. They were to report
directly to him. The Department of External Affairs was kept in the
dark. A similarly shrouded group was set up in the Truman adminis-

" tration and by early 1948 a comprehensive agreement was produced.
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It was, the Canadian team felt, a close approximation of what the
prime minister wanted. It would now have to be approved by the
U.S. Congress, and an agreement as sweeping as the one in 1911
would be on the books; Clanada and the United States would take the
lead in the free-trade fever Washington was trying to spread and
Canada would be given a five-year head start on some central aspects.
Goods flowing unencumbered across the forty-ninth would likely
mean less need for American multinationals to set up branch plants in
Canada to circumvent tariff walls. Simon Reisman, the future deputy
minister of Finance, who was then a young man working for the
director of the Canadian negotiating team, would come to regard the

agreement as potentially the most important bilateral development of

the post-war period.®

But even though it was embraced enthusiastically by the prime
minister’s men, it was not to come about. At the last moment Mac-
kenzie King turned cold. He remembered 1911; he feared for the
political ramifications; he thought the limited time before the 1948
presidential election would create problems; and he feared the Ameri-
can intent was still to annex Canada. He explained to his disappointed
negotiators that it was too much of a gamble: “‘I pointed out that the
issue was very large. That it unquestionably came back to what the
future of Canada either in the British Commonwealth or as part of the
U.S. will be. I said I felt sure that the long objective of the Americans
was to control this continent. They would want to get Clanada under
their aegis. If T was an American, I would have the same view
especially considering Russia’s position etc. On the other hand I did
not feel we would be as well off as a State of the Union as we will be
possibly as the greatest of self governing portions of the British Com-
monwealth of Nations.”

No public disclosure was made of the negotiation. The prime
minister left no trace of having dealt personally with the president on
the matter. Although Reisman was under the impression that the
negotiations had the president’s blessings, Truman left no evidence of
personal involvement. The two leaders were clashing at the time, not
over trade, but Korea. The country, under Japanese rule from 1910 to
1945, was divided into communist and non-communist areas and the
issue was how to set free and fair elections. While King was out of the
country, St. Laurent, his External Affairs minister, indicated that
Clanada would be willing to serve on a United Nations commission to
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supervise the campaign. But King, reflecting his new isolationist
posture, returned angered, feeling that such a commission would only
increase tensions between Moscow and Washington, and lead Canada
into a faraway crisis he didn’t need.

He sent Pearson to explain his views to Truman. Pearson, who
regarded this assignment as one of his most difficult ever, was told by
the president: “Don’t worry. You won’t get into any trouble over
there. And if you do we are behind you.” The latter part was just what
King would not want to hear. “If I had repeated that comment,”
wrote Pearson, “our prime minister would have considered that his
worst fears had been realized.” ;

The Canadian ambassador wanted Truman to telephone King to
allay his concerns and settle the matter but Truman wouldn’t do it.
He was afraid the prime minister would get the better of him. The
reason, Jack Hickerson of the State Department told Pearson, was
that Truman simply didn’t know much about the Korean situation.
The president chose instead to write a letter:

“Iam deeply concerned over the possibility that Canada’s failure to
appoint a representative on the Korean Commission would be mis-
understood and distorted out of all proportion to the modest impor-
tance of this temporary agency. I am fearful that it might be seized
upon by persons in this country and elsewhere who are anxious to find
grounds for opposing cooperative efforts to resolve urgent political
and economic problems which confront the world and which must be
solved if western civilization is to endure. I need hardly add that the
U.S.S.R. would exploit Canada’s absence to the fullest in its
propaganda.”

King was furious. He called Pearson away from a U.N. security
council session, told him Truman was wrong, and instructed him to
return to Ottawa. The prime minister then prepared a stiff reply to
the president. “It is I think the first time I have quite emphatically
declined to meet a wish expressed by any President of the United
States,” he said. His letter told the president that the commission idea
was a mistake, that it would draw U.N. members into a position of
“great future embarrassment.”

St. Laurent, King’s star cabinet member, was compromised. He
told Jack Pickersgill: “I may not be in the government tomorrow.”"?
Pearson, however, persuaded St. Laurent to have dinner with the
prime minister. A solution was found. Canada would serve on the
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commission but would withdraw if it became apparent that Soviet
cooperation in the elections was not forthcoming. King pulled back
on the Truman letter and send a response of a different kind, a
response which was still strong enough to please Pearson, who com-
mented: “It will show the Americans that we are not going to be
pushed around by them on security council matters.”

The tempest did not seriously aggravate the King-Truman rela-
tionship, one which maintained much of the bilateral good will
generated under FDR. They met for the last time at the beautiful
William and Mary College in Williamsburg, in April 1948, to receive
honourary degrees. With the crisis brewing in Berlin, Truman told
King conditions were as serious as in 1939. King concluded: “if we
escape war before this month is over or next at the latest, it will be a
miracle.” They spoke briefly about the upcoming presidential election.
"Iruman, far behind in the polls, said that he was going to fight “for all
he was worth.” He would “lick those other fellows yet.”10 i

When he did just that, stunning the pundits, Mackenzie King
retired, leaving the reigns of power to Quebec’s Louis St. Laurent, the
urbane lawyer who said after the first meeting of the United Nations
General Assembly: “We have advanced from barbarism to a sort of
international feudalism.” A brisk, direct man, he was respectful in his
dealings with Truman, then Eisenhower, but never fawning and
scldom deferential. He didn’t believe in doing things for the sake of
appearance. He didn’t try to use the presidents for political capital
back home. The relationship between Canadians and Americans
struck him as something extraordinary. “Like farmers whose hands
have a common concession line we think of ourselves as settling from
day to day questions that arise between us without &ms:ﬁmm the
process by the word ‘policy.””” He had little to do with Truman,
meeting with him only twice in four years. Their limited relationship
was one of mutual respect. St. Laurent objected strongly to the notion
of Canada being taken for granted and in Pearson he had a diplomat
who was seldom hesitant to sound off on the subject. “There will be
difficulties and frictions,” Pearson said in 1951 in one of his most
brusque appraisals. “These however will be easier to settle if the
United States realizes that while we are most anxious to work with her

and support her in the leadership she is giving the free world, we are
ng to be merely an echo of somebody else’s voice. ... It would
also help if the United States took more notice of what we do and

indeed of what we say. It is disconcerting for example that about the
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only time the American people seem to he aware of our existence, in
contrast tosay, the existence of a Latin American republic, is when we
do something that they do not like, or do not do something they would
like.”

Multilaterally, the Korean War proved the toughest test to the
Canada-U.S. relationship in the St. Laurent-Truman period. But
while King and Roosevelt tended to handle state-to-state relations
personally, the style of diplomacy changed with Truman and St.
Laurent. The new president and prime minister had minimum con-
tact on the war, leaving the weaving to the men from their respective
inner circles.

Although Canada had been one of the staunchest proponents of
U.N. collective action during the formation of the body, the St.
Laurent government stirred resentment in Washington through its
reluctance and procrastination to commit ground forces to the combat
zone. Three weeks after the June 1950 invasion of South Korea by the
North, Ottawa had provided only three destroyers for stand-by duty
in Far East waters. To Pearson’s assertion that they represented “no
mere token’ assistance, an American embassy official replied: “Okay,
let’s call it three tokens.” !t

The Canadian government had waited for years in World War I
and in World War II for American participation and, reflecting the
omnipresent Canadian sensitivity to the hint of being pushed around
by the White House, the St. Laurent government was not prepared to
jump into the Korean conflict when Truman said jump. It wasn’t
until August that a Canadian brigade was contributed and throughout
the war the Canadian effort was to rein in the Americans. When the
North Koreans retreated, the Pentagon advocated pursuing them
into the North, but St. Laurent was more conciliatory, urging that the
North Koreans be given the opportunity of entering into a cease-fire.
The prime minister and his foreign policy establishment shuddered
when Truman suggested at a press conference in November 1950 that
General Douglas MacArthur had the authority to use nuclear weap-

ons in the conflict if he so desired. Pearson was quickly to the podium
with a stern warning that the consequences of such an action would be
disastrous. The Canadians also fought Washington, in vain, to pre-
vent a White House introduction of a resolution declaring the Chinese
guilty of aggression. But because St. Laurent chose to place much
more confidence and responsibility in his associates than King, because
of his more detached, imperial style of operating, any acrimony over



